

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain

Société anonyme with a board of directors and a share capital of €1,530,287,940

Registered office: "Les Miroirs", 18, avenue d'Alsace, 92400 Courbevoie

Nanterre Company Registry Number: 542 039 532

FIRST UPDATE OF THE 2007 REGISTRATION DOCUMENT



The present update of the 2007 registration document was filed with the *Autorité des marchés financiers* (AMF) on February 19, 2009, pursuant to article 212-13, IV of the AMF General Regulations. The update completes the 2007 registration document of Saint-Gobain, filed with the *Autorité des marchés financiers* on April 8, 2008 under reference D.08-0214.

The registration document and the update of the registration document may only be used for a financial operation if a corresponding securities note has been approved by the AMF.

The English language version of the update of the 2007 registration document is a free translation from the original which was prepared in French. The original language version of the document in French prevails over the translation.

Contents

1.	Company press releases issued since April 8, 2008	3
2.	Risk factors	56
3.	Consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008	68
4.	Special purpose statutory auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008	69
5.	Consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow statement for the six months ended June 30, 2008	73
6.	Statutory auditors' review report on the 2008 interim financial information	74
7.	Person responsible	77
8.	Documents accessible to the public	78
9.	Persons responsible for the audit of the financial statements	79
10.	Cross-Reference Table	80

1. Company press releases issued since April 8, 2008

April 22, 2008

FIRST-QUARTER 2008 SALES

- ► UP 1.5% AT CONSTANT EXCHANGE RATES*
- ► UP 0.9% LIKE-FOR-LIKE

Saint-Gobain's consolidated sales for first-quarter 2008 came in at €10,301 million, compared with €10,447 million in the same year-ago period. This represents a decline of 1.4% on an actual structure basis, but a rise of 0.9% like-for like (on a constant structure and exchange rate basis) and of 1.5% at constant exchange rates*.

At a constant number of working days, organic growth for the Group would have been slightly above 3.0%, despite the very high comparison basis with first-quarter 2007 (up 8.0% on a like-for-like basis compared to the prior-year period).

Changes in Group structure represent 0.5% growth in sales. The impact of the Desjonquères and Reinforcements & Composites divestments in 2007 was more than offset by the contribution from acquisitions, in particular Maxit and Norandex (consolidated as of March 1, 2008 and September 1, 2007, respectively). The exchange rate impact was a negative 2.8%, in particular as a result of the further slide in the value of the US dollar and pound sterling against the euro.

Like-for-like, consolidated sales moved up €96 million, or 0.9%. Sales prices remained on an upward trend (+2.6%), while volumes fell back slightly (-1.7%), as expected, due to fewer working days than for the same period 2007.

All of the Group's business sectors reported a rise in like-for-like sales over the quarter, with the exception of Construction Products (CP), which saw a 0.4% dip in sales. This was fueled by a downturn in the Interior Solutions business in the US, not entirely offset by vigorous 4.9% growth in Exterior Solutions.

On the whole, residential construction remained on track in western European countries. In the United States, however, in line with the economic scenario set out by the Group at the beginning of the year, residential construction markets continued to lose ground and are not yet showing any tangible signs of leveling off.

As anticipated, household consumption, industrial output and capital spending held up very well in both the United States and Europe.

Emerging countries and Asia remained buoyant and once again posted double-digit growth.

* * *

3

^(*) Based on average exchange rates for first-quarter 2007.

Sales trends by business sector and major geographic area are as follows:

	Q1 2008 sales (€ millions)	Q1 2007 sales (€ millions)	% change on an actual structure basis	% change on a comparable structure basis	% change like-for-like
BY BUSINESS SECTOR					
Flat Glass	1,399	1,369	+2.2%	+1.5%	+3.0%
High-Performance Materials	1,036	1,241	-16.5%	-4.5%	+0.5%
Construction Products (1) Interior Solutions Exterior Solutions	2,730 <i>1,578 1,159</i>	2,720 1,680 1,047	+ 0.4% -6.1% +10.7%	- 4.1% -6.9% +0.6%	- 0.4% -3.7% +4.9%
Building Distribution	4,637	4,424	+4.8%	-0.8%	+1.1%
Packaging	797	955	-16.5%	+0.2%	+4.5%
Internal sales and other	(298)	(262)			
GROUP	10,301	10,447	-1.4%	-1.9%	+0.9%
BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA	_		_		
France	3,250	3,277	-0.8%	+2.4%	+2.4%
Other western European countries	4,699	4,725	-0.6%	-3.5%	-0.7%
North America	1,263	1,473	-14.3%	-17.3%	-6.2%
Emerging countries and Asia-Pacific	1,630	1,533	+6.3%	+11.5%	+11.8%
Internal sales	(541)	(561)			
GROUP	10,301	10,447	-1.4%	-1.9%	+0.9%

⁽¹⁾ Including inter-division eliminations.

Performance of Group sectors

Activity in the Flat Glass sector (+3.0% like-for-like) continued to be driven by construction markets in Europe, Asia and emerging countries. There was a further rise in volumes and sales prices and the product mix continued to expand. Demand for automotive glass also remained strong worldwide.

High-Performance Materials achieved 0.5% like-for-like growth, mainly as a result of the 2.8% growth in Ceramics, Plastics & Abrasives.

Sales recorded by the Construction Products (CP) sector gained 0.4% on a reported basis but **lost 0.4% like-for-like**. The impact of changes in Group structure (-4.5%) stemming from Saint-Gobain's acquisition of Norandex and Maxit (consolidated as of September 1, 2007 and March 1, 2008, respectively) offset the negative exchange rate impact (-3.7%) resulting chiefly from the fall in the value of the US dollar.

Hit by a further weakening of its US operations, **Interior Solutions** saw sales **fall by 6.1% on a reported basis and by 3.7% like-for-like**, despite the resilience of Europe and sustained business momentum in emerging countries.

- In contrast, sales for the Exterior Solutions business surged 10.7% on a reported basis and 4.9% like-for-like, buoyed by a vigorous performance from Pipe and Mortars. Exterior Fittings businesses in the United States remained stable over the quarter.

Building Distribution delivered the Group's best sales growth on a reported basis at 4.8%, powered by acquisitions (5.6%) and organic growth (1.1%), despite a very high comparison basis (organic growth of 11.0% in first-quarter 2007). Growth continued to be powered by France and Scandinavia, with the United Kingdom reporting a slight downturn.

Packaging delivered 4.5% organic growth, amid robust demand especially in Europe and emerging countries.

* * *

Sales analysis by geographic area

The breakdown of sales by geographic area is in line with the trends observed in fourth quarter 2007.

- France (29.5% of Group sales in first-quarter 2008) posted a **2.4%** rise in sales on a like-for-like basis, while **other western European countries** (43.9% of Group sales) saw like-for-like sales shed **0.7%**. The expected slowdown in Spain and softening market conditions in the United Kingdom were not entirely offset by good performances from Germany up on the first quarter despite the unfavorable basis for comparison —, Scandinavia and Benelux.
- In **North America** (11.9% of Group sales), business continued on a downward trend with a fall of **6.2%** in like-for-like sales fueled by the ongoing crisis in residential construction markets.
- Asia and emerging countries (14.7% of Group sales) continued to post vigorous growth, coming in at 11.8% on a like-for-like basis. Latin America and Asia turned in particularly robust performances, delivering organic growth of 15.4% and 16.2%, respectively.

* * *

Update on asbestos claims in the United States

Some 1,000 claims were filed against CertainTeed in the first quarter of 2008, versus 2,000 in the same period of 2007. After taking into account around 2,000 settlements made during the period, the number of outstanding claims at March 31, 2008 declined to approximately 73,000 from 74,000 claims outstanding at December 31, 2007.

* * *

Outlook

The Group is confident in its ability to adapt and withstand more challenging economic condition, and therefore confirms its **objectives for 2008**:

- **modest growth in operating income** at constant exchange rates (average exchange rates for 2007) and recurring net income*,
- a solid financial structure and continuing **high levels of free cash flow**.

* excluding capital gains, asset write-downs, and the Flat Glass fines (European Commission)

* * *

Forthcoming results announcements:

• Final results for first-half 2008: July 24, 2008, after close of trading on the Paris Bourse.

* * *

April 23, 2008 - European Commission: 'Statement of Objections'

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain confirms that it has received a "Statement of objections" from the European Commission's Directorate General for Competition.

This is a normal stage of the procedure within the inquiry, started in February 2005, into the competitive practices of Flat Glass business for automotive markets.

There is no comment to be made at the present time on the merits of the case, this "Statement of objections" being also distinct from the one announced on March 14th, which was related to Flat Glass business for building markets.

May 7, 2008 - Cash offer for the share capital of Gibbs & Dandy plc

Saint-Gobain's Building Distribution Sector announces the terms of a cash offer for the entire issued and to be issued ordinary share capital of Gibbs & Dandy plc.

The offer of 425 pence in cash for each Gibbs & Dandy plc share, valuing the company at approximately £43 million has been recommended by its Board of Directors. The offer represents a premium of approximately 8.3% to the closing price of 392.5 pence per Gibbs & Dandy plc share on 6 May 2008, being the last dealing day prior to this announcement.

Gibbs & Dandy is an important regional player in the distribution of building materials in the London commuter belt, primarily addressing the renovation market through a fragmented base of small contractors.

Its full-year sales in 2007 reached £62.5 million and its operating profit was £4.5 million. The company employs approximately 330 people in 11 outlets located west and north of London.

In its press-release of 24 April 2008, Gibbs & Dandy released that, in the first quarter of 2008, the company was able to maintain its margins and grow its revenues despite a more difficult market environment, thanks to the high quality of its sites and its management team.

Considering the existing presence of the Saint-Gobain's Building Distribution Sector in the UK, which posted €3.6 billion sales in 2007 with close to 930 branches, **significant synergies have been identified** in terms of purchasing conditions and centralization of back-office functions. Gibbs & Dandy brand will continue trading under their name, in order to take the full benefit of the very strong foothold of the brand in the London commuter belt, where it has been operating for more than 150 years.

This acquisition is part of the on-going bolt-on and strong value creative acquisitions strategy of the Building Distribution's Sector. Thus, 30 bolt-on acquisitions have been completed in this sector since the beginning of the year 2008 (of which 3 in the UK), after 53 made in 2007 (of which 7 in the UK).

Saint-Gobain's Building Distribution Sector generated sales of €19.5 billion in 2007. With more than 70,000 employees and 4,000 outlets in 24 countries, it is the leading European distributor of building materials and the world's leading distributor of tiling products. Its main distribution brands are Point.P, Jewson, Raab Karcher, DAHL, Lapeyre la maison and the Platform chain.

May 9, 2008

Saint-Gobain communicates its surprise following the assertions reported in the press and gives assurance, as necessary, that it has no knowledge of any of the information that led to the meeting of the board of directors of SLPS, principal shareholder of Wendel, on May 5th, 2008.

Saint-Gobain affirms that it is not within its principles to interfere in the internal affairs of its shareholders.

May 27, 2008 - Saint-Gobain develops its presence on the solar mirrors market

Through its subsidiary **La Veneciana de Saint-Gobain**, the Flat Glass Sector of Saint-Gobain has decided to extend its presence on the solar mirrors market. The plant extension at Covilis (Portugal) will enable the Group to supply the Iberian Peninsula's thermo-solar market with parabolic cylindrical mirrors.

This roughly €20 million capital expenditure project is fully in line with the Group's solar strategy and will extend the current buildings (designed to produce extra-clear SGG ALBARINO patterned glass for photovoltaic panels) over a 12,000 m² surface area. With its 19,000 m², the Covilis site will become the largest parabolic cylindrical mirrors plant in the world with annual production capacity corresponding to the supply of mirrors for 250 MW solar fields (five 50 MW fields). The plant will employ around 110 people.

The Covilis site was chosen for this major investment on account of the plant's expertise as a manufacturer of specialized products for the photovoltaic and solar market. In addition, the Portuguese capital's neighboring port provides maritime access to a number of export markets. With the first contracts already signed totaling tens of millions of euros, shipments will begin in the first half of 2009.

Saint-Gobain and the growth of solar business

Already the leading supplier of high-energy transmitting glass for traditional photovoltaic cells using crystalline silicon, Saint-Gobain is developing a complete product offering. This includes conductive-coated glass for new generation thin-film photovoltaic cells, solar-cells supplied through its joint subsidiary with Shell, flat and now curved mirrors for solar concentrators.

Saint-Gobain has developed curved mirrors for solar concentrators, a product which is particularly weather-resistant and provides installations with excellent long-term performance. Solar concentrators equipped with curved mirrors are very competitive compared with other solar-based energy-producing solutions. Business is expected to grow strongly, especially in southern Europe, the southern United States and in the Middle East.

The Flat Glass sector of Saint-Gobain, the European leader and number two worldwide, manufactures, processes and sells glass products for two main markets: building and transport. In 2007, it reported net sales of €5.6 billion.

June 5, 2008 - Saint-Gobain shareholders' meeting 2008

The Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain was held in Paris on Thursday, June 5, 2008. Shareholders present at the meeting accounted for 66.55% of the company's share capital.

At this meeting, the shareholders renewed the terms of office as Director of Jean-Louis Beffa, Isabelle Bouillot and Sylvia Jay.

Shareholders also approved the agreement resulting from the Board's acceptance on March 20, 2008 of the proposals put forward and commitments undertaken by Wendel. Accordingly, the Shareholders' Meeting appointed Jean-Bernard Lafonta as Director to replace José-Luis Leal Maldonado, as well as Bernard Gautier as a new Director. The maximum number of Directors comprising the Board was also increased from 15 to 16.

The Shareholders' Meeting also approved payment of a dividend of €2.05 per share, representing a rise of 20.6% on the dividend paid in respect of 2006. The dividend will be paid in full, in cash, on Thursday, June 19, 2008.

The meeting of the Board of Directors held immediately after the Shareholders' Meeting renewed Jean-Louis Beffa's term of office as Chairman.

June 6, 2008 - Saint-Gobain's construction products sector moves into Japan

Saint-Gobain's Construction Products sector has gained a foothold on the Japanese insulation market through its acquisition of the 43.64% stake held by Nippon Sheet Glass (NSG) in MAG. The acquisition was made for an amount of 1,750 million yen (€1 million). Following the acquisition, MAG will be jointly owned by Japanese group Taiheiyo Cement and Saint-Gobain, each with a stake of 43.64%, and will be operationally managed by Saint-Gobain.

MAG is the first glass wool manufacturer in Japan, with consolidated sales of 20,219 million yen (€125.4 million) in 2007 and about 440 employees. It operates four plants located in Ibaraki (Akeno and Tsuchiura), Gifu (Tarui) and Hokkaido (Sunagawa). The company has been an Isover licensee for many years, and has been using the Saint-Gobain TEL process since 1974.

Japan is one of the world's leading construction products markets: the building industry employs 9% of the country's active population, and 1.2 million new dwellings are built each year. New building standards with greater emphasis on insulation should become effective this year. They aim to address the growing concern of government and consumers for environmental protection (reduction of CO2), energy efficiency and comfort.

With this acquisition, the Construction Products sector is ideally placed to build a strong position on the Japanese market and become a key player in the Japanese construction industry.

Saint-Gobain in Japan

Saint-Gobain K.K. was established in 1986 as Saint-Gobain Group's wholly-owned Japanese subsidiary. Saint-Gobain K.K. has about 260 employees, and over 430 people in total work for Japan-based companies in which Saint-Gobain Group has a shareholding of 50% or more. Saint-Gobain acquired Norton Group in 1990, which had been present in Japan since 1917. Along with Saint-Gobain K.K., three joint-venture companies manufacture and/or distribute Saint-Gobain products in Japan, which include ceramics, crystals, plastics, refractories, abrasives and flat glass for automotive, building or solar applications.

The first joint ventures formed by Saint-Gobain with Japanese business partners go back as far as 1974, while the most recent initiatives involve Nippon Electric Glass and Central Glass in 2003.

Saint-Gobain K.K.'s head office is 3-7 Kojimachi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo.

For more information, see http://www.saint-gobain.co.jp/.

June 23, 2008 - Saint-Gobain increases its production capacity with the construction of a third production line of flat glass in India

To meet the increasing demand of its Indian customers, Saint-Gobain has announced plans to build a new flat glass plant in this country.

This latest investment will be located in the North of India, about 65 km away from Delhi. The plant will operate a very large float line, with a capacity of 300 KT/year; it should come on stream in the first quarter of 2010.

The site chosen will, in the future, enable the Group to establish a new large glassmaking complex similar to that of Chennai.

Thanks to the Pune facility and the large glassmaking complex of Chennai with two float lines, a big automotive glass processing plant and a production unit for coated glass, Saint-Gobain is already the leader on the Indian flat glass market.

The range of products and solutions offered, in the building, automotive and solar energy sectors is as broad as the one proposed in Europe.

The total investment cost is in the order of €100 million.

This project comes on top of the other capital expenditures in flat glass planned by Saint-Gobain in Poland, Egypt and Colombia.

Saint-Gobain Flat Glass worldwide and in emerging countries

Leader in Europe and the world's second glassmaker, Saint-Gobain Flat Glass is located in 40 countries. Today, Asia and emerging countries represent 35% of its turnover and 55% of its industrial investment.

FIRST-HALF 2008 RESULTS HOLD FIRM FULL-YEAR TARGETS CLOSE TO 2007 RESULTS

- > Sales up 4.9% at constant exchange rates*
- > Operating income close to high level of first-half 2007: -2.3% at constant exchange rates*
- ► Moderate growth in recurring net income**: +3.2%
- Expansion of cost cutting program: €300 million in cost savings in 2008, including €215 million in additional measures to adapt to the economic downturn
- Full-year 2008 targets: operating income (at constant exchange rates***) and recurring net income** close to 2007

FIRST-HALF 2008 KEY FIGURES

	Amount In € millions	Change H	1 2008/H1 2007
		reported	at constant exchange rates*
Sales	22,141	+1.7%	+4.9%
Operating income	2,005	-4.2%	-2.3%
Recurring net income**	1,101	+3.2%	

- * based on average exchange rates for first-half 2007
- ** excluding capital gains and losses, asset write-downs and Flat Glass fines (European Commission)
- *** based on average exchange rates for full-year 2007

Performance of Group sectors

The Group's performance held firm in first-half 2008 amid a difficult economic climate and an unfavorable basis for comparison after a particularly strong first-half 2007.

All sectors reported advances in like-for-like sales over the first six months of the year. The Group's organic growth came in at +2.2%, including a +3.1% price impact and a -0.9% volume effect. In the second quarter alone, organic growth was +3.4% (versus +0.9% in the three months to March 30, 2008), reflecting higher sales price increases in the second quarter (+3.5% versus +2.6% in the first quarter of the year).

Residential construction continued to slow in the US throughout the first half of the year. Overall, the market held up well in western Europe, despite the sharp downturn in the UK and Spanish markets during the second quarter. In line with the first quarter, household consumption, industrial production and capital expenditure in both the US and Europe remained robust. Business remained vigorous in Asia and emerging countries for all of the Group's sectors, with organic growth of +11.7%.

The Flat Glass Sector delivered robust +4.7% organic growth on the back of a satisfactory rise in sales prices (+2.7%) and volumes (+2.0%) across all of its activities. Organic growth was very robust in Asia & emerging countries. Helped also by the ongoing improvement in the product mix, the operating margin posted a further rise, up to 14.2% versus 13.1% in first-half 2007.

On a like-for-like basis, the **High-Performance Materials** Sector reported **+3.0% sales growth** in the first half of the year, including **+5.0% growth during the second quarter** alone, powered by healthy capital spending markets. Excluding divested businesses (Reinforcements & Composites), **the operating margin jumped to 13.9%** of sales compared with 13% in the same year-ago period.

Construction Products (CP) delivered a +6.1% rise in sales, driven by the positive +8.9% impact of acquisitions carried out in the last 12 months - particularly Norandex and Maxit (consolidated on September 1, 2007 and March 1, 2008, respectively) - which largely offsets the negative -4.3% exchange rate impact. Organic growth came in at +1.5% thanks to significant price rises (+3.1%) in all geographic areas barring the US, and the continued strong growth momentum in Asia and emerging countries (+17.0%). The sector's operating margin came in at 10.1% versus 13.1% in the year-earlier period.

- Interior Solutions suffered a -3.4% drop in like-for-like sales, on account of weaker activity in North America. Increasing energy and commodity prices impacted the sector's operating margin, which fell back to 12.0% versus 15.9% in first-half 2007.
- By contrast, **Exterior Solutions saw like-for-like sales surge +8.9%**, chiefly powered by a strong rise in sales prices (+6.6%) and robust trading by the Pipe and Industrial Mortars businesses. In the second quarter alone, the Exterior Products business in North America posted organic growth of +6.8%. **The division's operating margin held firm at 7.9%** (versus 8.7% in the year-earlier period).

The Building Distribution Sector posted +5.4% sales growth on a reported basis, buoyed by acquisitions carried out in 2007 and the first half of 2008. The moderate +1.2% organic growth recorded by this sector in the first half of the year compares with the very vigorous +8.7% organic growth recorded in the first six months of 2007, and is the result of vigorous demand in France and Scandinavia, partly offset by a fall in sales in the UK and Spain. The sector's operating margin dropped to 4.7% (compared to a record high of 5.2% in the same year-ago period), due mainly to a decline in profitability of the UK business and the impact of the acquisition of Norandex.

The Packaging Sector saw sales climb +6.5% on a like-for-like basis, driven by continuing favorable trading conditions in Europe and emerging countries. Excluding divested businesses (SG Desjonqueres), operating income advanced +23.9% while operating margin gained almost two points, up to 13.4% in first-half 2008 from 11.3% for the first six months of 2007.

* * *

Analysis of the interim consolidated financial statements for first-half 2008

The interim consolidated financial statements set out below were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on July 24, 2008:

	H1 2007 In € millions	H1 2008 In € millions	% change
	(1)	(2)	(2)/(1)
Sales and ancillary revenue	21,779	22,141	+1.7%
Operating income	2,093	2,005	-4.2%
Non-operating costs* Provision for Flat Glass fines	(126)*	(79)*	-37.3%
Capital gains and losses and exceptional asset write-downs	(650)	(31)	
Dividends received	1	2	
Business income	1,321	1,897	+43.6%
Net financial expense	(351)	(352)	+0.3%
Income tax	(491)	(444)	-9.6%
Share in net income of associates	8	6	-25.0%
Income before minority interests	487	1,108	+127.5%
Minority interests	(22)	(32)	+45.4%
Recurring net income**	1,067	1,101	+3.2%
Recurring** earnings per share (in €)	2.85	2.88	+1.0%
Net income	465	1,076	
Earnings per share (in €)	1.24	2.81	
Cash flow from operations	1,932	1,894	-2.0%
Cash flow from operations excluding capital gains tax	1,883	1,887	+0.2%
Depreciation and amortization	1,005***	778	-22.6%
Capital expenditure	822	872	+6.1%
Investments in securities	432	2,178	
Net debt	12,007	13,321	+10.9%

^{*} excluding the provision for Flat Glass fines (European Commission)

<u>Sales</u> edged up +1.7%, or +4.9% at constant exchange rates*. Changes in Group structure had a positive +2.6% impact, more than offset by the negative -3.1% currency effect, sparked by fresh falls in the dollar, and to a lesser extent in the pound sterling. On a like-for-like basis*, Group sales climbed +2.2%, including a positive +3.1% price impact and a negative -0.9% volume effect.

.

^{**} excluding capital gains and losses, asset write-downs and Flat Glass fines (European Commission)

^{***} including €216 million in depreciation, amortization and exceptional asset write-downs in respect to the sale of the Reinforcements & Composites business

^{*} Based on average exchange rates for first-half 2007

The breakdown of sales by **geographic area** reveals a continued but slowing decline in North America (down -3.4%) and **a good trading environment in France (up +2.9%)**. Business in **other western European countries** leveled out over the period, with like-for-like **sales rising +0.6%**. The UK and Spain lost ground, while other countries (in particular Scandinavia) are still enjoying satisfactory growth. **Business remains buoyant in the emerging countries & Asia region, which continues to spearhead the Group's organic growth performance (11.7% in first-half 2008).**

By major geographic area, France represented 29.5% of first-half 2008 sales; other western European countries 44%; North America 11.5%; and the emerging countries & Asia region 15%.

Operating income shrank -4.2%, or -2.3% at constant exchange rates*. Falling profitability in North America squeezed the Group's operating margin, which came in at 9.1% of sales (12.1% excluding Building Distribution), versus 9.6% in first-half 2007 (12.6% excluding Building Distribution) and 8.8% in first-half 2006. Profitability improved in France and the Asia & emerging countries region, but narrowed slightly in other western European countries.

<u>Non-operating costs</u> came in at €79 million, compared with €126 million in first-half 2007. They include €41.5 million in net restructuring costs, and a charge of €37.5 million for asbestos-related litigation involving CertainTeed in the US (€47.5 million in first-half 2007).

The net total of capital gains and losses and exceptional asset write-downs was a negative €11 million, including a positive €12 million in capital gains and a negative €43 million in exceptional asset write-downs.

<u>Business income</u> was up +43.6% after taking into account the factors mentioned above (non-operating costs, capital gains and losses and exceptional asset write-downs), and the provision for Flat Glass fines (€650 million), which had a strongly adverse impact on the interim consolidated accounts for first-half 2007.

<u>Net financial expense</u> remained virtually flat, at €352 million versus €351 million in first-half 2007. This reflects the year-on-year stability of average net debt. The interest cover ratio (operating income over interest expense) is in line with first half 2007, at a satisfactory 5.7.

Recurring net income (excluding capital gains and losses, exceptional asset write-downs and Flat Glass fines) **advanced** +3.2% **to** €1,101 million versus €1,067 million in first-half 2007. Based on the number of shares outstanding at June 30, 2008 (382,489,099 shares versus 373,824,232 shares at June 30, 2007), **recurring earnings per share came in at** €2.88, **up** +1.0% on June 30, 2007 (€2.85).

<u>Net income</u> came in at €1,076 million, up +131% on first-half 2007 which was hit by the one-off provision for Flat Glass fines. Based on the number of shares outstanding at June 30, 2008 (382,489,099 shares versus 373,824,232 shares at June 30, 2007), earnings per share came in at €2.81, up +126.6% on June 30, 2007 (€1.24).

<u>Cash flows from operations</u> totaled €1,894 million, down -2.0% on the first half of 2007. Before the tax impact of capital gains and losses and asset write-downs, **cash flows from operations inched forward** +0.2% to €1,887 million, compared with €1,883 million in the six months to June 30, 2007.

<u>Capital expenditure</u> rose +6.1% to €872 million (3.9% of sales) versus €822 million (3.8% of sales) in first-half 2007. This result stems entirely from the Group's continued investment in Asia and emerging countries, which accounted for 36% of its total capital expenditure in the first half of 2007 (42% excluding Building Distribution).

<u>Investments in securities</u> totaled €,178 million for the six months to June 30, 2008. Investments came to €1,555 million for the Construction Products Sector (chiefly Maxit) and €303 million for Building Distribution, representing a total of 46 acquisitions for €840 million in full-year sales.

<u>Net debt</u> came in at €13,321 million at June 30, 2008, climbing +34.2% over December 31, 2007 (€9,928 million) and +10.9% over June 30, 2007, due mainly to the Maxit acquisition on March 1, 2008 for an enterprise value of €2.1 billion. Net debt represents 86% of consolidated equity compared with 80% at June 30, 2007.

* * *

Update on asbestos claims in the United States

Some 3,000 claims were filed against CertainTeed in the first half of 2008, compared with 4,000 claims in first-half 2007. Over the period, 4,000 claims were settled (5,000 in first-half 2007), bringing the total number of outstanding claims down to 73,000 at June 30, 2008 (74,000 at December 31, 2007). A total of USD 70 million in indemnity payments were made over the last 12 months, compared to USD 73 million at end-December 2007.

* * *

2008 outlook and objectives

Faced with the gradual deterioration in the international economic environment since summer 2007, the Group **stepped up the cost cutting program** put in place for the US in the second half of 2006 and for certain European countries at the end of 2007. In total, these programs will lead to additional full-year workforce reductions of 6,000, including 4,000 in 2008, **and generate full-year cost savings of** €435 million, of which €300 million for 2008. Most of these savings (€350 million and €215 million, respectively) relate to restructuring measures implemented to adapt to the economic downturn. The balance (€35 million) relates to structural cost saving programs (an estimated €300 million by 2010) initiated in the context of the Group's strategic focus on construction markets as outlined by the Group in summer 2007.

The Group does not expect the US economy to stage a recovery in the six months to December 31, 2008, and assumes that the construction market in western Europe will continue to lose steam – particularly in the UK and Spain – while commodity and energy prices pursue their upward trend.

Against this backdrop, and despite a continuing strong growth outlook in Asia and emerging countries, the Group has adjusted its full-year objectives slightly and is now aiming to maintain high levels of operating income (at constant exchange rates*) and recurring net income**, close to those recorded in 2007.

* average exchange rates for 2007

** excluding capital gains and losses, asset write-downs and Flat Glass fines (European Commission)

* * *

Forthcoming results announcements

As from publication of the 2008 results, the Saint-Gobain Group will only publish its annual results in definitive form, and will no longer publish estimated results. In view of this, forthcoming results announcements will take place on the following dates:

Sales for the first nine months of 2008: October 22, 2008, after close of trading on the Paris Bourse.

Sales for full-year 2008: January 22, 2009, after close of trading on the Paris Bourse.

Final results for 2008: February 19, 2009, after close of trading on the Paris Bourse.

* * *

Appendix 1: Results by business sector and geographic area

I. SALES	H1 2007 (in EUR m)	H1 2008 (in EUR m)	Change on an actual structure basis	Change on a comparable structure basis	Change on a comparable structure and currency basis
By sector and division:					
Flat Glass	2,797	2,885	+3.1%	+2.7%	+4.7%
High Performance Materials (1) (2)	2,486	2,123	-14.6%	-2.4%	+3.0%
Construction Products (1)	5,644	5,988	+6.1%	-2.8%	+1.5%
Interior Solutions	3,393	3,170	-6.6%	-7.3%	-3.4%
Exterior Solutions	2,267	2,835	+25.1%	+4.0%	+8.9%
Building Distribution	9,522	10,039	+5.4%	-0.8%	+1.2%
Packaging (3)	1,871	1,733	-7.4%	+2.0%	+6.5%
Internal sales and misc.	(541)	(627)	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.
GROUP TOTAL	21,779	22,141	+1.7%	-0.9%	+2.2%

By geographic area:					
France	6,706	6,806	+1.5%	+2.9%	+2.9%
Other Western European countries	9,920	10,244	+3.3%	-2.5%	+0.6%
North America	2,981	2,649	-11.1%	-15.5%	-3.4%
Emerging countries and Asia	3,289	3,552	+8.0%	+10.6%	+11.7%
Internal sales	(1,117)	(1,110)	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.
GROUP TOTAL	21,779	22,141	+1.7%	-0.9%	+2.2%

⁽¹⁾ including intra-sector eliminations

⁽³⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €148m in H1 2007 before inter businesses eliminations

II. OPERATING INCOME	H1 2007 (in EUR m)	H1 2008 (in EUR m)	Change on an actual structure basis	H1 2007 (in % of sales)	H1 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Flat Glass	366	410	+12.0%	13.1%	14.2%
High Performance Materials (2)	300	296	-1.3%	12.1%	13.9%
Construction Products	739	604	-18.3%	13.1%	10.1%
Interior Solutions	541	379	-29.9%	15.9%	12.0%
Exterior Solutions	198	225	+13.6%	8.7%	7.9%
Building Distribution	494	470	-4.9%	5.2%	4.7%
Packaging (3)	212	233	+9.9%	11.3%	13.4%
Miscellaneous	(18)	(8)	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.
GROUP TOTAL	2,093	2,005	-4.2%	+9.6%	+9.1%

By geographic area:					
France	565	576	+1.9%	8.4%	8.5%
Other Western European countries	926	893	-3.6%	9.3%	8.7%
North America	234	122	-47.9%	7.8%	4.6%
Emerging countries and Asia	368	414	+12.5%	11.2%	11.7%
GROUP TOTAL	2,093	2,005	-4.2%	+9.6%	+9.1%

⁽²⁾ of which Reinforcements and Composites businesses (sold on November 1st, 2007): €2m in H1 2007

⁽²⁾ of which Reinforcements and Composites businesses (sold on November 1st, 2007): €347m in H1 2007 before inter businesses eliminations

⁽³⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €24m in H1 2007

III. BUSINESS INCOME	H1 2007 (in EUR m)	H1 2008 (in EUR m)	Change on an actual structure basis	H1 2007 (in % of sales)	H1 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Flat Glass	(328) (a)	394	n.m.	-11.7%	13.7%
High Performance Materials (2)	43 (b)	261	n.m.	1.7%	12.3%
Construction Products	727	599	-17.6%	12.9%	10.0%
Interior Solutions	540	383	-29.1%	15.9%	12.1%
Exterior Solutions	187	216	+15.5%	8.2%	7.6%
Building Distribution	494	473	-4.3%	5.2%	4.7%
Packaging (3)	462 (c)	231	-50.0%	24.7%	13.3%
Miscellaneous	(77) (d)	(61) (d)	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.
GROUP TOTAL	1,321	1,897	+43.6%	6.1%	8.6%

- (a) after a provision of €650m for the flat glass fines (European Commission)
- (b) after €190 m of asset write-downs related to the disposal of the Reinforcements & Composites businesses
- (c) after €253m of capital gains following the disposal of Desjonquères
- (d) after asbestos-related charge (before tax) of € 37.5m in H1 2008 versus €47.5m in H1 2007
- (2) of which Reinforcements and Composites businesses (sold on November 1st, 2007): €28m in H1 2007
- (3) of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €23m in H1 2007

By geographic area:					
France	(36) (a)	579	n.m.	-0.5%	8.5%
Other Western European countries	928	834	-10.1%	9.4%	8.1%
North America	160 (b)	82 (b)	-48.8%	5.4%	3.1%
Emerging countries and Asia	269	402	+49.4%	8.2%	11.3%
GROUP TOTAL	1,321	1,897	+43.6%	6.1%	8.6%

- (a) after a provision of €650m for the flat glass fines (European Commission)
- (b) after asbestos-related charge (before tax) of € 37.5m in H1 2008 versus €47.5m in H1 2007

IV. CASH FLOW	H1 2007 (in EUR m)	H1 2008 (in EUR m)	Change on an actual structure basis	H1 2007 (in % of sales)	H1 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Flat Glass	347	412	+18.7%	12.4%	14.3%
High Performance Materials (2)	304	249	-18.1%	12.2%	11.7%
Construction Products	577	479	-17.0%	10.2%	8.0%
Interior Solutions	392	276	-29.6%	11.6%	8.7%
Exterior Solutions	185	203	+9.7%	8.2%	7.2%
Building Distribution	380	335	-11.8%	4.0%	3.3%
Packaging (3)	211	259	+22.7%	11.3%	14.9%
Miscellaneous	113 (a)	160 (a)	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.
GROUP TOTAL	1,932	1,894	-2.0%	8.9%	8.6%

By geographic area:					
France	494	403	-18.4%	7.4%	5.9%
Other Western European countries	852	913	+7.2%	8.6%	8.9%
North America	224 (a)	143 (a)	-36.2%	7.5%	5.4%
Emerging countries and Asia	362	435	+20.2%	11.0%	12.2%
GROUP TOTAL	1,932	1,894	-2.0%	8.9%	8.6%

- (a) after asbestos-related charge (after tax) of €23m in H1 2008 versus €29m in H1 2007
- (2) of which Reinforcements and Composites businesses (sold on November 1st, 2007): €21m in H1 2007
- (3) of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €14m in H1 2007

V. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE	H1 2007 (in EUR m)	H1 2008 (in EUR m)	Change on an actual structure basis	H1 2007 (in % of sales)	H1 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Flat Glass	166	220	+32.5%	5.9%	7.6%
High Performance Materials (2)	73	86	+17.8%	2.9%	4.1%
Construction Products	301	314	+4.3%	5.3%	5.2%
Interior Solutions	230	231	+0.4%	6.8%	7.3%
Exterior Solutions	71	83	+16.9%	3.1%	2.9%
Building Distribution	147	129	-12.2%	1.5%	1.3%
Packaging (3)	125	115	-8.0%	6.7%	6.6%
Miscellaneous	10	8	n.m.	n.m.	n.m.
GROUP TOTAL	822	872	+6.1%	3.8%	3.9%

By geographic area:					
France	167	195	+16.8%	2.5%	2.9%
Other Western European countries	259	271	+4.6%	2.6%	2.6%
North America	161	96	-40.4%	5.4%	3.6%
Emerging countries and Asia	235	310	+31.9%	7.1%	8.7%
GROUP TOTAL	822	872	+6.1%	3.8%	3.9%

 ⁽²⁾ of which Reinforcements and Composites businesses (sold on November 1st, 2007): €10m in H1 2007
 (3) of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €14m in H1 2007

Appendix 2: Consolidated Balance Sheet

in EUR millions	June 30, 2008	Dec 31, 2007
Assets		
Goodwill	10,778	9,240
Other intangible assets	3,043	3,125
Property, plant and equipment	13,147	12,753
Investments in associates	111	123
Deferred tax assets	332	328
Other non-current assets	585	472
Non-current assets	27,996	26,041
Inventories	6,467	5,833
Trade accounts receivable	7,553	6,211
Current tax receivable	90	173
Other accounts receivable	1,589	1,481
Assets held for sale (*)	104	105
Cash and cash equivalents	1,722	1,294
Current assets	17,525	15,097
	, i	,
Total assets	45,521	41,138
Liabilities and Shareholders' equity		
Capital stock	1,530	1,497
Additional paid-in capital and legal reserve	3,937	3,617
Retained earnings and net income for the year	10,890	10,625
Cumulative translation adjustments	(1,102)	(564)
Fair value reserves	106	8
Treasury stock	(210)	(206)
Shareholders' equity	15,151	14,977
Minority interests	267	290
Total equity	15,418	15,267
Long-term debt	10,726	8,747
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	1,815	1,807
Deferred tax liabilities	1,269	1,277
Provisions for other liabilities and charges	918	923
Non-current liabilities	14,728	12,754
Current portion of long-term debt	687	971
Current portion of provisions for other liabilities and charges	1,024	1,107
Trade accounts payable	6,146	5,752
Current tax liabilities	395	317
Other accounts payable	3,450	3,425
Liabilities held for sale (*)	43	41
Short-term debt and bank overdrafts	3,630	1,504
Current liabilities	15,375	13,117
m . 1	17 701	14 420
Total equity and liabilities	45,521	41,138

^(*) SG VTX America Plastic

September 5, 2008 - Successful launch of a 5 year, EUR 750 million bond offering (annual coupon of 7.25%)

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, whose long-term senior debt is rated BBB+ by Standard & Poor's and Baa1 by Moody's, set yesterday the terms of its new benchmark bond issue denominated in Euros.

Despite challenging market conditions the issue was well received by a diversified set of quality investors, which allowed the spread to be set at the bottom of the initial price-guidance and the size of the issue to meet the issuer's target.

This transaction underlines bond investors' confidence in the credit quality of Saint-Gobain, whose last issuance on the Euro bond market took place in April 2007.

The proceeds will be used to refinance existing debt and for general corporate purposes.

BNP Paribas, Calyon, J.P. Morgan and The Royal Bank of Scotland acted as lead managers for this bond issue.

SALES FOR THE FIRST NINE MONTHS OF 2008

- **▶** +2.5% ON A REPORTED BASIS
- **▶** +2.4% LIKE-FOR-LIKE

The Saint-Gobain Group delivered consolidated sales of €33,435 million for the first nine months of 2008, versus €32,630 million for the same year-ago period, representing a rise of 2.5% on a reported basis and of 5.6% at constant exchange rates*.

Changes in the scope of consolidation over the first nine months of the year accounted for a 3.1% increase in sales, offset by a broadly equivalent negative exchange rate impact (3.0%) stemming from the decline in value of the US dollar and pound sterling.

On a like-for-like basis (constant Group structure and exchange rates*), the Group's sales advanced €755 million over the nine-month period, or 2.4%, buoyed by a significant 3.3% rise in sales prices. Sales volumes fell back slightly by 0.9%. In the third quarter alone, the Group reported organic growth of 2.8% (including a positive 3.8% price impact and a negative 1.0% volume effect).

All of the Group's business sectors saw a rise in like-for-like sales over the first nine months of 2008. Third-quarter figures for the residential construction market in the US benefited from a favorable basis for comparison and a momentary rebound in renovation businesses related to siding and roofing products. In western Europe, business tailed off in the third quarter with a deceleration in volumes in most countries and a recession taking hold and intensifying in Spain and the UK. Overall, demand related to industrial output and capital spending held firm at satisfactory levels in both Europe and the US.

Broadly speaking, demand across all of the Group's businesses remained satisfactory in France (organic growth of 3.2%, boosted by sales price increases) and vigorous in emerging countries and Asia (up 11.4%).

^(*) Based on average exchange rates for the first nine months of 2007.

Sales trends by business sector and geographic area are as follows:

	Sales for the first nine months of 2008 (€ millions)	Sales for the first nine months of 2007 (€ millions)	Change based on actual structure (%)	Change based on comparable structure (%)	Change based on comparable structure and exchange rates (%)
<u>SECTORS</u>					
Flat Glass	4,278	4,152	+3.0%	+2.5%	4.5%
${\bf High\text{-}Performance\ Materials\ } (1)$	3,193	3,670	-13.0%	-0.3%	+4.5%
Construction Products (1)	9,211	8,447	+9.0%	-1.1%	+3.0%
Interior Solutions	4,724	5,028	-6.0%	-7.1%	-3.4%
Exterior Solutions	4,512	3,442	+31.1%	+7.8%	+12.4%
Building Distribution	15,051	14,445	+4.2%	-1.9%	+0.2%
Packaging	2,628	2,712	-3.1%	+3.8%	+7.9%
Internal sales and misc.	(926)	(796)			
GROUP	33,435	32,630	+2.5%	-0.6%	+2.4%
GEOGRAPHIC AREAS					
France	9,910	9,702	+2.1%	+3.2%	+3.2%
Other western European countries	15,364	14,960	+2.7%	-3.6%	-0.4%
North America	4,179	4,475	-6.6%	-10.4%	+0.9%
Emerging countries and Asia-	5,611	5,112	+9.8%	+11.2%	+11.4%
Pacific					
Internal sales	(1,629)	(1,619)			
GROUP	33,435	32,630	+2.5%	-0.6%	+2.4%

⁽¹⁾ Including inter-division eliminations.

Performance of Group sectors

The Flat Glass sector achieved further sales growth in both the nine months to September 30, 2008 and in the third quarter of the year (respectively, 4.5% and 4.0% on a like-for-like basis), powered by ongoing vigorous organic growth in Asia and emerging countries. Against a backdrop of persistent inflation in energy and commodities, sales prices held firm overall in western Europe, despite a dip in volumes (with the exception of energy-efficient glass, which once again reported double-digit growth). On the automotive markets, the continued strong growth in emerging countries did not entirely offset the third-quarter slowdown observed in western Europe.

The High-Performance Materials sector stepped up its organic growth (4.5% over the first nine months of 2008, including 7.8% over the third quarter). This performance was driven by solid capital spending in all geographic areas, with operations directly related to industrial output or construction markets growing more modestly.

Nine-month sales for the Construction Products (CP) sector advanced 3.0% on a like-for-like basis (6.0% in the third quarter alone), driven by significant price rises (up 4.5%, including 7.2% in the third quarter alone) and an ongoing strong growth momentum (15.4% over the nine months to September 30, 2008) in Asia and emerging countries.

- Interior Solutions (Insulation and Gypsum) saw like-for-like sales retreat 3.4% over the first nine months of the year, hampered by the lingering tough conditions in North America, lower volumes in western Europe (particularly in the UK and Spain) and lower sales prices in eastern Europe.
- By contrast, Exterior Solutions enjoyed double-digit organic growth (12.4% over the first nine months of 2008 and 18.8% over the third quarter), bolstered by sharp sales price increases as well as a healthy trading environment in all of its markets. In particular, the upturn in sales of siding and roofing products in the US observed in the three months to June 30, 2008 continued into the third quarter of the year, buoyed by higher sales prices, against a backdrop of rising energy and raw materials costs.

Building Distribution posted a 4.2% rise in sales on a reported basis, boosted by acquisitions carried out at the end of 2007 and in 2008. Like-for-like, sales remained virtually flat (up 0.2%) over the first nine months of the year, reflecting the further weakening of activity in the UK and Spain in the third quarter that was not offset by continued growth on French and Scandinavian markets.

The Packaging sector continued to enjoy vibrant trading conditions in all of its markets, posting organic growth of 7.9% for the first nine months of the year (10.5% for the third quarter alone).

Analysis by geographic area

France, emerging countries and Asia led the Group's organic growth momentum over the first nine months of 2008. On a constant Group structure and exchange rate basis, **growth remained satisfactory** in France, at 3.2%, chiefly fueled by the rise in sales prices, despite the slowdown observed on the construction market in the third quarter.

Other western European countries reported a slight 0.4% decline on a like-for-like basis, as the downturn in the UK and Spanish markets gathered pace. However, growth remained satisfactory in Germany, Scandinavia, and to a lesser extent Italy.

Sales for North America edged up 0.9% like-for-like, boosted by a sharp upturn in activity during the third quarter (up 9.2%), especially in Exterior Products.

Asia and emerging countries continued to deliver vigorous like-for-like growth, at 11.4%. Latin America and Asia turned in particularly strong growth performances of 18.2% and 16.8% respectively, while business flattened out in central and eastern Europe (up 1.2% over the nine months to September 30, 2008 with the rise in volumes during the third quarter being offset by lower sales prices).

Update on asbestos claims in the United States

Some 4,000 claims were filed against CertainTeed in the first nine months of 2008, versus 5,000 in the nine months to September 30, 2007. After taking into account claims settled or transferred to inactive

dockets during the period, the number of outstanding claims at September 30, 2008 continued to fall, to stand at 70,000 at September 30, 2008 versus 73,000 at June 30, 2008 and 74,000 at December 31, 2007.

Situation of the Group and outlook

In the third quarter of 2008, the Group's sales **held up satisfactorily** overall, underpinned essentially on an operational level by the priority given to raising sales prices.

In addition, the Group boasts a number of **key strengths** that will help it withstand the increasingly challenging economic environment.

Firstly, Saint-Gobain has a **solid financial structure** and healthy liquidity position, especially given that most of the Group's debt is in the form of bonds, with no maturities before July 2009 (€I billion).

In addition, from an operational standpoint, the Group has continued to generate **high levels of free cash flow** by paying close attention to working capital requirements and rigorously controlling capital spending. In the year to June 30, 2008, the Group posted free cash flow (net cash flows from operating activities less capital spending) of €1.4 billion. This trend continued into the third quarter.

Nevertheless, the economic environment has sharply deteriorated over recent weeks due to the magnitude of the financial crisis. Against a backdrop of lower visibility, the Group is anticipating an overall decrease in its business volumes in the fourth quarter in western Europe (particularly in the UK and Spain), and to a lesser extent, eastern Europe. Accordingly, the Group considers it prudent to revise its earnings assumptions downwards and is now expecting results for full-year 2008 **slightly below the targets announced at the end of July** (operating income at constant exchange rates* and recurring net income** close to the high 2007 levels).

In light of this situation, the Group will continue to demonstrate its **swift responsiveness** by intensifying, in those countries concerned, its purposeful and vigorous cost saving, workforce reduction and economic adaptation programs, as announced in July 2008.

Lastly, Saint-Gobain will continue to exploit the **front-ranking positions** it holds in all of its businesses and territories, in order to pursue a resolute policy on sales prices.

Forthcoming results announcements

<u>NB</u>: As from the date of publication of its full-year 2008 results, the Group will publish its final annual results directly, rather than after its estimated figures as has been the case in previous years. Accordingly, forthcoming results announcements will be made on the following dates:

<u>2008 sales</u>: January 22, 2009 after close of trading on the Paris Bourse. Final results for 2008: February 19, 2009 after close of trading on the Paris Bourse.

* * *

^{*} average exchange rates for 2007

^{**} excludes capital gains and losses, asset write-downs and Flat Glass fines (European Commission)

Debt at September 30, 2008

Amounts in € billions Comments

Breakdown of net debt		
Gross debt Cash and cash equivalents Net debt	15.0 1.8 13.2	Around 66% of net debt at September 30, 2008 is at fixed rates. The average cost of net debt was 5.27% for the nine months to September 30, 2008.
Breakdown of gross debt	15.0	
Bond debt July 2009 March 2010 April 2010 May 2011 April 2012 September 2013 Beyond 2013	8.9 1.0 0.4 1.0 1.1 1.3 0.8 3.4	
Other long-term debt	2.7	o/w €2.1 billion relating to the Maxit acquisition (the Group is in advanced discussions to extend the maturity of this credit facility by one year, from October 2009 to October 2010).
Breakdown of short-term debt Commercial paper (< 3 months) Securitized trade receivables Debt contracted locally	3.5 1.5 0.6 1.3	 (Excluding bond debt) Maximum issue under the program:
Credit lines and cash and cash equivalents	5.0	
Cash and cash equivalents Back-up credit lines Breakdown of back-up credit lines	1.8 3.2 3.2	See breakdown below. At September 30, 2008.

All credit lines are confirmed and undrawn. None are subject to Material Adverse Change ("MAC") clauses.

	Maturity	Financial covenants	Position at June 30, 2008
Syndicated loan: €2.0 billion	Nov. 2011	None	
Syndicated loan: €0.5 billion	Aug. 2010	Net debt/Ebitda < 3.75 x	2.4 x
		EBITA*/ Net financial expense> 3.5 x	5.9 x
7 bilateral credit lines: €0.7 billion	2009: 0.5 bn	o/w €0.3 billion with identical or broade	er criteria than those of
		the above €0.5 billion bank loan.	
	2010: 0.2 bn		

^{*} Operating income + amoritization of intangible assets

October 28, 2008 - Extension until October 2010 of the credit facility for the acquisition of Maxit (2 billion euros)

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain signed today with a syndicate of banks an amendment to the credit facility agreement of October 2007 for the acquisition of the Maxit group. This concludes the discussions mentioned on October 22 in the press release on the Group's sales for the first 9 months of 2008.

Under this amendment Saint-Gobain has the right to extend the final maturity of the credit facility, in an amount of 2,040 million euros, from October 2009 to October 2010. The credit margins on the facility have been revised in view of the evolution of the market; on the signing date of the amendment, based on the three months Euribor rate of today at 4.86%, the initial interest rate for this facility is equal to 5.86%.

This amendment enables the Group to increase its financial flexibility.

November 12, 2008 - Decision of the European Commission on automobile Flat Glass in Europe

The Saint-Gobain Group has just learnt of the fine imposed by the European Commission with respect to the automotive glass investigation in Europe. The Group had set aside a provision of 600 million for this fine at the end of 2007.

The exact terms of and reasons for the Commission's decision – which involves Saint-Gobain Vitrage being fined €896 million for acts dating back to the late 1990s and early 2000s – are not yet known.

The Group believes the fine to be excessive and disproportionate and intends to immediately appeal the decision before the Luxembourg Court of First Instance. The fine represents approximately 95% of the annual sales of Saint-Gobain's OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) automotive glass business in Europe, and several decades' net income.

The payment of the fine is conditional on the outcome of the Court's proceedings – which generally take place over several years – in exchange for the provision of a bank guarantee.

November 24, 2008 - Organization of Saint-Gobain

The following appointments will be effective as of January 1, 2009:

- **Jean-Pierre Floris**, President of the Flat Glass Sector, undertakes, in addition to his current responsibilities, the management of High-Performance Materials. He will thus lead the new Innovative Materials Sector.
- Gilles Colas, General Delegate to the Asia-Pacific region, is appointed General Delegate to North America.
- **Didier Roux**, President of Research & Development, is appointed President of Research & Development and Innovation of the Group. He reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer.
- **Emmanuel Normant**, President of the Pipe Division in China, is appointed General Delegate to the Asia-Pacific region.
- Benoît d'Iribarne, Chief Executive Officer of Saint-Gobain Glass, undertakes, in addition to his current responsibilities, the management of the Sekurit OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) activity. The Autover and Transportation activity reports to François-Xavier Moser, Chief Executive Officer of Saint-Gobain Glass Solutions.

This new organization follows the departure of Jacques Aschenbroich and Hans Cordes from the Group.

November 24, 2008 - Press release on the AFEP/MEDEF recommendations relating to compensation of executive directors and officers (dirigeants mandataires sociaux)

At their meeting on November 20, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Compagnie de Saint-Gobain examined the recommendations of the AFEP and MEDEF of October 6, 2008 on the compensation of executive directors and officers (*dirigeants mandataires sociaux*) of companies whose securities are listed for trading on a regulated market.

The Board acknowledged that the Company's corporate governance policy complies with these recommendations.

The Board confirms that the AFEP-MEDEF corporate governance code thus modified is that to which the Company refers for guidance on the report provided for in article L.225-37 of the French Commercial Code (*Code de commerce*).

December 18, 2008 - 2009 financial agenda

In view of the new regulatory provisions referred to in the AMF (Autorité des marchés financiers) recommendation dated December 17, 2008 (http://www.amf-france.org/documents/general/8600_1.pdf) relating to the communication of full-year sales data by listed companies, the Saint-Gobain Group will not separately publish full-year sales data for 2008, as initially scheduled for January 22, 2009. Sales data will therefore be released at the same time as the 2008 final results announcement on February 19, 2009.

2009 financial agenda:

February 19 Final results for 2008 April 29 First quarter sales 2009 June 4 **Annual General Meeting** June 15

Dividend ex-date (payment on 18)

June 18 Dividend payment date

July 23 Final results for first-half 2009

October 22 Nine months sales

Publications to be released after market closing.

January 14, 2009 - Successful launch of a five and a half year, €1 billion bond offering

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain today set the terms of its new EUR 1 billion $5 \frac{1}{2}$ year bond issue with an annual coupon of 8.25%.

This bond issue will serve to refinance existing debt and will allow Saint-Gobain to increase the average maturity of its debt.

The transaction underlines bond investors' confidence in the credit quality of Saint-Gobain, whose last issuance on the Euro bond market took place in September 2008.

Saint-Gobain's long-term senior debt is rated BBB+ by Standard & Poor's and Baa1 by Moody's.

BNP Paribas, CALYON Crédit Agricole CIB, J.P.Morgan and Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking acted as lead managers for this bond issue, with BBVA, Banco Santander, Citi and Commerzbank Corporate and Markets acting as co-lead managers.

February 13, 2009 - Launch of the Second Annual "Saint-Gobain & Start-ups" Competition

Saint-Gobain is organizing its second innovation competition. The contest aims to reward the European start-ups offering the most innovative solutions in the housing, energy and environment fields.

NOVA External Venturing, a Saint-Gobain unit dedicated to setting up strategic partnerships between the Group and start-ups, will select 10 companies among the competing start-ups, based on their innovation, the quality of their value proposition and potential synergies with Saint-Gobain. They will present their projects June 3, 2009 at the Saint-Gobain booth at the European Research & Innovation Exhibition (SERI) in Paris, Porte de Versailles, during a "speed-dating" session. The panel of judges will consist of senior Saint-Gobain executives and in-house experts in the housing, energy and environment fields. Applicants will have to convince the judges of the quality of their project and that a potential partnership with Saint-Gobain would be mutually beneficial.

The three winners will receive €15,000 in prize money each and will work with the External Venturing team to set up a partnership with Saint-Gobain. Partnerships may be technological (codevelopment, licensing agreement) or commercial (integration into a system, production or distribution agreement).

The deadline for entry submission is March 30, 2009. The rules and registration form can be downloaded from the Saint-Gobain Group Web site. Please click here.

A few figures from 2008 Edition

- Two of the four 2008 winners have already set up a partnership and two are in talks to develop business relations with Saint-Gobain.
- More generally, 20% of the companies that competed in the 2008 edition are now directly in touch with at least one Saint-Gobain business unit.

February 19, 2009

2008 RESULTS IN LINE WITH REVISED OBJECTIVES €1.5 BILLION RIGHTS ISSUE

- ⇒ Sales up 3.7% at constant exchange rates¹
- ⇒ Single-digit decline in operating income (-9.1% at constant exchange rates¹) and recurring net income² (-9.5%)
- ⇒ Continuing high level of cash flow from operations³ (€3.5 billion) and free cash flow³ (€1.3 billion)
- ⇒ 2008 dividend: €1 per share

⇔ More cost reductions:

€400 million in 2008

A further €600 million in 2009

⇒ €1.5 billion rights issue

2008 KEY FIGURES						
	2007	2008	% change	At constant exchange rates ¹		
Sales	43,421	43,800	+0.9%	+3.7%		
Operating income	4,108	3,649	-11.2%	-9.1%		
Recurring net income ²	2,114	1,914	-9.5%			

- Average exchange rates for 2007
- 2 Excluding capital gains and losses on disposals, asset write-downs, and material non-recurring provisions (including Flat Glass fines levied by the European Commission)
- 3 Excluding the tax effect of capital gains and losses on disposals and exceptional asset write-downs

Operating performance

Amid a difficult economic climate, Saint-Gobain delivered 2008 sales in line with 2007 figures, which marked a record year for the Group. Organic growth came in at 0.3% (including a positive 3.4% price impact and a negative 3.1% volume effect) and reflects the stark contrast between a satisfactory performance in the first nine months of the year (2.4% organic growth, including a positive 3.3% price impact and a negative 0.9% volume effect) and a sharp downturn in the fourth quarter (5.5% negative organic growth including a positive 3.8% price impact and a negative 9.3% volume effect). The last few months of 2008 were affected by the deepening financial crisis, which compounded the decline in the construction sector in most developed countries and took its toll on the world's industrial markets, in particular the automotive industry. The crisis also began to take hold of emerging economies. Despite the sharp slowdown in sales volumes over the last few months of the year, the Group was able to maintain its price increases across each of its businesses throughout 2008.

1°) Performance of Group sectors

All of the Group's sectors with the exception of Packaging were hit by the downturn and reported a single-digit fall in like-for-like sales in the fourth quarter of the year. This bucks the growth trend observed over the first nine months of 2008 (see appendices 1 and 2). Activities related to construction markets in Europe (Flat Glass, Building Distribution and Interior Solutions) were particularly affected, dragged down by the deeper contraction in the UK and Spanish markets and by a lackluster trading environment in other European countries.

Innovative Materials posted like-for-like growth of 1.3% over the full year, despite a 7.8% drop in the fourth quarter due to the sharp downturn in the automotive industry and the increasingly sluggish world economy. However, the sector's operating margin edged up to 12.9% from 12.6% in 2007.

- Flat Glass delivered organic growth of 1.0% for the full year, reflecting firm business momentum over the first nine months of the year (up 4.5%) and a sharp fall in the fourth quarter (down 8.8%) prompted by the collapse in the global automotive industry, and to a lesser extent by the continuing deterioration in construction markets across Western and Eastern Europe. Despite a fall in the price of commodities (float glass) at the end of 2008, sales prices edged up 2.3% on average over the full year, allowing the operating margin to remain at a high level of 12.6% versus 12.8% in 2007.
- **High-Performance Materials (HPM)** also suffered a sharp 6.1% downturn in business on a like-for-like basis during the fourth quarter, but still reported 1.9% organic growth for the year as a whole. The sector posted **further gains in its operating margin** on the back of a robust performance in the first nine months of the year (4.5% organic growth) and the uptrend in sales prices, from 12.3% in 2007 to 13.0% in 2008.

Sales for the Construction Products (CP) sector advanced 1.4% on a like-for-like basis over the full year, but retreated 3.3% in the fourth quarter owing to downbeat Interior Solutions markets in both North America and Western Europe. The sector's operating margin came in at 8.9%, versus 11.8% in 2007.

• **Interior Solutions saw like-for-like sales drop 5.0%** over the full year and 9.9% in the fourth quarter, hit by a further decline in construction markets in North America and Europe. This,

combined with higher energy and commodity prices, drove **operating margin down to 9.6%** (versus 14.8% in 2007).

• In contrast, Exterior Solutions reported strong like-for-like growth (10.8% over the full year and 6.4% in the fourth quarter), buoyed by a sharp rise in sales prices (up 10.1% over the year) and vigorous year-long demand in Pipe and Industrial Mortars markets. Concerning North American Exterior Products, after a strong recovery in the second and third quarters, business volumes shrank on the back of a renewed slide in the US housing market. Operating margin performed well, up from 7.4% to 8.1% in 2008.

Building Distribution was directly impacted by the downturn in European construction markets (especially in the UK and Spain) and reported a decrease in like-for-like sales of 1.9% over the full year and 7.7% in the fourth quarter alone. The sector's operating income came in at €894 million, representing 4.5% of sales versus 5.7% in 2007.

The **Packaging sector** remained on a strong upward trend, delivering organic growth of 7.4% over the full year and 5.8% in the fourth quarter. Excluding divestments (Flasks business: Desjonquères), **operating income for the sector surged 17.2%**, **while the operating margin widened from 11.1% to 12.5%**.

2°) Analysis by geographic area

For 2008 as a whole, the Group reported healthy like-for-like sales figures for **France** (up 1.9%), despite a slowdown in the second half of the year (up 0.9%), and particularly in the fourth quarter (down 1.8%) for most of its businesses. Operating margin fell slightly, to 8.1%.

Other Western European countries saw like-for-like sales fall 2.8% over the full year (down 5.9% in the second half and 9.7% in the fourth quarter), hit by the steep downturn in the UK and Spanish economies in the six months to December 31, 2008. This took its toll on the operating margin, which fell to 7.7% compared with 9.4% in 2007.

Figures for North America remained on a par with 2007 (down 0.9%), with the recovery in the third quarter followed by a further contraction in the three months to December 31, 2008 (down 6.2%). Operating margin retreated over the full year, but picked up in the second half of 2008 thanks to ongoing sales price increases (up 10.6% versus 1.5% in the first half).

Emerging countries and Asia continued to enjoy vigorous 8.5% organic growth across all of the Group's businesses in 2008. However, organic growth for the fourth quarter was barely positive (0.6%), due to the steep decline in eastern European economies, and to a lesser extent the lackluster performance of certain Asian markets. Operating margin for the region remained high for the full year, at 10.5% of sales.

* * *

2008 consolidated financial statements

The Group's 2008 consolidated financial statements, and the financial statements of the Group's parent company, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, were approved and adopted by Saint-Gobain's Board of Directors at its meeting of February 19, 2009. Key consolidated data are summarized below:

	2007 € millions	2008 € millions	% change
Sales and ancillary revenue	43,421	43,800	+0.9%
Operating income	4,108	3,649	-11.2%
Operating depreciation and amortization	1,521	1,511	-0.7%
EBITDA	5,629	5,160	-8.3%
Non-operating costs' Provision for Flat Glass fines Capital gains and losses on disposals and exceptional asset write-	(290) (694)	(310) (400)	+6.9% -42.4%
downs Dividends received	30 2	(127)	n.m.
Business income	3,156	2,814	-10.8%
Net financial expense Income tax Share in net income of associates Income before minority interests Minority interests	(701) (926) 14 1,543 (56)	(750) (638) 11 1,437 (59)	+7.0% -31.1% n.m6.9% +5.4%
Recurring net income ² Recurring ² earnings per share ³ (in €) Net income Earnings per share ³ (in €) Cash flow from operations ⁴ Cash flow from operations excluding capital gains tax ² Capital expenditure	2,114 5.65 1,487 3.97 3,762 3,712 2,273	1,914 5.00 1,378 3.60 3,524 3,487 2,149	-9.5% -11.5% -7.3% -9.3% -6.3% -6.1% -5.5%
Free cash flow (excluding capital gains tax) ²	1,439	1,338	-7.0%
Investments in securities Net debt	965 9,928	2,358 11,679	+144.4% +1 7.6%

¹ Excluding the provision for Flat Glass fines (European Commission).

² Excluding capital gains and losses on disposals, asset write-downs and material non-recurring provisions (including the Flat Glass fines levied by the European Commission).

³ Calculated based on the number of shares outstanding at December 31 (382,571,985 shares in 2008 versus 374,216,152 shares in 2007). Based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding (374,998,085 shares in 2008 versus 367,124,675 in 2007), recurring earnings per share comes out at €3.10 (compared with €3.76 in 2007), and earnings per share comes out at €3.67 (compared with €4.05 in 2007).

Excluding material non-recurring provisions (which include the Flat Glass fines levied by the European Commission).

<u>Sales</u> edged up 0.9% in 2008, or **3.7% at constant exchange rates** (based on average exchange rates for 2007). The positive 3.3% impact of changes in Group structure was largely offset by the negative 2.7% currency impact reflecting a renewed decline in the dollar and pound sterling. **Likefor-like**, consolidated sales remained **broadly unchanged (up 0.3%)**, with the 3.4% rise in sales prices offsetting the 3.1% fall in volumes, mainly in the second half (down 5.2%) and particularly in the fourth quarter (down 9.3%).

<u>Operating income</u> shed 11.2%, or **9.1% at constant exchange rates***. The Group's operating margin came in at **8.3%** of sales (**11.0%** excluding Building Distribution), versus 9.5% (12.1% excluding Building Distribution) in 2007 and **8.9%** (**10.9%** excluding Building Distribution) in 2006.

Non-operating costs came in at €710 million (€984 million in 2007), including €190 million in industrial restructuring costs, €75 million regarding asbestos-related claims filed against CertainTeed in the US (respectively, €172 million and €00 million in 2007), and €400 million in additions to the provision set aside for the €896 million fine levied by the European Commission against the automotive Flat Glass business on November 12, 2008. The Group has decided to appeal against this ruling.

The net balance of capital gains and losses on disposals and exceptional asset write-downs was a negative €127 million, including €3 million in capital gains on disposals and €180 million in exceptional asset write-downs.

<u>Business income</u> dropped 10.8% after taking into account the items mentioned above (non-operating costs and capital gains/losses on disposals and exceptional asset write-downs).

<u>Net financial expense</u> amounted to €750 million in 2008, compared with €701 million in 2007, reflecting mainly the rise in average net debt over the full year: the average cost of net debt increased from 5.36% in 2007 to 5.54% in 2008. **The interest cover ratio (operating income over interest expense) came out at 4.9.**

Recurring net income (excluding capital gains and losses, exceptional asset write-downs and material non-recurring provisions, including Flat Glass fines) fell 9.5% to €1,914 million from €2,114 million in 2007. Based on the number of shares outstanding at December 31, 2008 (382,571,985 shares versus 374,216,152 shares at December 31, 2007), recurring earnings per share comes out at €5.00, down 11.5% on 2007 (€5.65).

<u>Capital expenditure</u> was scaled back 5.5% in the year (12% in second-half 2008 compared with second-half 2007), to €2,149 million (€2,273 million in 2007), and represented 4.9% of sales (5.2% in 2007). The bulk of investments (62%) focused on markets linked to energy efficiency (Flat Glass and Construction Products) and on selective projects in emerging countries (e.g. new float-line in Egypt).

_

^{* *} Based on average exchange rates for 2007.

<u>Cash flow from operations</u> (excluding provision for Flat Glass fines) fell 6.3% year-on-year to €3,524 million. Before the tax impact of capital gains and losses and asset write-downs, cash flow from operations retreated 6.1% to €3,487 million versus €3,712 million in 2007.

Free cash flow (cash flow from operations less capital expenditure) declined 7.7% to €1,375 million. Before the tax impact of capital gains and losses and asset write-downs, free cash flow dropped 7.0% to €1,338 million, representing 3.1% of sales.

<u>Investments in securities</u> amounted to €2,358 million, including €1,528 million in respect of the Maxit acquisition (signed in 2007 but completed in March 2008), and €35 million in bolt-on acquisitions in the Building Distribution sector. **Investments in securities were curbed significantly in the second half of 2008** (down to €180 million from €52 million in the first half of the year, excluding Maxit).

<u>Net debt</u> was €1,679 million at December 31, 2008, representing 80% of consolidated shareholders' equity, versus 65% at end-2007.

Update on asbestos claims in the United States

Some 5,000 claims were filed against CertainTeed in 2008, versus 6,000 in 2007. Around 8,000 claims were settled over the period, while 3,000 claims were transferred to the inactive docket, bringing the total number of outstanding claims to 68,000 at December 31, 2008, compared with 74,000 at December 31, 2007. A total of USD 71 million in indemnity payments were made over the last 12 months, compared to USD 73 million over 2007.

In light of these trends, an additional provision of €75 million was recorded in 2008 (€00 million in 2007) increasing the coverage for CertainTeed's asbestos-related claims to around USD 502 million at December 31, 2008, versus USD 473 million at end-2007.

Action plan in response to crisis:

Rights issue and other financial and operational measures

The Saint-Gobain Group intends to press ahead with the implementation of its medium-term strategy and continue to enjoy front-ranking positions in all of its businesses.

The Group has decided to **launch a rights issue** in order to anticipate its future financing needs and maintain strict financial discipline in a challenging economic and financial environment. This capital increase will be accompanied by a wide and coherent plan of **financial**, **operational and strategic measures**, **which have already been initiated by the Group**. These measures will be **actively pursued and could be intensified**.

The €1.5 billion rights issue, with warrants, will be fully underwritten by the banks and will strengthen the Group's financial flexibility. It will also improve its debt/equity ratio and equity risk premium, strengthen its credit rating and provide satisfactory long-term access to financing markets.

From an operational standpoint, the Group will:

- continue to prioritize **sales prices**, as in 2008 (up 3.4% over the year and 3.8% over the second half),
- press ahead with a significant cost-cutting program across all businesses:
 - in 2008, staff numbers were cut by 8,000 worldwide (compared with 4,000 announced in July) while cost savings totaled €400 million (versus a target of €300 million).
 - for 2009, the Group aims to scale back costs a further €00 million, bringing total cost savings to €1 billion in 2008-2009.
- further optimize its cash flow generation (free cash flow of €1.4 billion in 2008), by :
 - maintaining a tight rein on working capital (gain of 2 additional days in 2008, driving down days' sales outstanding to 38 compared with 40 in 2007);
 - significantly curbing capital expenditure (at least 25% or €00 million in 2009) compared with the 2008 level.
- manage divestments in a dynamic and timely manner:
 - carrying out small- or medium-sized disposals;
 - implementing the sale of the Packaging business as and when the opportunity arises. This divestment is part of a strategy that has been temporarily put on hold given the difficulties encountered by potential acquirers in securing funding.
- put on hold any acquisition projects in 2009.

Concerning the dividend policy, Executive Management will recommend to Compagnie de Saint-Gobain's Board of Directors on March 19 that it propose to the Shareholders' Meeting on June 4, 2009 a dividend payment of €378 million, or €1.00 per share. This represents 28% of earnings per share, 20% of recurring earnings per share and a net dividend yield of 3.0% based on the closing share price at December 31, 2008. The dividend may be paid in cash or in shares, at shareholders' discretion.

Details of the rights issue

Saint-Gobain is to launch a rights issue for around €1.5 billion by creating 108 million new shares. The issue will be carried out by means of a free allotment of warrants to existing shareholders:

- each shareholder will be allotted 1 free warrant per share held at the close of trading on February 20;
- 7 warrants will enable their holders to subscribe to 2 new shares at a price of €14 per new share.

The subscription period for the new shares will run from February 23, 2009 to March 6, 2009 inclusive. During this period, the warrants will be listed and negotiable on Euronext Paris.

The settlement and listing of the new shares on Euronext Paris and other markets is scheduled for March 23, 2009.

The new shares will carry dividend rights from January 1, 2008 and will entitle holders to dividends paid in respect of 2008 and subsequent years. Accordingly, they will be treated in the same manner as existing shares.

Outlook

In a context of limited visibility resulting from the global economic crisis – which makes the 2010 objectives set by the Group in 2007 obsolete – Saint-Gobain expects 2009 to be an extremely challenging year, particularly in the first six months due to a higher year-on-year basis for comparison.

The Group stands to benefit fully as soon as the impacts of the economic stimulus packages and energy-efficiency plans launched by Western governments begin to be felt, owing to its worldwide leadership in energy efficient solutions for the construction industry, which represents almost one-third of total sales and 40% of operating income. The Group's strong exposure to the building renovation market in Europe (36% of Group sales) should help counter the expected decline in new construction.

Saint-Gobain will also press ahead with its R&D initiatives, focusing on target strategic priorities for high-potential projects (particularly in solar technology) and continue its selective expansion in emerging countries.

Saint-Gobain will be ideally placed to fully benefit from economic recovery when it occurs and to leverage any growth opportunities that may arise in its wake, buoyed by its worldwide leadership of the construction market and front-ranking position in energy efficiency, supported by a healthy balance sheet and strong cash-generating ability.

* * *

Forthcoming results announcements

- Sales for the first quarter of 2009: April 29, 2009, after close of trading on the Paris Bourse.

* *

Appendix 1: Results by business sector and geographic area - Full Year

I. SALES	2007 (in EUR m)	2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	change on a comparable structure basis	change on a comparable structure and currency basis
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials (1)	10,334	9,677	-6.4%	-1.5%	+1.3%
Flat Glass	5,611	5,549	-1.1%	-1.6%	+1.0%
High-Performance Materials (2)	4,752	4,165	-12.4%	-1.1%	+1.9%
Construction Products (1)	11,112	12,035	+8.3%	-1.8%	+1.4%
Interior Solutions	6,628	6,149	-7.2%	-8.4%	-5.0%
Exterior Solutions	4,516	5,919	+31.1%	+7.9%	+10.8%
Building Distribution	19,480	19,696	+1.1%	-4.3%	-1.9%
Packaging (3)	3,546	3,547	+0.0%	+4.7%	+7.4%
Internal sales and misc.	(1,080)	(1,192)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	43,421	43,800	+0.9%	-2.4%	+0.3%

⁽¹⁾ including intra-sector eliminations

⁽³⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €148m in 2007 before inter-business eliminations

By geographic area:					
France	12,931	13,076	+1.1%	+1.9%	+1.9%
Other Western European countries	19,905	19,941	+0.2%	-6.3%	-2.8%
North America	5,793	5,499	-5.1%	-7.6%	-0.9%
Emerging countries and Asia	6,921	7,404	+7.0%	+6.8%	+8.5%
Internal sales	(2,129)	(2,120)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	43,421	43,800	+0.9%	-2.4%	+0.3%

⁽²⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1t, 2007): €593m in 2007 before inter-business eliminations

II. OPERATING INCOME	2007 (in EUR m)	2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	2007 (in % of sales)	2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	1,302	1,244	-4.5%	12.6%	12.9%
Flat Glass	717	701	-2.2%	12.8%	12.6%
High-Performance Materials (1)	585	543	-7.2%	12.3%	13.0%
Construction Products	1,313	1,070	-18.5%	11.8%	8.9%
Interior Solutions	980	592	-39.6%	14.8%	9.6%
Exterior Solutions	333	478	+43.5%	7.4%	8.1%
Building Distribution	1,102	894	-18.9%	5.7%	4.5%
Packaging (2)	401	442	+10.2%	11.3%	12.5%
Misc.	(10)	(1)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	4,108	3,649	-11.2%	9.5%	8.3%

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): \triangleleft 49m in 2007

⁽²⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €24m in 2007

By geographic area:					
France	1,096	1,062	-3.1%	8.5%	8.1%
Other Western European countries	1,869	1,530	-18.1%	9.4%	7.7%
North America	344	283	-17.7%	5.9%	5.1%
Emerging countries and Asia	799	774	-3.1%	11.5%	10.5%
GROUP TOTAL	4,108	3,649	-11.2%	9.5%	8.3%

III. BUSINESS INCOME	2007 (in EUR m)	2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	2007 (in % of sales)	2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	284 (a)	712 (a)	n.s.	2.7%	7.4%
Flat Glass	(49) (a)	212 (a)	n.s.	-0.9%	3.8%
High-Performance Materials (1)	333 (b)	500	+50.2%	7.0%	12.0%
Construction Products	1,243	948	-23.7%	11.2%	7.9%
Interior Solutions	962	579	-39.8%	14.5%	9.4%
Exterior Solutions	281	369	+31.3%	6.2%	6.2%
Building Distribution	1,069	826	-22.7%	5.5%	4.2%
Packaging (2)	688 (c)	432	-37.2%	n.s.	12.2%
Misc.	(128) (d)	(104) (d)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	3,156	2,814	-10.8%	7.3%	6.4%

⁽a) after provisions for Flat Glass fines (European Commission): €400m in 2008 and €694m in 2007

⁽²⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €23m in 2007

By geographic area:					
France	816 (a)	838 (a)	+2.7%	6.3%	6.4%
Other Western European countries	1,536(a)	1,107 (a)	-27.9%	7.7%	5.6%
North America	109 (b)	162 (b)	+48.6%	1.9%	2.9%
Emerging countries and Asia	695	707	+1.7%	10.0%	9.5%
GROUP TOTAL	3,156	2,814	-10.8%	7.3%	6.4%

⁽a) after provisions for Flat Glass fines (European Commission): €400m in 2008 and €694m in 2007

⁽b) after €190m of asset write-downs related to the disposal of the Reinforcements & Composites businesses

⁽c) after €283m of capital gains following the disposal of Desjonquères

⁽d) after asbestos-related charge (before tax) of €75m in 2008 versus €90m in 2007

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): -€47m in 2007

⁽b) after asbestos-related charge (before tax) of €75m in 2008 versus €90m in 2007

IV. CASH FLOW	2007 (in EUR m)	2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	2007 (in % of sales)	2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	1,164	1,170	+0.5%	11.3%	12.1%
Flat Glass	677	733	+8.3%	12.1%	13.2%
High-Performance Materials (1)	487	437	-10.3%	10.2%	10.5%
Construction Products	1,060	885	-16.5%	9.5%	7.4%
Interior Solutions	739	480	-35.0%	11.1%	7.8%
Exterior Solutions	321	405	+26.2%	7.1%	6.8%
Building Distribution	825	650	-21.2%	4.2%	3.3%
Packaging (2)	425	510	+20.0%	12.0%	14.4%
Misc.	288	309	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	3,762	3,524	-6.3%	8.7%	8.0%

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): $\$ 25m in 2007

⁽²⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €14m in 2007

By geographic area:					
France	866	720	-16.9%	6.7%	5.5%
Other Western European countries	1,731	1,655	-4.4%	8.7%	8.3%
North America	401 (a)	314 (a)	-21.7%	6.9%	5.7%
Emerging countries and Asia	764	835	+9.3%	11.0%	11.3%
GROUP TOTAL	3,762	3,524	-6.3%	8.7%	8.0%

⁽a) after asbestos-related charge (after tax) of \$\\\\$46m in 2008 versus \$\\\\$5m in 2007

V. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE	2007 (in EUR m)	2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	2007 (in % of sales)	2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	761	799	+5.0%	7.4%	8.3%
Flat Glass	523	576	+10.1%	9.3%	10.4%
High-Performance Materials (1)	238	223	-6.3%	5.0%	5.4%
Construction Products	830	758	-8.7%	7.5%	6.3%
Interior Solutions	621	528	-15.0%	9.4%	8.6%
Exterior Solutions	209	230	+10.0%	4.6%	3.9%
Building Distribution	353	291	-17.6%	1.8%	1.5%
Packaging (2)	309	283	-8.4%	8.7%	8.0%
Misc.	20	18	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	2,273	2,149	-5.5%	5.2%	4.9%

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): €22m in 2007

⁽²⁾ of which Desjonquères (sold on March 31, 2007): €14m in 2007

By geographic area:					
France	536	554	+3.4%	4.1%	4.2%
Other Western European countries	698	682	-2.3%	3.5%	3.4%
North America	368	220	-40.2%	6.4%	4.0%
Emerging countries and Asia	671	693	+3.3%	9.7%	9.4%
GROUP TOTAL	2,273	2,149	-5.5%	5.2%	4.9%

Appendix 2: Results by business sector and geographic area - Second Half

I. SALES	H2 2007 (in EUR m)	H2 2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	change on a comparable structure basis	change on a comparable structure and currency basis
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials (1)	5,061	4,684	-7 .4%	-3.4%	-1.3%
Flat Glass	2,814	2,664	-5.3%	-5.9%	-2.7%
High-Performance Materials	2,266	2,042	-9.9%	+0.4%	+0.8%
Construction Products (1)	5,467	6,047	+10.6%	-0.7%	+1.3%
Interior Solutions	3,235	2,979	-7.9%	-9.5%	-6.6%
Exterior Solutions	2,249	3,084	+37.1%	+11.8%	+12.7%
Building Distribution	9,958	9,657	-3.0%	-7.7%	-4.6%
Packaging	1,675	1,814	+8.3%	+7.5%	+8.2%
Internal sales and misc.	(538)	(565)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	21,642	21,659	+0.1%	-3.8%	-1.4%

⁽¹⁾ including intra-sector eliminations

By geographic area:					
France	6,225	6,270	+0.7%	+0.9%	+0.9%
Other Western European countries	9,985	9,697	-2.9%	-10.1%	-5.9%
North America	2,812	2,850	+1.4%	+1.1%	+1.8%
Emerging countries and Asia	3,632	3,852	+6.1%	+3.5%	+5.7%
Internal sales	(1012)	(1010)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	21,642	21,659	+0.1%	-3.8%	-1.4%

II. OPERATING INCOME	H2 2007 (in EUR m)	H2 2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	H2 2007 (in % of sales)	H2 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	636	538	-15.4%	12.6%	11.5%
Flat Glass	351	291	-17.1%	12.5%	10.9%
High-Performance Materials (1)	285	247	-13.3%	12.6%	12.1%
Construction Products	574	466	-18.8%	10.5%	7.7%
Interior Solutions	439	213	-51.5%	13.6%	7.2%
Exterior Solutions	135	253	+87.4%	6.0%	8.2%
Building Distribution	608	424	-30.3%	6.1%	4.4%
Packaging	189	209	+10.6%	11.3%	11.5%
Misc.	8	7	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	2,015	1,644	-18.4%	9.3%	7.6%

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): €27m in H2 2007

By geographic area:					
France	531	486	-8.5%	8.5%	7.8%
Other Western European countries	943	637	-32.4%	9.4%	6.6%
North America	110	161	+46.4%	3.9%	5.6%
Emerging countries and Asia	431	360	-16.5%	11.9%	9.3%
GROUP TOTAL	2,015	1,644	-18.4%	9.3%	7.6%

III. BUSINESS INCOME	H2 2007 (in EUR m)	H2 2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	H2 2007 (in % of sales)	H2 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	569	57	n.s.	11.2%	1.2%
Flat Glass (a)	279	(182)	n.s.	9.9%	-6.8%
High-Performance Materials (1)	290	239	-17.6%	12.8%	11.7%
Construction Products	516	349	-32.4%	9.4%	5.8%
Interior Solutions	422	196	-53.6%	13.0%	6.6%
Exterior Solutions	94	153	+62.8%	4.2%	5.0%
Building Distribution	575	353	-38.6%	5.8%	3.7%
Packaging	226	201	-11.1%	13.5%	11.1%
Misc. (b)	(51)	(43)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	1,835	917	-50.0%	8.5%	4.2%

⁽a) after provisions for Flat Glass fines (European Commission): €400m in H2 2008 and €694m in H2 2007

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): -€75m in H2 2007

By geographic area:					
France (a)	852	259	-69.6%	13.7%	4.1%
Other Western European countries (a)	608	273	-55.1%	6.1%	2.8%
North America (b)	(51)	80	n.s.	-1.8%	2.8%
Emerging countries and Asia	426	305	-28.4%	11.7%	7.9%
GROUP TOTAL	1,835	917	-50.0%	8.5%	4.2%

⁽a) after provisions for Flat Glass fines (European Commission): €400m in H2 2008 and €694m in H2 2007

⁽b) after asbestos-related charge (before tax) of \in 37.5 in H2 2008 versus \in 42.5m in H2 2007

⁽b) after asbestos-related charge (before tax) of ${\leqslant}37.5$ in H2 2008 versus ${\leqslant}42.5m$ in H2 2007

IV. CASH FLOW	H2 2007 (in EUR m)	H2 2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	H2 2007 (in % of sales)	H2 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	513	509	-0.8%	10.1%	10.9%
Flat Glass	330	321	-2.7%	11.7%	12.0%
High-Performance Materials (1)	183	188	+2.7%	8.1%	9.2%
Construction Products	483	406	-15.9%	8.8%	6.7%
Interior Solutions	347	204	-41.2%	10.7%	6.8%
Exterior Solutions	136	202	+48.5%	6.0%	6.5%
Building Distribution	445	315	-29.2%	4.5%	3.3%
Packaging	214	251	+17.3%	12.8%	13.8%
Misc.	175	149	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	1,830	1,630	-10.9%	8.5%	7.5%

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): €m in H2 2007

By geographic area:			+0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
France	372	317	-14.8%	6.0%	5.1%
Other Western European countries	879	742	-15.6%	8.8%	7.7%
North America (a)	177	171	-3.4%	6.3%	6.0%
Emerging countries and Asia	402	400	-0.5%	11.1%	10.4%
GROUP TOTAL	1,830	1,630	-10.9%	8.5%	7.5%

⁽a) after asbestos-related charge (after tax) of €23m in H2 2008 versus €26m in H2 2007

V. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE	H2 2007 (in EUR m)	H2 2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	H2 2007 (in % of sales)	H2 2008 (in % of sales)
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials	522	493	-5.6%	10.3%	10.5%
Flat Glass	357	356	-0.3%	12.7%	13.4%
High-Performance Materials (1)	165	137	-17.0%	7.3%	6.7%
Construction Products	529	444	-16.1%	9.7%	7.3%
Interior Solutions	391	297	-24.0%	12.1%	10.0%
Exterior Solutions	138	147	+6.5%	6.1%	4.8%
Building Distribution	206	162	-21.4%	2.1%	1.7%
Packaging	184	168	-8.7%	11.0%	9.3%
Misc.	10	10	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	1,451	1,277	-12.0%	6.7%	5.9%

⁽¹⁾ of which Reinforcements & Composites businesses (sold on November 1, 2007): \bigcirc 3m in H2 2007

By geographic area:					
France	369	359	-2.7%	5.9%	5.7%
Other Western European countries	439	411	-6.4%	4.4%	4.2%
North America	207	124	-40.1%	7.4%	4.4%
Emerging countries and Asia	436	383	-12.2%	12.0%	9.9%
GROUP TOTAL	1,451	1,277	-12.0%	6.7%	5.9%

Appendix 3: Sales by business sector and geographic area - Fourth Quarter

SALES	Q4 2007 (in EUR m)	Q4 2008 (in EUR m)	change on an actual structure basis	change on a comparable structure basis	change on a comparable structure and currency basis
By sector and division:					
Innovative Materials (1)	2,525	2,228	-11.8%	-9.4%	-7.8%
Flat Glass	1,459	1,271	-12.9%	-13.3%	-8.8%
High-Performance Materials	1,081	972	-10.1%	-3.5%	-6.1%
Construction Products (1)	2,665	2,824	+6.0%	-4.0%	-3.3%
Interior Solutions	1,600	1,425	-10.9%	-12.4%	-9.9%
Exterior Solutions	1,074	1,407	+31.0%	+8.3%	+6.4%
Building Distribution	5,035	4,644	-7.8%	-11.3%	-7.7%
Packaging	833	919	+10.3%	+7.6%	+5.8%
Internal sales and misc.	(282)	(265)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	10,791	10,365	-3.9%	-7.6%	-5.5%

⁽¹⁾ including intra-sector eliminations

By geographic area:					
France	3,229	3,167	-1.9%	-1.8%	-1.8%
Other Western European countries	4,944	4,577	-7.4%	-14.3%	-9.7%
North America	1,318	1,320	+0.2%	+2.6%	-6.2%
Emerging countries and Asia	1,809	1,793	-0.9%	-5.1%	+0.6%
Internal sales	(509)	(492)	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
GROUP TOTAL	10,791	10,365	-3.9%	-7.6%	-5.5%

APPENDIX 4: Consolidated Balance Sheet

€ millions	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007
Assets		
Goodwill	10,671	9,240
Other intangible assets	2,868	3,125
Property, plant and equipment	13,374	12,753
Investments in associates	116	123
Deferred tax assets	507	328
Other non-current assets	490	472
Non-current assets	28,026	26,041
Inventories	6,113	5,833
Trade accounts receivable	5,647	6,211
Current tax receivable	248	173
Other accounts receivable	1,424	1,481
Assets held for sale	0	105(a)
Cash and cash equivalents	1,937	1,294
Current assets	15,369	15,097
Total assets	43,395	41,138
Liabilities and Shareholders' equity		
Capital stock	1,530	1,497
Additional paid-in capital and legal reserve	3,940	3,617
Retained earnings and net income for the year	10,910	10,625
Cumulative translation adjustments	(1,740)	(564)
Fair value reserves	(160)	8
Treasury stock	(206)	(206)
Shareholders' equity	14,274	14,977
Minority interests	256	290
Total equity	14,530	15,267
Long-term debt	10,365	8,747
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	2,443(b)	1,807
Deferred tax liabilities	1,130	1,277
Provisions for other liabilities and charges (c)	1,950	1,483
Non-current liabilities	15,888	13,314
Current portion of long-term debt	1,364	971
Current portion of provisions for other liabilities and charges (c)	460	547
Trade accounts payable	5,613	5,752
Current tax liabilities	263	317
Other accounts payable	3,390	3,425
Liabilities held for sale	0	41(a)
Short-term debt and bank overdrafts	1,887	1,504
Current liabilities	12,977	12,557
Total equity and liabilities	43,395	41,138
(a) SG VTX America Plastic.		

⁽a) SG VTX America Plastic.

⁽b) The increase in the provision for pensions reflects lower yields reported by pension funds in the US and the UK.
(c) In light of developments in the anti-trust dispute and the appeal filed by the Group, the balance of the provision at December 31, 2008 was classified in other non-current liabilities. The provision recognized at December 31, 2007 was also reclassified in other non-current liabilities in the comparative 2007 balance sheet for an amount of €500 million.

Appendix 5: Debt at December 31, 2008

Amounts in € billions Comments

Breakdown of net debt	€bn	
Gross debt	13.6	700/ of and dale at December 21, 2000 is at fixed maker. The
Cash and cash equivalents	1.9	78% of net debt at December 31, 2008 is at fixed rates. The
Net debt	11.7	average cost of net debt was 5.5% in 2008.
Breakdown of gross debt	13.6	
Breakdown of gross debt	13.0	
Bond debt	8.9	Amounts and maturities given below.
July 2009	1.0	
March 2010	0.4	
April 2010	1.0	
May 2011	1.1	
April 2012	1.3	
September 2013	0.8	In January 2009, Saint-Gobain issued €1bn in bonds maturing
April 2014	0.5	in July 2014
Beyond 2014	2.8	•
Other long-term debt	2.5	o/w €2.0bn loan relating to Maxit (maturing in Oct. 2010).
Short-term debt	2.2	(Excluding bonds)
Commercial paper (< 3 months)	0.7	Maximum issue under the program: €bn.
Securitized trade receivables	0.5	€0.3bn in USD and €0.2bn in GBP. Renewed annually.
Debt contracted locally and accrued interest	1.0	Renewed annually. More than 500 sources of financing.
Credit lines and cash & cash equivalents	5.1	
Cash & cash equivalents	1.9	
Back-up credit lines	3.2	See breakdown below. At December 31, 2008.
Breakdown of back-up credit lines	3.2	

All credit lines are confirmed and undrawn. None are subject to Material Adverse Change (MAC) clauses.

		Maturity	Financial covenants	Position at Dec. 31, 2008
Syndicated loan:	€2.0bn	Nov. 2011	None	
Syndicated loan:	€ 0.5bn	Aug. 2010	Net debt/ EBITDA < 3.75x	2,3 x
			EBITA/ Net financial expense > 3.5x	5,0 x
7 bilateral credit lin	nes: €0.7bn	2009: €0.5bn 2010: €0.2bn	o/w €0.3bn with identical criteria as above €0.5bn bank loan.	those applicable to the

2. Risk factors

Macroeconomic and sector risks

Since 2008, general worldwide economic conditions have experienced a severe downturn due to the sequential effects of the subprime lending and general credit market crisis, collateral effects on the finance and banking industries, volatile currency exchange rates and energy costs, slower or negative economic growth, decreased consumer confidence and reduced corporate profits and capital spending. The financial markets in particular have deteriorated dramatically around the world and this has led to unprecedented levels of illiquidity in the global financial system.

A large portion of the Group's business segments are cyclical in nature. Certain key sectors in which the Group operates have been particularly affected by the current environment, in particular, the construction and automotive industries, which have suffered from both volume reduction and price pressures. These sectors have also been affected by the significant volatility of raw material, energy and commodity prices as well as significant variation in foreign exchange rates. In addition, a large portion of the Group's business depends on construction spending, which generally moves with economic cycles, and its profits are therefore sensitive to national, regional, and local economic conditions. The construction and real estate sectors in the United States have been particularly affected in the current downturn.

A further deterioration of the global economic environment and the financial markets would have a material adverse effect on the Company's revenues, results of operation and cash flows and future prospects.

Operational risks

International risk

With more than two-thirds of its operations outside France, the Group's businesses are subject to various risks inherent in its international operations, including economic, political and operational risks that could have a negative impact on the activity, results or financial condition of the Group. Future global political, military, legal or regulatory developments may affect the businesses' assets, ability to operate and profitability in the affected jurisdictions. The Group's businesses are subject to a variety of operational risks which, if they materialize, could result in a substantial interruption to a facility, the potential loss of customers and revenue and financial loss.

The Group had 17% of its sales for 2008 in emerging markets, where risks of GDP volatility, foreign exchange instability, foreign exchange controls, inflation and political instability may be higher than in developed countries.

Innovation risk

Some of the Group's markets evolve rapidly as a result of new technologies. The Group must keep abreast of these changes and integrate new technologies into its business offerings to best meet clients' needs. This requires significant research and development expenditures and investment, the success of which can not be predicted. The Company's sales and profit margins could shrink if it fails to invest in useful or commercially relevant technologies or if the end-products are not marketed quickly, are superseded by a competitor's products or do not adequately meet clients' needs.

Intellectual property risk

The Group relies on trade secrets, patents, copyright and trade mark laws to protect its proprietary rights. If the Group fails to or is unable to protect, maintain and enforce its existing intellectual property, this may result in the loss of the Group's exclusive right to use its technologies and processes, which would adversely affect its results of operations. In addition, the laws of certain foreign countries in which the Group operates may not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as those of, for example, France or the United States. The Group could commence lawsuits against others whom it believes are infringing upon its rights, which could result in significant expense, materially adversely affect the development of sales of the challenged product or intellectual property.

Cost pass-through risk

The Group's businesses could be affected by fluctuations in the price and supply of raw materials and/or energy (for example, natural gas). The Group's ability to pass on increases or decreases in those costs to its customers is, to a large extent, dependent upon market conditions, established market practice and terms of trade. If the Group's ability to pass on increases in the cost of raw materials and/or energy is limited, this could have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position and results of operations.

Acquisition integration risk

The Group has grown through acquisitions. Realizing the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions depends in part on achieving the anticipated cost synergies and integrating each company's respective activities. There can be no assurance that these objectives will be achieved successfully.

Cost saving implementation and restructuring risks

The Group has taken various cost reduction and restructuring initiatives. In total, this cost saving program resulted in 2008 in annualized savings of €400 million, with associated costs of €190 million. Going forward, as the Group continues to target additional cost reductions, there can be no assurance that the expected savings will be realized or that the restructuring costs will not exceed projections. In particular, some initiatives, such as certain restructuring actions, may involve cost overruns or a reduction in the cost savings realized or take longer to achieve than expected.

An increase in restructuring costs and/or failure by the Group to achieve its expected savings could adversely impact the Group's future prospects and results of operations.

Market risks (liquidity, interest rate, foreign exchange, energy and credit risks)

Liquidity risk on financing

Although the Group successfully accessed the European bond markets twice since September 2008, the Group may be unable in the current environment to obtain financing or refinancing in the credit and capital markets, and, if available, such financing may not be on economically favorable terms. Furthermore, it can not be assured that the Company will be able to maintain its credit ratings at current levels.

Liquidity risk relating to the Group's total net debt is managed by the Treasury and Financing Department of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain. Except in special cases, the counterparty of Group companies for their long-term financing is Compagnie de Saint-Gobain or the cash pools of the national delegations. The companies' short-term financing needs are mainly met by the parent company or national cash pools.

The main objective of managing overall liquidity risk is to guarantee that the Group's financing sources will be renewed and to optimize annual borrowing costs. Long-term debt systematically represents a high level of overall debt. At the same time, the maturity schedules of long-term debt are such that the financing raised through the markets when the debt is renewed is spread over several years.

The main objective of managing overall liquidity risk is to guarantee that the Group's financing sources will be renewed and to optimize annual borrowing costs. Long-term debt systematically represents a high level of overall debt. At the same time, the maturity schedules of long-term debt are such that the financing raised through the markets, when the debt is renewed, is spread over several years.

Bonds make up the main source of long-term financing used by the Group. The Group uses a Medium Term Notes program, perpetual bonds, participating securities, bank borrowings, and finance leases.

Short-term debt is composed of borrowings under French Commercial Paper (Billets de Trésorerie), Euro Commercial Paper and US Commercial Paper programs, as well as securitized receivables and bank overdrafts. Short-term financial assets comprise marketable securities and cash equivalents.

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain's US Commercial Paper, Euro Commercial Paper, and French Billets de Trésorerie programs are backed by confirmed syndicated lines of credit and bilateral credit facilities.

A breakdown of long- and short-term debt is provided by type and maturity in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, which also includes details of amounts, currencies, and early repayment terms and conditions of the Group's financing programs and confirmed credit lines.

Liquidity risk on investments

To reduce liquidity or volatility risk, the Group's systematically prefers investments (in the form of short-term bank deposits, purchases of money-market or similar instruments) in money-market funds and/or bonds.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relating to the Group's total net debt is managed by the Treasury and Financing Department of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, under the conditions described in the first paragraph of the section dealing with liquidity risk on financing. Where subsidiaries use derivatives to hedge risk on debt, their counterparty is Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, the Group parent company.

The main objective of managing overall interest rate risk on the Group's consolidated net debt is to fix the cost of medium-term debt and optimize annual borrowing costs. The Group's policy defines which derivative financial instruments can be used to hedge debt. Derivatives may include interest rate swaps, options (including caps, floors and swaptions) and forward rate agreements.

Based on a sensitivity analysis of the Group's total debt after hedging, an increase of 50 basis points in interest rates at the balance sheet date would have increased equity by €2 million and reduced income by €12 million.

Foreign exchange risk

The exchange risk hedging policies set out below could provide the Group with insufficient cover against volatile or unexpected exchange rate movements resulting from the current economic and financial environment.

The Group's policy on foreign exchange risk consists of hedging commercial transactions carried out by Group entities in currencies other than their functional currencies. Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and its subsidiaries may use options and forward contracts to hedge exposure arising from recorded or forecasted commercial transactions. The subsidiaries set up option contracts exclusively through the Group parent company, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, which then takes a reverse position on the market.

Most forward contracts are for periods of around three months. However, forward contracts taken out to hedge firm orders may have terms of up to two years.

The majority of transactions are hedged, invoice by invoice or order by order, with Saint-Gobain Compensation, the entity set up to manage the Group's foreign exchange risks. Saint-Gobain Compensation hedges these risks solely by means of forward purchases and sales of foreign currencies. This enables companies using the services of Saint-Gobain Compensation to hedge exposure arising from commercial transactions as soon as the risk emerges. Saint-Gobain Compensation reverses all its positions with Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and does not, therefore, have any open positions.

The exposure of other Group companies to foreign exchange risks is hedged wherever possible with Compagnie de Saint-Gobain on receipt of orders sent by the subsidiaries or with the cash pools of the national delegations. In other cases, hedges are contracted with subsidiaries' banks.

The Group monitors its exposure to foreign exchange risk using a monthly reporting tool which captures the foreign exchange positions taken by the subsidiaries. At December 31, 2007, 94% of the Group's foreign exchange position was hedged. At December 31, 2008, the net foreign exchange exposure of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the euro was as follows:

In millions of euro	Long	Short
equivalents		
EUR	8	10
USD	17	21
Other currencies	1	2
Total	26	33

Based on a sensitivity analysis, an increase of 10% in the prices of the hedging currencies listed below in which the subsidiaries are exposed would have had the following impact on net income:

Impact in millions of euros	Net gains or losses
EUR	-0.2
USD	-0.5

At December 31, 2008, the impact of a 10% fall in these currencies would have resulted in movements in the same amounts as those set out in the table above but in the opposite direction (assuming that all other variables remained unchanged).

Energy risk & raw material risks

The group is exposed to price variations in raw materials required for its activities as well as to energy price variations, both of which have been significant in recent months and could continue to be volatile in the current financial and economic environment. Hedging tools implemented for energy costs may provide the Group with insufficient cover against volatile and unexpected raw material price movements which could be the result of the current economic and financial environment.

To limit exposure to energy price fluctuations, the Group sets up swaps and options to hedge part of its natural gas purchases in certain European countries and the United States, and its fuel oil purchases in Europe. The swaps and options are contracted in the functional currency of the entities concerned. Hedges of gas and fuel oil purchases are managed by a steering committee comprising members of the Group Finance Department, Group Purchasing Department (Saint-Gobain Achats) and the relevant delegations.

These hedges (excluding fixed-price purchases from suppliers directly negotiated by the Purchasing Department) are arranged by the Group Treasury and Financing Department in accordance with instructions received from SGA.

The steering committee does not manage hedges for other energy sources or geographical areas not mentioned above because:

- the volumes involved are not significant; or
- there are no international price indexes used by local players in the geographical areas concerned, and transactions are therefore based on either administered prices or strictly national indexes.

In both of these cases, local purchasing units manage energy risk primarily through fixed-price purchases.

Occasionally, the Group may enter into contracts to hedge purchases of certain commodities, in accordance with the principles outlined above for gas and fuel oil.

In addition, it is possible that raw materials that are not covered under hedging arrangements, as described above, will also experience sharp, significant or unexpected changes in price.

Credit risk

Cash deposits and other financial instruments held with or through financial institutions give rise to credit risk, represented by the loss that would be recognized should a counterparty fail to perform as contracted. It is the Group's policy to limit the latter counterparty exposure by dealing with reputable financial institutions and monitoring the credit ratings of those counterparties on a regular basis. However there can be no assurance that this policy will effectively eliminate such exposure. Any counterparty default may have a material adverse effect on the Group's future prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

Recent events have demonstrated that credit ratings of a financial counterparty are subject to rapid changes and that a high credit rating does not prevent an institution from experiencing a rapid deterioration in its financial condition. To limit its exposure to credit risk, the Group's Treasury and Financing Department only deals with counterparties rated A- or above by Standard & Poor's or A3 or above by Moody's over the long term, with a stable outlook in both cases. The Treasury and Financing Department also ensures that the Group does not have an excessive concentration of risks.

Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements provides details of the Group's interest rate and energy hedges, as well as the interest rates applicable for the main items of gross debt. It also provides a breakdown of net debt by currency and interest rate (fixed or variable), as well as the interest rate repricing schedule.

Customer credit risk

The level of customer credit risk is limited thanks to the multiple businesses, to the high number of clients and to the worldwide locations of the businesses. Overdue amounts are analysed on a regular basis and if necessary a reserve is booked. Nevertheless, the customer credit risk could increase due to the current economical environment.

Credit risk related to consumers

The level of credit risk related to consumers is limited thanks to the multiple businesses, to the high number of clients and to the worldwide locations of the businesses. Overdue amounts are analysed on a regular basis and if necessary a reserve is booked. Nevertheless, the credit risk related to consumers could increase due to the current economical environment.

Pension risk

The Group operates defined benefit pension and other post-retirement plans, principally in France, Germany, the Netherlands, the UK and North America, most of which are closed to new members. The funding level of the Group's pension plans (€bn) may be affected by adverse changes in the actuarial assumptions underlying the calculation of plan liabilities, including decreasing discount rates, increasing longevity and increasing inflation, or by a decline in the market value of the plans' investments, which are primarily constituted of stocks and bonds. As of December 31, 2008, the total amount of defined benefit obligations to be paid amounted to approximately €6.8bn. During the year 2008, the Group experienced a significant drop in the fair market value of the plans' assets by around €1.4bn.

Intangible and tangible asset impairment risk

The Group has significant intangible assets related to goodwill. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had €10,671 million of goodwill on its balance sheet, which represented approximately 25% of its total assets. Under the accounting standards used by the Company, goodwill and certain other intangible assets with indeterminate lives are assessed for impairment periodically or when impairment indicators are present. Impairment of goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets may result from, among other things, deterioration in the Group's performance, adverse market conditions, adverse changes in laws or regulations, and a variety of other factors. An impairment of the Company's goodwill could negatively impact its business income.

The tangible assets (€13.374 million) which represented approximately 31% of the total assets could also be subject to impairment in case of underactivity.

Industrial and environmental risks

The group may incur environmental liability and investment expenses in connection with past, present and future operations.

Substantially all the Saint-Gobain Group's industrial and environmental risks stem from the storage of certain hazardous materials. Seven Group sites are classified as presenting "major technological risks" within the meaning of European and North American regulations. Accordingly, the sites concerned are subject to specific legislation and are carefully monitored by the regulatory authorities.

In 2008, six of Saint-Gobain's European sites were classified in accordance with the Seveso Directive on the prevention of major hazards. Three of these sites fall within the "lower-tier" category defined in the

Seveso Directive: Conflans Sainte-Honorine (Abrasives) in France, which stores phenolic resin; Neuburg (Packaging) in Germany, which stores liquefied petroleum gas; Avilès (Flat Glass) in Spain, which stores propane (C₃H₈) and oxygen (O₂). Three sites are included in the "upper-tier": Bagneaux-sur-Loing (Flat Glass) in France, which stores arsenic (AS₂O₃); Hyvinkaa (Insulation) in Finland, which stores phenol (C₆H₆O) and methanal (CH₂O); and Carrascal del Rio (Flat Glass) in Spain, which mainly stores fluorhydric acid (HF). In accordance with the law of July 30, 2003 relating to the prevention of technological and natural risks and the remediation of contaminated areas, specific risk prevention and safety measures have been put in place at each of these sites, with added emphasis on the plants classified as "uppertier" under the Seveso Directive. Once the plants identify the risk of accidents and the potential impact on the environment, they take preventive measures relating to the design and construction of storage facilities, as well as to conditions of use and maintenance. Internal contingency plans have been set up to deal with emergencies. Liability with respect to personal injury or property damage relating to the operation of these plants is covered by the Group's current third-party liability insurance program, with the exception of the site at Bagneaux-sur-Loing, which is operated under a joint venture with a non-Group company covered by a separate policy. In the event of an industrial accident, compensation payments to victims would be managed jointly by the joint venture, the broker and the insurer.

A site based at Lake Charles in the United States falls under both the Risk Management Program Rule (RMP Rule) and the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act (EPCRA), as it uses vinyl chloride for making PVC pellets – a raw material used in some of the construction materials made by CertainTeed (cladding, windows, landscaping products, etc.). The Group's other major industrial facilities are subject to a permits regime and are thus regularly monitored by local regulatory authorities. For the sales outlets in the Saint-Gobain Building Distribution Sector, smaller industrial facilities and plants at which there is no significant environmental risk (e.g., processing subsidiaries of the Flat Glass Sector and Construction Products sites), have only minor environmental impacts, such as neighborhood issues. As set out in the reporting methodology, these sites are not included in the scope of EHS environment reporting.

Legal risks

The Group is not subject to any specific regulations that could have an impact on its financial position, although companies running industrial sites are generally required to comply with specific national legislation and regulations that vary from country to country. In the case of France, for example, Group sites are subject to laws and regulations on listed facilities. The Group has no significant technical or commercial dependence on any other companies, is not subject to particular confidentiality restrictions and has the assets required to run its operations.

Regulations applicable to the Group's businesses may change either favorably or unfavorably for the Group. The strengthening or enforcement of regulations, while in some cases creating new business opportunities, may also create operating conditions that increase the Group's operating costs, limit its business areas or more generally slow the Group's development. In general, the Group cannot guarantee that rapid and/or important changes in current regulations will not in the future have a significant adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results.

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain is part of an integrated tax consolidation regime as provided for under Articles 223 A *et seq.* of the French General Tax Code. The Group did not request the renewal of its entitlement to income tax assessment on the basis of consolidated fiscal income, so this regime consequently lapsed on December 31, 2006.

The legal risks to which the Group is most exposed is asbestos-related litigation, in France and above all the United States, and also relating to competition.

Regulations applicable to the Group's businesses may change either favorably or unfavorably for the Group. The strengthening or enforcement of regulations, while in some cases creating new business opportunities, may also create operating conditions that increase the Group's operating costs, limit its business areas or more generally slow the Group's development. In general, the Group cannot guarantee that rapid and/or important changes in current regulations will not in the future have a significant adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results.

Asbestos-related litigation in France

In France, between 1996 and December 31, 2008, 676 lawsuits based on "inexcusable fault" (*faute inexcusable*) were filed for asbestos-related occupational diseases against Everite and Saint-Gobain PAM, which in the past carried out fiber-cement operations. At December 31, 2008, 567 of these 676 lawsuits had been completed both in relation to liability and quantum. A further 110 suits based on "inexcusable fault" had been filed at the same date against 12 other French companies in the Group (taking into consideration the sale of Saint-Gobain Desjonquères and Saint-Gobain Vetrotex), where equipment containing asbestos had been used to protect against heat from furnaces. At end-2008, compensation due from Everite and Saint-Gobain PAM amounted to a total of €2 million.

Further details of these claims are provided in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

<u>Asbestos-related litigation in the United States</u>

In the United States, several companies that once manufactured products containing asbestos such as asbestoscement pipes, roofing products, specialized insulation or gaskets, are facing legal action from persons other than the employees or former employees of the companies. The claims are based on alleged exposure to the products, although in many instances the claimants cannot demonstrate any specific exposure to one or more products, or any specific illness or physical disability. The vast majority of these claims are made simultaneously against many other non-Group entities which have been manufacturers, distributors, installers or users of products containing asbestos.

• Developments in 2008

After three years marked by high numbers of claims filed against CertainTeed (60,000 in 2001, 67,000 in 2002 and 62,000 in 2003, compared with 19,000 in 2000), new claims filed fell to 18,000 in 2004, and subsequently dropped to 17,000 in 2005, to 7,000 in 2006, some 6,000 in 2007 and some 5,000 in 2008. This decline was felt over the last four years in most States, particularly in those which had seen the greatest numbers of claims in the previous years. The decline reflects State court rulings as well as changes in local legislation in various States to introduce stricter medical criteria for new claims.

Almost all of the claims against CertainTeed are settled out of court. Approximately 8,000 claims out of the ongoing claims were settled out of court in 2008, compared with 54,000 in 2003, 20,000 in 2004 and in 2005, 12,000 in 2006, and 8,000 in 2007. In addition, approximately 3,000 complaints (primarily in the State of New York) were placed in "inactive dockets" following court decisions. Taking into account the 74,000 outstanding claims at the end of 2007 and the new claims having arisen during the year, as well as claims settled or placed in inactive dockets, some 68,000 claims were outstanding at December 31, 2008. A significant proportion of these ongoing claims correspond to complaints registered more than five years ago by individuals who did not demonstrate real exposure to asbestos. It is probable that a large number of these complaints will one day be declared void by the courts.

• Impact on the Group's financial statements

The Group recorded a €75 million charge in 2008 to cover future developments in relation to claims involving CertainTeed. This amount is slightly lower than the €90 million recorded in 2007, the €95 million recorded in 2006, the €100 million recorded in 2005, the €108 million recorded in 2004, and the €100 million recorded in 2002 and 2003. At December 31, 2008, the provision for asbestos-related claims at CertainTeed in the United States was €361 million (USD 502 million), compared to €321 million at December 31, 2007 (USD 473 million) and €342 million at December 31, 2006 (USD 451 million).

• Cash flow impact

Compensation paid in respect of these claims against CertainTeed (including claims settled prior to 2008 but only paid out in 2008, and those fully resolved and paid in 2008), and compensation paid (net of insurance) by other Group businesses in connection with asbestos-related litigation, amounted to €48 million (USD 71 million) in 2008, compared to €3 million in 2007 (USD 73 million) and €67 million (USD 84 million) in 2006.

Outlook for 2009

No significant developments have been observed during the past few months, either in terms of new claims or in terms of compensation paid.

In Brazil, former Group employees suffering from asbestos-related occupational illness are offered either exclusively financial compensation or lifetime medical assistance combined with financial assistance. Only a small number of asbestos-related lawsuits were outstanding at December 31, 2008 and they do not represent a material risk for the companies concerned.

European Commission decisions relating to the construction glass and automotive glass industries

In November 2007 and 2008, the European Commission rendered its decisions on the construction glass and automotive glass cases, respectively.

In a decision of November 28, 2007 concerning its investigation into companies manufacturing construction glass, the European Commission held that Saint-Gobain Glass France had violated Article 81 of the Treaty of Rome. Accordingly, Saint-Gobain Glass France was fined, jointly and severally with Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, an amount of €133.9 million. Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and Saint-Gobain Glass France decided not to appeal this decision and the fine was paid on March 3, 2008.

In a decision of November 12, 2008 concerning its investigation into companies manufacturing automotive glass, the European Commission also held that Saint-Gobain Glass France had violated Article 81 of the Treaty. Accordingly, Saint-Gobain Glass France, Saint-Gobain Sekurit France and Saint Gobain Sekurit Deutschland Gmbh, were fined, jointly and severally with Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, an amount of €896 million.

The companies involved decided to appeal this decision, which they believe excessive and disproportionate, before the Court of First Instance of the European Communities.

The Commission accepted, as a result of this appeal, that a financial guarantee covering the principal of the fine of €96 million and the related interest (5.25%, which will apply as from March 9, 2009) be established/maintained until the decision of the Court of First Instance, in place of the payment of the fine. The necessary measures have been taken to establish this guarantee within the period prescribed.

Consequently, the amount of the provision of 694 million constituted as at December 31, 2007, brought to 560 million as at June 30, 2008 due to the payment of the fine of 134 million was increased to 600 million as at December 31, 2008 to entirely cover, for the estimated period of the appeal proceedings, the amount of the fine of 960 million, the financial guarantee fees and the related legal fees. The additional amount of 1000 million was recorded in "other business expenses".

*

To the best of the Company's knowledge, no other litigation or arbitration has recently had, or is likely to have, a material impact on the financial position, operations or results of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain or on the Saint-Gobain Group.

Insurance - coverage of potential risks

The Group transfers risk to insurers where cost-effective and, accordingly, the financial failure of one or more insurers used by the Group may result in a financial loss. Cash deposits and other financial instruments held with or through financial institutions give rise to credit risk, represented by the loss that would be recognized should a counterparty fail to perform as contracted. It is the Group's policy to limit the latter counterparty exposure by dealing with reputable financial institutions and monitoring the credit ratings of those counterparties on a regular basis. However there can be no assurance that this policy will effectively eliminate such exposure. Any counterparty default may have a material adverse effect on the Group's future prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

In order to protect its assets and revenue streams, the Group relies on a policy of accident prevention and insurance coverage. This policy is embedded within a Group doctrine, which takes into account current conditions in the insurance market. The doctrine is formulated by the Risks and Insurance Department, which coordinates and monitors compliance. The doctrine defines the applicable criteria for the coverage of the most significant risks, such as property damage and business interruption, as well as third-party liability insurance to protect against claims involving the Group's operations or products. For other types of coverage, such as automobile fleet insurance, the Risks and Insurance Department advises the individual operating units on policy content, broker selection and which market to consult. For such "recurring" risks, a procedure has been set up to monitor claims management and implement the appropriate preventive action.

Policy content in 2008 replicated that applied in 2007 with improvements in content coverage. Premiums were revised downwards.

The captive insurance company set up to provide coverage for property damage proved effective.

Companies acquired during the year have been integrated into existing insurance programs.

The Group transfers risk to insurers where cost-effective and, accordingly, the financial failure of one or more insurers used by the Group may result in a financial loss. Cash deposits and other financial instruments held with or through financial institutions give rise to credit risk, represented by the loss that would be recognized should a counterparty fail to perform as contracted. It is the Group's policy to limit the latter counterparty exposure by dealing with reputable financial institutions and monitoring the credit

ratings of those counterparties on a regular basis. However there can be no assurance that this policy will effectively eliminate such exposure. Any counterparty default may have a material adverse effect on the Group's future prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

Property damage and business interruption

The Group is covered for non-excluded property damage and business interruption arising from accidental damage to insured assets. This coverage is provided under a global program with the exception of the risks related to the Group's activities in Brazil that are treated by a local program: this local purchase of insurance is supervised by the Risks and Insurance Department.

They meet the policy criteria laid down by the Risks and Insurance Department:

- Policies should be All Risks (subject to named exclusions).
- Coverage ceilings should be based on worst-case scenarios where safety systems operate effectively.
- Deductibles should be proportional to the size of the site concerned and cannot be considered as self-insurance.

These policy criteria take into account current insurance offerings, which exclude certain risks, such as computer viruses and their impact on operations, and set ceilings on coverage for natural disasters like floods or storms. In extreme scenarios, such events could have a substantial non-insured financial impact in terms of both reconstruction costs and losses linked to production stoppages.

When defining its policy with respect to insurance coverage, the Risks and Insurance Department relies on the findings of the annual audits carried out by the prevention units of a specialized independent service provider but recognized by insurance companies. These audits give a clear picture of the risks to which each principal site would be exposed in the event of an accident – particularly fire damage – and detail the financial implications that would arise in a worst-case scenario.

The transfer of risk to the insurance market occurs over €12.5 million by accident. This amount is self-insured by the Group by way of its captive insurance. The Group subscribed to reinsurance protection in order to protect itself against a potential frequency shift and/or sensitivity.

Third-party liability insurance

Two programs provide coverage for third-party personal injury and property damage claims.

The first covers all subsidiaries, except those located in the geographic area covered by the General Delegation to the United States and Canada. In order to satisfy local regulatory requirements, a policy is taken out in each country in which the Group has a significant presence. Local policies are complemented by central policies issued in Paris, which can be activated when the local policy proves inadequate.

Altogether, the contracted lines of coverage correspond to a limit deemed sufficient for the Group's activity. Any exclusions carried by the program are consistent with current market practice and concern in particular potentially carcinogenic substances and gradual pollution.

The second program covers subsidiaries located in the geographic area covered the General Delegation to the United States and Canada. This program is structured differently to deal with the specific nature of third-party liability coverage in the United States. It is divided into several lines of coverage so that it may be placed on insurance markets in both London and Bermuda. The coverage provided is deemed adequate for the Group's US operations. Exclusions are in line with current market practice in the United States and concern matters like contractual liability and third-party consequential loss.

Within the operating units, the risk of third-party liability claims and the need to contain the related financial consequences are actively emphasized. In particular, the operating units are required to bear the cost of a deductible, which does not, however, constitute self-insurance. Saint-Gobain also runs a risk prevention program at its operating units with the support of the Environment, Health and Safety Department.

Exceptions

Joint ventures and companies not controlled by the Group are likewise excluded from the above programs. Again, separate insurance coverage is purchased based on the advice of the Risks and Insurance Department.

Reference shareholder risk

The Wendel group holds 21.3% of the capital of Compagnie Saint-Gobain. Any sale by the Wendel group of a significant portion of its holding could have a material affect on the market price of the Company's shares.

3. Consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 are included in Appendix A to this update of the registration document.

The statutory auditors audited and prepared a special purpose report on the Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, pursuant to the professional standards of the National Statutory Auditors Association (*Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes*), confirming that the results of operations for the fiscal period, the assets, and the Group's financial situation as at 31 December 2008 are true and accurate. This special purpose report is included in Section 4 of this document.

The legal report on the Consolidated Financial Statements will be released following the Board of Directors' Meeting called to approve all of the information, other than the consolidated financial statements, that will be communicated to shareholders. The report will include, in particular, the statements relating to the verification and specific information provided for by law and will take into account, if necessary, events occurring after the date of the special purpose report.

4.	Special purpose statutory auditors' report on the consolidated financial
	statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

COMPAGNIE DE SAINT-GOBAIN

SPECIAL PURPOSE STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Year ended December 31, 2008)

The Statutory Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Crystal Park 63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex KPMG Audit Immeuble KPMG 1, cours Valmy 92923 Paris La Défense PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Crystal Park 63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex KPMG Audit Immeuble KPMG 1, cours Valmy 92923 Paris La Défense

SPECIAL PURPOSE STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Year ended December 31, 2008)

This is a free translation into English of the special purpose Statutory Auditors' report issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of English speaking readers.

This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain S.A.

Les Miroirs 18, Avenue d'Alsace 92400 Courbevoie

To the Chairman,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of your Company and in compliance with your request in connection with the contemplated capital increase, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our role is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit involves verifying, on a test basis or by other selection methods, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting policies used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

COMPAGNIE DE SAINT-GOBAIN SPECIAL PURPOSE STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Year ended December 31, 2008)

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and assets and liabilities of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008, and of the results of their operations for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European

This special purpose report does not constitute the Statutory Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements, which will be issued following the Board of Directors' meeting held to approve the additional information (other than the consolidated financial statements) to be provided to the shareholders and taking into account any events arising after the date of our special purpose report. In addition to the specific verifications and information required by French law, the second section of the Statutory Auditors' report will include the justification of our assessments in accordance with article L.823-9 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) as presented below.

Accounting estimates used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 have been made in the context of a sharp deterioration in the economic and financial environment which makes assessing the business outlook difficult, as described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements (Estimates and assumptions):

Measurement of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The Group regularly carries out impairment tests on its property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets, and also assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of property, plant and equipment and amortizable intangible assets, based on the methods described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements (Impairment of assets). We examined the methods applied in implementing these tests and the estimates and assumptions used, and we verified that the information disclosed in Note 1 is appropriate.

Employee benefits

Union.

The methods applied for assessing employee benefits are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements (Employee benefits – defined benefit plans). These benefit obligations were reviewed by independent actuaries. Our work consisted of assessing the data and assumptions used, examining, on a test basis, the calculations performed and verifying that the information disclosed in Notes 1 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

COMPAGNIE DE SAINT-GOBAIN SPECIAL PURPOSE STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Year ended December 31, 2008)

Provisions

As specified in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements (Other current and non-current liabilities and provisions), the Group books provisions to cover risks. The types of provisions recorded under "Other non-current liabilities and provisions" are described in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements. Based on the information available at the time of our audit, we ensured that the methods and data used to determine provisions, particularly that relating to the European Commission's decision concerning the automotive glass industry, as well as the disclosures regarding said provisions provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, are appropriate.

This report is governed by French law. French courts shall have sole and exclusive jurisdiction over any and all litigation, claims or disputes arising out of this report or any related issue.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris La Défense, February 19, 2009

The Statutory Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

KPMG Audit Department of KPMG S.A.

Pierre Coll Rémi Didier Jean Gatinaud Jean-Paul Vellutini

5. Consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow statement for the six months ended June 30, 2008

The Company's consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow statement, excerpts from the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements for the six months ended June 30, 2008, are included in Appendix B to this update of the registration document.

6.	Statutory auditors' review report on the 2008 interim financial	l
	information	

COMPAGNIE DE SAINT-GOBAIN

STATUTORY AUDITORS' REVIEW REPORT ON THE 2008 INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Statutory Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Crystal Park 63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex KPMG Audit Immeuble KPMG 1, cours Valmy 92923 Paris La Défense PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Crystal Park 63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex KPMG Audit Immeuble KPMG 1, cours Valmy 92923 Paris La Défense

STATUTORY AUDITORS' REVIEW REPORT ON THE 2008 INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors' review report issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of English speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain

Les Miroirs 18, avenue d'Alsace 92400 Courbevoie

To the Shareholders,

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your Shareholders' Meeting and in accordance with the requirements of articles L. 232-7 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) and L. 451-1-2 III of the French Monetary and Financial Code (Code monétaire et financier), we hereby report to you on:

- the review of the accompanying condensed interim consolidated financial statements of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain for the six months ended June 30, 2008;
- the verification of the information contained in the interim management report.

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our role is to express a conclusion on these financial statements based on our review.

I - Conclusion on the financial statements

We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

STATUTORY AUDITORS' REVIEW REPORT ON THE 2008 INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying condensed interim consolidated financial statements have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34 – "Interim Financial Reporting", as adopted by the European Union.

II – Specific verification

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the information given in the interim management report on the condensed interim consolidated financial statements subject to our review. We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the condensed interim consolidated financial statements.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris La Défense, July 24, 2008

The Statutory Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

KPMG Audit Division of KPMG S.A.

Pierre Coll Rémi Didier Jean Gatinaud Jean-Paul Vellutini

7. Person responsible

Pierre-André de Chalendar Director – Chief Executive Officer

Statement

Statement of the person responsible for the update of the Registration Document

"I hereby certify that, after having taken all reasonable measures to this end, the information contained in the present update of the Registration Document is, to my knowledge, true and accurate and contains no omissions liable to impair its significance.

I have obtained a letter from the statutory auditors certifying the completion of their work, in which they indicate that they have verified the information relating to the financial situation and the accounts given in this update of the Registration Document and have read the whole of the update of the Registration Document."

Courbevoie February 19, 2009

Pierre-André Chalendar Director – Chief Executive Officer

8. Documents accessible to the public

Documents relating to the Company (deeds of incorporation, bylaws, reports, letters and other documents, historical company and consolidated financial information for each of the financial years preceding the publication of this document) are included (either directly or by incorporation by reference) in the 2007 Registration Document and/or may be freely consulted at the Company's registered office.

This update of the Registration Document is available on the website of the Autorité des marchés financiers (www.amf-france.org) and on the Company's website (www.saint-gobain.com).

Any person wishing to obtain additional information about the Company can request documents free of charge and without obligation from:

Saint Gobain Direction de la Communication Financière Les Miroirs 92 096 La Défense Cedex

9. Persons responsible for the audit of the financial statements

Statutory Auditors:	
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Crystal Park 63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-Sur-Seine Cedex represented by Mr. Pierre Coll and Mr. Rémi	KPMG Audit, a department of KPMG S.A. 1, cours Valmy 92923 Paris La Défense Cedex represented by Mr. Jean Gatinaud and Mr.
Didier, reappointed to this position on June 10, 2004 for a six-year term expiring at the General Shareholders' Meeting of 2010. Substitute Statutory Auditors:	Jean-Paul Vellutini, reappointed to this position on June 8, 2006 for a six-year term expiring at the General Shareholders' Meeting of 2012.
,	
Mr. Nicolas Yves	Mr. Fabrice Odent
Residing at	Residing at
Crystal Park 63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-Sur-Seine Cedex	1, cours Valmy 92923 Paris La Défense Cedex
Appointed on June 10, 2004 whose term of office will expire at the General Shareholders' Meeting of 2010.	Appointed on June 7, 2007 whose term of office will expire at the General Shareholders' Meeting of 2012.

10. Cross-Reference Table

Responsible Person	7
Statutory Auditors	9
Risk Factors	2
Financial information concerning the assets, financial situation and results of the issuer	
Consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2008	3
Consolidated financial statements as at June 30, 2008	5
Documents accessible to the public	8

The following information is incorporated by reference:

• The half-year financial statements for the Company for the period from January 1, 2008 to June 30, 2008, available on the Company's website under the heading "Finance – Regulated Information".

In accordance with IFRS standards, the 2005 consolidated balance sheet included in the 2006 Registration Document and the 2007 Registration Document reflects differences in comparison to the publication of the 2005 financial statements. These differences, due to the use of IFRS standards, were explained in Note 3 of the annex to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Annex A

Consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in € millions)	Notes	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006
ASSETS				
Goodwill	(3)	10,671	9,240	9,327
Other intangible assets	(4)	2,868	3,125	3,202
Property, plant and equipment	(5)	13,374	12,753	12,769
Investments in associates	(6)	116	123	238
Deferred tax assets	(14)	507	328	348
Other non-current assets	(7)	490	472	390
Non-current assets		28,026	26,041	26,274
Inventories	(8)	6,113	5,833	5,629
Trade accounts receivable	(9)	5,647	6,211	6,301
Current tax receivable		248	173	66
Other receivables	(9)	1,424	1,481	1,390
Assets held for sale	(2)	0	105	548
Cash and cash equivalents	(18)	1,937	1,294	1,468
Current assets		15,369	15,097	15,402
Total assets		43,395	41,138	41,676
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES				
Capital stock	(10)	1,530	1,497	1,474
Additional paid-in capital and legal reserve		3,940	3,617	3,315
Retained earnings and net income for the year		10,910	10,625	9,562
Cumulative translation adjustments		(1,740)	(564)	140
Fair value reserves		(160)	8	(20)
Treasury stock	(10)	(206)	(206)	(306)
Shareholders' equity		14,274	14,977	14,165
Minority interests		256	290	322
Total equity		14,530	15,267	14,487
Long-term debt	(18)	10,365	8,747	9,877
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	(13)	2,443	1,807	2,203
Deferred tax liabilities	(14)	1,130	1,277	1,222
Other non-current liabilities and provisions*	(15)	1,950	1,483	936
Non-current liabilities		15,888	13,314	14,238
Current portion of long-term debt	(18)	1,364	971	993
Current portion of other liabilities	(15)	460	547	467
Trade accounts payable	(16)	5,613	5,752	5,519
Current tax liabilities		263	317	190
Other payables	(16)	3,390	3,425	3,336
Liabilities held for sale	(2)	0	41	249
Short-term debt and bank overdrafts	(18)	1,887	1,504	2,197
Current liabilities		12,977	12,557	12,951
Total equity and liabilities	 -	43,395	41,138	41,676
				

^{*} Reclassifications made in the 2007 comparative information are described in Note 15.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(in € millions)	Notes	2008	2007	2006
Net sales	(32)	43,800	43,421	41,596
Cost of sales	(21)	(32,923)	(32,235)	(31,180)
Selling, general and administrative expenses including research	(21)	(7,228)	(7,078)	(6,702)
Operating income		3,649	4,108	3,714
Other business income	(21)	54	405	184
Other business expense	(21)	(889)	(1,357)	(576)
Business income	_ :	2,814	3,156	3,322
Borrowing costs, gross		(771)	(704)	(676)
Income from cash and cash equivalents		64	78	51
Borrowing costs, net		(707)	(626)	(625)
Other financial income and expense	(22)	(43)	(75)	(123)
Net financial expense	_ :	(750)	(701)	(748)
Share in net income of associates	(6)	11	14	7
Income taxes	(14)	(638)	(926)	(899)
Net income	<u> </u>	1,437	1,543	1,682
Attributable to equity holders of the parent		1,378	1,487	1,637
Minority interests	_ :	59	56	45
Earnings per share (in €)				
Weighted average number of shares in issue		374,998,085	367,124,675	341,048,210
Basic earnings per share	(24)	3.67	4.05	4.80
Weighted average number of shares assuming full dilution		376,825,178	374,344,930	363,809,234
Diluted earnings per share	(24)	3.66	3.97	4.54

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(in € millions)	Notes	2008	2007	2006
Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent		1,378	1,487	1,637
	_ =			
Minority interests in net income	(*)	59	56	45
Share in net income of associates, net of dividends received	(6)	(7)	(6)	(2)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets	(21)	1,681	1,875	1,717
Gains and losses on disposals of assets	(21)	(53)	(394)	(175)
Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair value and share-based payments		15	50	125
Changes in inventories	(8)	(205)	(364)	(295)
Changes in trade accounts receivable and payable, and other accounts receivable and payable	(9) (16)	477	337	224
Changes in tax receivable and payable	(14)	(96)	12	(19)
Changes in deferred taxes and provisions for other liabilities and charges	(13)(14)(15) _	(270)	8	(609)
Charge to provision for competition litigation	(26)	400	694	
Net cash from operating activities		3,379	3,755	2,648
Purchases of property, plant and equipment [2008: (2,149), 2007: (2,273), 2006: (2,191)] and intangible assets	(4) (5)	(2,228)	(2,381)	(2,285)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets	(16)	(70)	76	61
		(, , ,		
Acquisitions of shares in consolidated companies [2008: (2,328), 2007: (837), 2006: (571)], net of cash acquired	(2)	(2,226)	(750)	(501)
Acquisitions of other investments	(7)	(30)	(128)	(13)
Increase in investment-related liabilities	(15)	159	40	116
Decrease in investment-related liabilities	(15)	(103)	(137)	(311)
Investments		(4,498)	(3,280)	(2,933)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets	(4) (5)	174	256	208
Disposals of shares in consolidated companies, net of cash divested	(2)	42	958	657
Disposals of other investments and other divestments	(7)	27	(2)	22
Divestments		243	1,212	887
Increase in loans and deposits	(7)	(53)	(32)	(69)
Decrease in loans and deposits		55	70	105
Net cash used in investing activities / divestments		(4,253)	(2,030)	(2,010)
Issues of capital stock	(*)	356	325	1,147
Minority interests' share in capital increases of subsidiaries		4	2	2
(Increase) decrease in treasury stock		(7)	86	29
Dividends paid	(*)	(767)	(621)	(459)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries and increase (decrease) in dividends payable		(65)	(42)	(33)
Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts and other short-term debt		762	(506)	(462)
Increase in long-term debt		2,987	371	1,356
Decrease in long-term debt		(1,642)	(1,486)	(2,768)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities		1,628	(1,871)	(1,188)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	= =	754	(146)	(550)
Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	_	(111)	(28)	(47)
Cash and cash equivalents classified as assets held for sale	(2)	(111)	(28)	(15)
·	_ `´ =	1,294	1,468	2,080
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year Cash and cash equivalents at end of year		1,294	1,468	2,080 1,468
(*) D. C			-,	1,400

^(*) References to the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Income tax paid amounted to $\mbox{\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\mbox{\ensuremath}\ensuremath{\mbox{\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\engen}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}} n_intiles in in 2008, \ensuremath{\mbox{\ensuremath{\mbox{\ensuremath{\mbox{\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}\ensuremath}}}}}}}}}}}}} nicers in in 2008, \ensuremath{\ensuremath{\mbox{\ensuremath}\$

STATEMENT OF RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSE

The following statement of recognized income and expense has been prepared in application of IAS 19, paragraph 93B, following the Group's decision to record actuarial gains and losses outside the income statement.

(in € millions)	Shareholders' equity	Minority interests	Total equity
2006			
Translation adjustments	(495)	(17)	(512)
Changes in fair value, net of tax	(36)	0	(36)
Changes in actuarial gains and losses, net of tax	293	0	293
Other	0	(2)	(2)
Income and expense recognized directly in equity	(238)	(19)	(257)
Net income for the year	1,637	45	1,682
Total recognized income and expense for the year	1,399	26	1,425
2007			
Translation adjustments	(704)	(9)	(713)
Changes in fair value, net of tax	28	0	28
Changes in actuarial gains and losses, net of tax	140	0	140
Other	13 (a)	(18)	(5)
Income and expense recognized directly in equity	(523)	(27)	(550)
Net income for the year	1,487	56	1,543
Total recognized income and expense for the year	964	29	993
2008			
Translation adjustments	(1,176)	(36)	(1,212)
Changes in fair value, net of tax	(119)	0	(119)
Changes in actuarial gains and losses, net of tax	(419)	(1)	(420)
Other	(7) (a)	(4)	(11)
Income and expense recognized directly in equity	(1,721)	(41)	(1,762)
Net income for the year	1,378	59	1,437
Total recognized income and expense for the year	(343)	18	(325)

⁽a) Following the exit from the consolidated taxation agreement in 2006, a €16 million deferred tax asset was recorded for the first time in 2007 in respect of future tax credits that the Group will be eligible to receive when UK and US employees exercise their stock options. Of this amount, €10 million was recognized in income – corresponding to tax savings on the stock option cost recognized in the income statement since the transition to IFRS – and the balance was recognized in equity. In 2008, the deferred tax asset was adjusted to end of the year situation. Of the total adjustment, €10 million was recognized in equity and €5 million in income.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

		Number	of shares					(In € mil	lions)			
Income and expenses recognized directly in equity No 1,637 Second Fine Secon			Outstanding (excluding		paid-in capital and legal	earnings and net income for	translation	Fair value	Treasury			Total equity
in equity 0 0 0 233 (495) (36) 0 (238) (19) 1637 (45) 1637 (At January 1, 2006	345,256,270	336,873,109	1,381	2,261	8,008	635	16	(310)	11,991	327	12,318
Total recognized income and expense for the year September 31, 2006 September 31, 2007 September 31, 2006 September 31, 2007	in equity			0	0		(495)	(36)	0			(257) 1,682
-Group Savings Plan - Stock option plans - Stock op	Total recognized income and expense			0	0		(495)	(36)	0			1,425
Stock option plans	Issues of capital stock											
- Other 17,421,612 17,421,612 70 845 915 2 Dividends paid (€1,36 per share) (459) (459) (33) Treasury stock purchased (1,976,708) (10) (110) Treasury stock cancelled 0 (1576,708) (110) (110) Treasury stock cancelled 0 (110) Treasury stock cancelled 0 (110) Share-based payments 58 58 At December 31, 2006 368,419,723 361,680,055 1,474 3,315 9,562 140 (20) (306) 14,165 322 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 153 (704) 28 0 (523) (27) Net income for the year 0 0 1,640 (704) 28 0 964 29 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 1,640 (704) 28 0 964 29 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 1,640 (704) 28 0 964 29 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 1,640 (704) 28 0 964 29 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 1,640 (704) 28 0 964 29 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 1,640 (704) 28 0 964 29 Income and expenses recognized directly in expenses recognized directly in expenses recognized directly in expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 (621) (63) Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 (376) (1,176) (169) 0 (1,721) (41) (1,704) (41)	- Group Savings Plan	5,399,291	5,399,291	22	198							220
Dividends paid (el. 36 per share)	- Stock option plans	342,550	342,550									12
Treasury stock purchased (1,976,708)	- Other	17,421,612	17,421,612	70	845					915	2	917
Treasury stock cancelled	Dividends paid (€1.36 per share)					(459)				(459)	(33)	(492)
Treasury stock sold 3,620,201 25	Treasury stock purchased		(1,976,708)						(110)	(110)		(110)
Share-based payments	Treasury stock cancelled											0
At December 31, 2006 368,419,723 361,680,055 1,474 3,315 9,562 140 (20) (306) 14,165 332 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity in equ	Treasury stock sold		3,620,201						114			139
Net income for the year 0	Share-based payments					58				58		58
In equity 0 0 0 153 (704) 28 0 (523) (27)	At December 31, 2006	368,419,723	361,680,055	1,474	3,315	9,562	140	(20)	(306)	14,165	322	14,487
In equity 0 0 0 153 (704) 28 0 (523) (27)	Income and expenses recognized directly											
Net income for the year 1,487 56 1,487 56 1,487 1,487 56 1,487 1,487 56 1,487				0	0	153	(704)	28	0	(523)	(27)	(550)
Total recognized income and expense for the year	·						(701)			. ,		1,543
Sause of capital stock Sause of Capital st	·					1,107				1,107		
- Group Savings Plan	for the year				0	1,640	(704)	28	0	964	29	993
- Stock option plans		4.001.000	4.001.600		27.4					204		294
Other 84,400 84,400 4 4 2 Dividends paid (€1.70 per share) (621) (621) (63) Treasury stock purchased (243,277) (16) (16) (16) Treasury stock cancelled 0 0 0 0 0 Treasury stock sold 2,606,976 (14) 116 102 0 0 58												27
Dividends paid (€1.70 per share)												6
Treasury stock purchased (243,277)		84,400	84,400		4	((21)						
Treasury stock cancelled 2,606,976 (14) 116 102 Share-based payments 58 58 58 At December 31, 2007 374,216,152 369,840,183 1,497 3,617 10,625 (564) 8 (206) 14,977 290 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 (376) (1,176) (169) 0 (1,721) (41) (41) (41) (42) (44) (45) (46) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) (47) <td></td> <td></td> <td>(242.277)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>(021)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>(1.0)</td> <td>. ,</td> <td>(63)</td> <td>(684)</td>			(242.277)			(021)			(1.0)	. ,	(63)	(684)
Treasury stock sold 2,606,976 (14) 116 102 Share-based payments 58 58 58 At December 31, 2007 374,216,152 369,840,183 1,497 3,617 10,625 (564) 8 (206) 14,977 290 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 (376) (1,176) (169) 0 (1,721) (41) (41) (50) (41)			(243,277)						(16)			(16) 0
Share-based payments 58 58 58			2 (0(07((1.1)			116			102
At December 31, 2007 374,216,152 369,840,183 1,497 3,617 10,625 (564) 8 (206) 14,977 290 Income and expenses recognized directly in equity 0 0 (376) (1,176) (169) 0 (1,721) (41) (700) (100) (1,721) (41) (700) (1,721) (1,700) (1,7			2,606,976						116			58
Income and expenses recognized directly in equity	Share-based payments					58				58		58
In equity 0 0 0 376 (1,176 169 0 0 1,721 (41) (18	At December 31, 2007	374,216,152	369,840,183	1,497	3,617	10,625	(564)	8	(206)	14,977	290	15,267
Net income for the year						(27.0	(1.17.0)	(1.60)		(1.701)	(41)	(1.7(2)
Total recognized income and expense for the year					0		(1,176)	(109)	0			1,437
for the year 0 0 1,002 (1,176) (169) 0 (343) 18 Issues of capital stock - Group Savings Plan 8,272,947 8,272,947 33 320 353 - Composition of the composi	·					1,378				1,3/8		1,437
Issues of capital stock - Group Savings Plan 8,272,947 8,272,947 33 320 353 - Stock option plans 82,886 82,886 3 3 3 - Other 0 4 4 0 4 1				0	0	1.002	(1.176)	(169)	0	(343)	18	(325)
- Group Savings Plan 8,272,947 8,272,947 33 320 353 - Stock option plans 82,886 82,886 3 3 - Other 0 4 0 Dividends paid (€2.05 per share) (767) (56) Treasury stock purchased (2,898,905) (131) (131) Treasury stock cancelled 0 0 Treasury stock sold 2,729,725 (7) 131 124 Share-based payments 58 58 58						-,	(-,,	(= /		(6.10)		(===/
- Stock option plans 82,886 82,886 3 3 - Other 0 4 0 Dividends paid (@.05 per share) (767) (767) (56) Treasury stock purchased (2,898,905) (131) (131) (131) Treasury stock cancelled 0 <t< td=""><td></td><td>9 272 047</td><td>9 272 047</td><td>22</td><td>220</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>353</td><td></td><td>353</td></t<>		9 272 047	9 272 047	22	220					353		353
Other 0 4 Dividends paid (@.05 per share) (767) (767) (56) Treasury stock purchased (2,898,905) (131) (131) (131) Treasury stock cancelled 0 0 131 124 Treasury stock sold 2,729,725 (7) 131 124 Share-based payments 58 58 58												333
Dividends paid (£0.05 per share) (767) (767) (56) Treasury stock purchased (2.898,905) (131) (131) (131) 131 124 6 6 7 131 124		02,080	. ,		3							4
Treasury stock purchased (2.898,905) (131) (131) Treasury stock cancelled 0 0 Treasury stock sold 2,729,725 (7) 131 124 Share-based payments 58 58						(767)						
Treasury stock cancelled 0 Treasury stock sold 2,729,725 (7) 131 124 Share-based payments 58 58			(2.909.005)			(/0/)			(121)		(36)	(823)
Treasury stock sold 2,729,725 (7) 131 124 Share-based payments 58 58			(2,898,905)						(131)			(131)
Share-based payments 58 58			2 720 725			(7)			121			124
			2,129,125						151			58
AAD	Share-based payments					38				56		
At December 51, 2006 382,5/1,985 3/8,020,836 1,530 3,940 10,911 (1,740) (161) (206) 14,274 256	At December 31, 2008	382,571,985	378,026,836	1,530	3,940	10,911	(1,740)	(161)	(206)	14,274	256	14,530

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and its subsidiaries ("the Group") have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted for use in the European Union at December 31, 2008.

IFRS were applied retrospectively in the opening balance sheet at the transition date (January 1, 2004), with the exception of certain optional or mandatory exemptions provided for under IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The Group elected to apply IAS 32 and IAS 39 relating to financial instruments and IFRS 2 relating to share-based payments as of January 1, 2004.

The accounting policies applied are consistent with those used to prepare the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention, except for certain assets and liabilities that have been measured using the fair value model as explained in these notes.

The standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards applicable for the first time in 2008 (see the table below) do not have a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early adopted any new standards, interpretations or amendments to published standards that are applicable for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2009 (see table below). Accordingly, IFRS 8 – Operating Segments has not been applied. Application of this standard would not have any impact on the presentation of the disclosures in Note 32.

The Group has not early adopted IFRIC 14, that was adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) on January 1, 2008 but has been adopted for use in the European Union from January 1, 2009. Application of this interpretation would lead to a €138 million reduction in equity after tax. With the exception of IFRIC 14, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all the standards issued by the IASB.

These consolidated financial statements were adopted by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2009 and will be submitted to the Shareholders' Meeting for approval. They are expressed in millions of euros.

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. These estimates and assumptions are based on past experience and on various other factors, considering the sharp deterioration in the economic and financial environment, which makes assessing the business outlook difficult. Actual amounts may differ from those obtained through the use of these estimates and assumptions.

The main estimates and assumptions described in these notes concern the measurement of employee benefit obligations, provisions for other liabilities and charges, asset impairment tests, deferred taxes, share-based payments and financial instruments. Estimates are revised at the balance sheet date and tests are carried out where appropriate to assess their sensitivity to changes in assumptions.

SUMMARY OF NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards applicable in 2008						
IFRIC 11	Group and Treasury Share Transactions					
IFRIC 12*	Service Concession Arrangements					
IFRIC 14**	The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction					
Standards, interpre	etations and amendments to published standards with early 2008 possible adoption					
IAS 1R	Presentation of Financial Statements					
IAS 27R*	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements					
IFRS 3R*	Business Combinations (Phase 2)					
IFRS 8	Operating Segments					
Amendments to	Borrowing Costs					
IAS 23						
Amendments to	Determining the Cost of Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entities and					
IFRS 1 and IAS	Associates in the Separate Financial Statements					
Amendments to	Puttable Instruments and Instruments with Obligations Arising on Liquidation					
IAS 32						
Amendments to	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items					
IAS 39*						
Amendments to	Vesting Conditions and Cancellations					
IFRS 2						
IFRIC 13	Customer Loyalty Programmes					
IFRIC 15*	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate					
IFRIC 16*	Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation					
IFRIC 17*	Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners					

^{*} Not yet adopted by the European Union.

Standards adopted by the European Union may be consulted on the European Commission website, at http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias_en.htm# adopted-commission

^{**} Adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board for application from January 1, 2008; adopted for use in the European Union no later than January 1, 2009.

CONSOLIDATION

Scope of consolidation

The Group's consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and of all companies controlled by the Group, as well as those of jointly controlled companies and companies over which the Group exercises significant influence.

Significant changes in the Group's scope of consolidation during 2008 are presented in Note 2 and a list of the principal consolidated companies at December 31, 2008 is provided in Note 33.

Consolidation methods

Companies over which the Group exercises exclusive control, either directly or indirectly, are fully consolidated.

Interests in jointly controlled entities are proportionately consolidated. The Group has elected not to apply the alternative treatment permitted by IAS 31, under which jointly controlled companies may be accounted for by the equity method.

Companies over which the Group directly or indirectly exercises significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.

Business combinations

The accounting policies applied in respect of business combinations comply with IFRS 3 and are described in the sections dealing with potential voting rights, share purchase commitments and goodwill.

Potential voting rights and share purchase commitments

Potential voting rights conferred by call options on minority interests are taken into account in determining whether the Group exclusively controls an entity only when the options are currently exercisable.

When calculating its percentage interest in controlled companies, the Group considers the impact of cross put and call options on minority interests in the companies concerned. This approach gives rise to the recognition in the financial statements of an investment-related liability (included within "Other liabilities") corresponding to the present value of the estimated exercise price of the put option, with a corresponding reduction in minority interests and increase in goodwill. Any subsequent changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized by adjusting goodwill.

Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale - Discontinued operations

Assets that are immediately available for sale and for which a sale is highly probable, are classified as non-current assets held for sale. Related liabilities are classified as liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held for sale. When several assets are held for sale in a single transaction, they are accounted for as a disposal group, which also includes any liabilities directly associated with those assets.

The assets, or disposal groups held for sale, are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Depreciation ceases when non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale. When the assets held for sale are consolidated companies, deferred tax is recognized on the difference between the consolidated carrying amount of the shares and their tax basis, in accordance with IAS 12.

Non-current assets held for sale and directly associated liabilities are presented separately on the face of the consolidated balance sheet, and income and expenses continue to be recognized in the consolidated income statement on a line-by-line basis. Income and expenses arising on discontinued operations are recorded as a single amount on the face of the consolidated income statement.

At each balance sheet date, the value of the assets and liabilities is reviewed to determine whether any additions to or reversals of provisions should be recognized due to a change in their fair value less costs to sell.

Intragroup transactions

All intragroup balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Minority interests

When consolidated subsidiary's cumulative losses exceed its equity, the portion of the excess attributable to minority interests is allocated to the Group's majority interest unless the minority has a binding obligation to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, such profits are allocated to the Group's majority interest until the minority's share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

Transactions with minority interests are treated in the same way as transactions with parties external to the Group.

Translation of the financial statements of foreign companies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is Compagnie de Saint-Gobain's functional and presentation currency.

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries outside the euro zone are translated into euros at the closing exchange rate and income and expense items are translated using the average exchange rate for the period, except when exchange rates have been significantly volatile.

The Group's share of any translation gains or losses is included in equity under "Cumulative translation adjustments", until the foreign operations to which they relate are sold or liquidated, at which time they are taken to the income statement. The Group elected to use the exemption allowed under IFRS 1, by resetting to zero at January 1, 2004 the cumulative translation differences that existed at the IFRS transition date.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Company's functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate and any exchange differences are recorded in the income statement. As an exception to this principle, exchange differences relating to loans and borrowings between Group companies are recorded, net of tax, in equity under "Cumulative translation adjustments", as in substance they are an integral part of the net investment in a foreign subsidiary.

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Goodwill

When an entity is acquired by the Group, the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of the entity are recognized at their fair value. Any adjustments to provisional values as a result of completing the initial accounting are recognized within twelve months of the acquisition date.

The acquisition cost is the amount of cash and cash equivalents paid to the seller plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition, such as fees paid to investment banks, attorneys, auditors, independent valuers and other consultants.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the income statement.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of companies accounted for by the equity method is included in "Investments in associates".

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets primarily include patents, brands, software, and development costs. They are measured at historical cost less accumulated amortization and impairment.

Acquired retail brands and certain manufacturing brands are treated as intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as they have a strong national and/or international reputation. These brands are not amortized but are tested for impairment on an annual basis. Other brands are amortized over their useful lives, not to exceed 40 years.

Costs incurred to develop software in-house – primarily configuration, programming and testing costs – are recognized as intangible assets. Patents and purchased computer software are amortized over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding 20 years for patents and 3 to 5 years for software.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs meeting the recognition criteria under IAS 38 are included in intangible assets and amortized over their estimated useful lives (not to exceed 5 years) from the date when the products to which they relate are first marketed.

The greenhouse gas emissions allowances granted to the Group have not been recognized as assets in the consolidated financial statements, as IFRIC 3 - Emission Rights has been withdrawn. A provision is recorded in the consolidated financial statements to cover any difference between the Group's emissions and the allowances granted. Details of the measurement of emissions allowances available at the balance sheet date are provided in Note 4.

Property, plant and equipment

Land, buildings and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Cost may also include incidental expenses directly attributable to the acquisition, such as transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of property, plant and equipment purchases.

Expenses incurred in exploring and evaluating mineral resources are included in property, plant and equipment when it is probable that associated future economic benefits will flow to the Group. They include mainly the costs of topographical or geological studies, drilling costs, sampling costs and all costs incurred in assessing the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction and acquisition of property, plant and equipment are recorded under "Net financial expense" and are not included in the cost of the related asset.

Except for the head office building, which is the Group's only material non-industrial asset, property, plant and equipment are considered as having no residual value, as most items are intended to be used until the end of their useful lives and are not generally expected to be sold.

Property, plant and equipment other than land are depreciated using the components approach, on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives, which are regularly reviewed:

Major factories and offices	30-40 years
Other buildings	15-25 years
Production machinery and equipment	5-16 years
Vehicles	3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures, office and computer equipment	4-16 years

Gypsum quarries are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, based on the quantity of gypsum extracted during the year compared with the extraction capacity.

Provisions for site restoration are recognized as components of assets in the event of a sudden deterioration in site conditions and whenever the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to restore a site in accordance with contractually determined conditions. These provisions are reviewed periodically and may be discounted over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned. The component is depreciated over the same useful life as that used for mines and quarries.

Government grants for purchases of property, plant and equipment are recorded under "Other payables" and taken to the income statement over the estimated useful lives of the relevant assets.

Finance leases and operating leases

Assets held under leases that transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership (finance leases) are recognized as property, plant and equipment. They are recognized at the commencement of the lease term at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset – determined using the same criteria as for assets owned by the Group – or the lease term. The corresponding liability is shown in the balance sheet net of related interest.

Rental payments under operating leases are expensed as incurred.

Non-current financial assets

Non-current financial assets include available-for-sale and other securities, as well as other non-current assets, which primarily comprise long-term loans and deposits.

Investments classified as "available-for-sale" are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on these investments are recognized in equity, unless the investments have suffered an other-than-temporary and/or material decline in value, in which case an impairment loss is recorded in the income statement.

Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets are tested for impairment on a regular basis. These tests consist of comparing the asset's carrying amount to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, calculated by reference to the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.

For property, plant and equipment and amortizable intangible assets, an impairment test is performed whenever revenues from the asset decline or the asset generates operating losses due to either internal or external factors, and no improvement is forecast in the annual budget or the business plan.

For goodwill and other intangible assets (including brands with indefinite useful lives), an impairment test is performed at least annually based on the five-year business plan. Goodwill is reviewed systematically and exhaustively at the level of each cash-generating unit (CGU) and where necessary more detailed tests are carried out. The Group's reporting segments are its five business sectors, which may each include several CGUs. A CGU is a reporting sub-segment, generally defined as a core business of the segment in a given geographical area. It typically reflects the manner in which the Group organizes its business and analyzes its results for internal reporting purposes. In 2008, 39 main CGUs were identified and monitored.

Goodwill and brands are allocated mainly to the Gypsum and Industrial Mortars CGUs and to the Building Distribution CGUs primarily in the United Kingdom, France and Scandinavia.

The method used for these impairment tests is consistent with that employed by the Group for the valuation of companies acquired in business combinations or acquisitions of equity interests. The carrying amount of the CGUs is compared to their value in use, corresponding to the present value of future cash flows excluding interest but including tax. Cash flows for the fifth year of the business plan are rolled forward over the following two years. For impairment tests of goodwill, normative cash flows (corresponding to cash flows at the mid-point in the business cycle) are then projected to perpetuity using a low annual growth rate (generally 1%, except for emerging markets or businesses with a high organic growth potential where a 1.5% rate may be used). The discount rate applied to these cash flows corresponds to the Group's cost of capital (7.5% in 2008 and 7% in 2007), plus a country risk premium where appropriate depending on the geographic area concerned, bringing the discount rate up to 10% in some cases.

The recoverable amount calculated using a post-tax discount rate gives the same result as a pre-tax rate applied to pre-tax cash flows.

Different assumptions measuring the method's sensitivity are systematically tested using the following parameters:

- 1-point increase or decrease in the annual average rate of growth in cash flows projected to perpetuity;
- 0.5-point increase or decrease in the discount rate applied to cash flows.

When the annual impairment test reveals that the value in use of an asset (or goodwill) is lower than its carrying amount, if the asset's fair value less costs to sell is also lower than the carrying amount an impairment loss is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the asset or goodwill to its recoverable amount.

Overall and for the main acquisitions, impairment tests carried out in 2008 did not reveal any major impairments, although for recent acquisitions – primarily the Gypsum business in the United States – the worsening economic environment has created a degree of uncertainty regarding projected cash flows and the resulting valuations. However, a 0.5-point increase in the discount rate or a 0.5-point decrease in the average cash flow growth rate projected to perpetuity would not result in any impairment losses being recognized on intangible assets currently carried in the balance sheet.

Impairment losses on goodwill can never be reversed through income. For property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, an impairment loss recognized in a prior period may be reversed if there is an indication that the impairment no longer exists and that the recoverable amount of the asset concerned exceeds its carrying amount.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories includes the costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. It is generally determined using the weighted-average cost method, and in some cases the First-In-First-Out (FIFO) method. Cost of inventories may also include the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of raw materials. Net realizable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs to completion and costs to sell.

Operating receivables and payables

Operating receivables and payables are stated at nominal value as they generally have maturities of under three months. Provisions for impairment are established to cover the risk of total or partial non-recovery.

For trade receivables transferred under securitization programs, the contracts concerned are analyzed and if substantially all the risks associated with the receivables are not transferred to the financing institutions, they remain in the balance sheet and a corresponding liability is recognized in short-term debt.

Net debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt includes bonds, Medium Term Notes, perpetual bonds, participating securities and all other types of long-term financial liabilities including lease liabilities and the fair value of derivatives qualifying as interest rate hedges.

Under IAS 32, the distinction between financial liabilities and equity is based on the substance of the contracts concerned rather than their legal form. As a result, participating securities are classified as debt and not as quasi-equity. At the balance sheet date, long-term debt is measured at amortized cost. Premiums and issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest method.

• Short-term debt

Short-term debt includes the current portion of the long-term debt described above, short-term financing programs such as commercial paper or *billets de trésorerie* (French commercial paper), bank overdrafts and other short-term bank borrowings, as well as the fair value of credit derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting. At the balance sheet date, short-term debt is measured at amortized cost. Premiums and issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest method.

• Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents mainly consist of cash on hand, bank accounts, and marketable securities that are short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Marketable securities are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Further details about long- and short-term debt are provided in Note 18.

Foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity derivatives (swaps, options, futures)

The Group uses interest rate, foreign exchange and commodity derivatives to hedge its exposure to changes in interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices that may arise in the normal course of business.

In accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39, all of these instruments are recognized in the balance sheet and measured at fair value, irrespective of whether or not they are part of a hedging relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting under IAS 39.

Changes in the fair value of both derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges and derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to the income statement (in business income for foreign exchange and commodity derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting, and in net financial expense for all other derivatives). However, in the case of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss arising from changes in fair value is recognized directly in equity, and only the ineffective portion is recognized in the income statement.

• Fair value hedges

Most interest rate derivatives used by the Group to swap fixed rates for variable rates are designated and qualify as fair value hedges. These derivatives hedge fixed-rate debts exposed to a fair value risk. In accordance with hedge accounting principles, debt included in designated fair value hedging relationships is remeasured at fair value. As the effective portion of the gain or loss on the fair value hedge offsets the loss or gain on the underlying hedged item, the income statement is only impacted by the ineffective portion of the hedge.

• Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedge accounting is applied by the Group mainly for derivatives used to fix the cost of future investments in financial assets or property, plant and equipment, future purchases of gas and fuel oil (fixed-for-variable price swaps) and future purchases of foreign currencies (forward contracts). The transactions hedged by these instruments are qualified as highly probable. The application of cash flow hedge accounting allows the Group to defer the impact on the income statement of the effective portion of changes in the fair value of these instruments by recording them in a special hedging reserve in equity. The reserve is reclassified into the income statement when the hedged transaction occurs and the hedged item affects income. In the same way as for fair value hedges, cash flow hedging limits the Group's exposure to changes in the fair value of these price swaps to the ineffective portion of the hedge.

• Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognized in the income statement. The instruments concerned mainly include cross-currency swaps; gas, currency and interest rate options; currency swaps; and futures and forward contracts.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities quoted in an active market corresponds to their quoted price. The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities not quoted in an active market is established by a

recognized valuation technique such as reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, or discounted cash flow analysis based on observable market data.

The fair value of short-term financial assets and liabilities is considered as being the same as their carrying amount due to their short maturities.

Employee benefits - defined benefit plans

After retirement, the Group's former employees are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in the respective countries in which the Group operates. There are also additional pension obligations in certain Group companies, both in France and other countries.

In France, employees receive length-of-service awards on retirement based on years of service and the calculation methods prescribed in the applicable collective bargaining agreements.

The Group's obligation for the payment of pensions and length-of-service awards is determined at the balance sheet date by independent actuaries, using a method that takes into account projected final salaries at retirement and economic conditions in each country. These obligations may be financed by pension funds, with a provision recognized in the balance sheet for the unfunded portion.

The effect of any plan amendments (past service cost) is recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining vesting period, or immediately if the benefits are already vested.

Actuarial gains or losses reflect year-on-year changes in the actuarial assumptions used to measure the Group's obligations and plan assets, experience adjustments (differences between the actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred), and changes in legislation. They are recognized in equity as they occur.

In the United States, Spain and Germany, retired employees receive benefits other than pensions, mainly concerning healthcare. The Group's obligation under these plans is determined using an actuarial method and is covered by a provision recorded in the balance sheet.

Provisions are also set aside on an actuarial basis for other employee benefits, such as jubilees or other long-service awards, deferred compensation, specific welfare benefits, and termination benefits in various countries. Any actuarial gains and losses relating to these benefits are recognized immediately.

The Group has elected to recognize the interest costs for these obligations and the expected return on plan assets as financial expense or income.

Employee benefits – defined contribution plans

Contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.

Employee benefits – share-based payments

At the IFRS transition date (January 1, 2004) the Saint-Gobain Group elected to apply IFRS 2 to its November 20, 2002 stock option plan and all subsequent plans.

The cost of stock option plans is calculated using the Black & Scholes option pricing model, based on the following parameters:

Volatility assumptions that take into account the historical volatility of the share price over a rolling 10-year period, as well as implied volatility from traded share options. Periods during which the share price was extraordinarily volatile are disregarded.

- Assumptions relating to the average holding period of options, based on observed behavior of option holders.
- Expected dividends, as estimated on the basis of historical information dating back to 1988.
- A risk-free interest rate corresponding to the yield on long-term government bonds.

The cost calculated using this method is recognized in the income statement over the vesting period of the options, ranging from three to four years.

For options exercised for new shares, the sum received by the Company when the options are exercised is recorded in "Capital stock" for the portion representing the par value of the shares, with the balance – net of directly attributable transaction costs – recorded under "Additional paid-in capital".

The method used by Saint-Gobain to calculate the costs of its Group Savings Plan takes into account the fact that shares granted to employees under the plan are subject to a five- or ten-year lock-up. The lock-up cost is measured and deducted from the 20% discount granted by the Group on employee share awards. The calculation parameters are defined as follows:

- The exercise price, as set by the Board of Directors, corresponds to the average of the opening share prices quoted over the 20 trading days preceding the date of grant, less a 20% discount.
- The grant date of the options is the date on which the plan is announced to employees. For Saint-Gobain, this is the date when the plan's terms and conditions are announced on the Group's intranet.
- The interest rate used to estimate the cost of the lock-up feature of employee share awards is the rate
 that would be charged by a bank to an individual with an average risk profile for a general purpose fiveor ten-year consumer loan repayable at maturity.

In 2008 and 2007, Saint-Gobain set up a leveraged Group Savings Plan. This plan offers a 15% discount and allows participating employees to receive, at maturity and for each share subscribed, a capital gain equivalent to the gain on ten shares over the period. The plan costs are calculated under IFRS 2 in the same way as for the non-leveraged plan, but also take into account the advantage accruing to employees who have access to share prices with a volatility profile adapted to institutional investors.

The cost of the two plans was recognized in full at the end of the subscription period, during the first half of the year.

Equity

• Additional paid-in capital and legal reserve

This item includes capital contributions in excess of the par value of capital stock as well as the legal reserve which corresponds to a cumulative portion of the net income of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain.

Retained earnings and net income for the year

Retained earnings and net income for the year correspond to the Group's share in the undistributed earnings of all consolidated companies.

• Treasury stock

Treasury stock is measured at cost and recorded as a deduction from equity. Gains and losses on disposals of treasury stock are recognized directly in equity and have no impact on net income for the period.

Other current and non-current liabilities and provisions

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

A provision is booked when (i) the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation towards a third party as a result of a past event, (ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and (iii) the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

If the timing or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably, it is classified as a contingent liability and reported as an off-balance sheet commitment. However, contingent liabilities arising on business combinations are recognized in the balance sheet.

Provisions for other material liabilities and charges whose timing can be estimated reliably are discounted to present value.

Investment-related liabilities

Investment-related liabilities correspond to put options granted to minority shareholders of subsidiaries and liabilities relating to the acquisition of shares in Group companies, including additional purchase consideration. They are reviewed on a periodic basis. The impact of discounting adjustments reflecting the passage of time is recognized in financial income and expense.

INCOME STATEMENT ITEMS

Revenue recognition

Revenue generated by the sale of goods or services is recognized net of rebates, discounts and sales taxes (i) when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, or (ii) when the service has been rendered, or (iii) by reference to the stage of completion of the services to be provided.

Construction contracts are accounted for using the percentage of completion method, as explained below. When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognized as revenue and expenses, respectively, by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recovered. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

Construction contract revenues are not material in relation to total consolidated net sales.

Operating income

Operating income is a measure of the performance of the Group's business sectors and has been used by the Group as its key external and internal management indicator for many years. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in operating income, as are changes in the fair value of financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting when they relate to operating items.

Other business income and expense

Other business income and expense mainly include movements in provisions for claims and litigation and environmental provisions, gains and losses on disposals of assets, impairment losses, restructuring costs incurred upon the disposal or discontinuation of operations and the costs of workforce reduction measures.

Business income

Business income includes all income and expenses other than net borrowing costs and other financial income and expense, the Group's share in net income of associates, and income taxes.

Net financial expense

Net financial expense includes borrowing and other financing costs, income from cash and cash equivalents, interest cost for pension and other post-employment benefit plans, net of the return on plan assets, and other financial income and expense.

Income taxes

Current income tax is the estimated amount of tax payable in respect of income for a given period, calculated by reference to the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, plus any adjustments to current taxes recorded in previous financial periods.

Deferred taxes are recorded using the balance sheet liability method for temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability settled, based on the tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is considered probable that there will be sufficient future taxable income against which the temporary difference can be utilized. They are reviewed at each balance sheet date and written down to the extent that it is no longer probable that there will be sufficient taxable income against which the temporary difference can be utilized.

No provision is made in respect of tax on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries that are not intended to be distributed.

In accordance with interpretation SIC 21, a deferred tax liability is recognized for brands acquired in a business combination.

Deferred taxes are recognized as income or expense in the income statement, except if they relate to items that are recognized directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognized in equity.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income by the average number of shares in issue during the period, excluding treasury stock.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting earnings per share (see Note 24) and the average number of shares in issue for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, such as stock options and convertible bonds. The calculation is performed using the treasury stock method, which assumes that the proceeds from the exercise of

dilutive instruments are assigned on a priority basis to the purchase of common shares in the market.

Recurring net income

Recurring net income corresponds to income after tax and minority interests but before capital gains or losses, asset impairment losses, material non-recurring provisions and the related tax and minority interests. The method used for calculating recurring net income is explained in Note 23.

Return on capital employed

Return on capital employed (ROCE) corresponds to annualized operating income adjusted for changes in the scope of consolidation, expressed as a percentage of total assets at year-end. Total assets include net property, plant and equipment, working capital, net goodwill and other intangible assets, but exclude deferred tax assets arising from non-amortizable brands and land.

Cash flow from operations

Cash flow from operations corresponds to net cash generated from operating activities before the impact of changes in working capital requirement, changes in current taxes and movements in provisions for other liabilities and charges and deferred taxes. Cash flow from operations is adjusted for the effect of material non-recurring provision charges.

The method used for calculating cash flow from operations is explained in Note 23.

Cash flow from operations before tax on capital gains or losses

Cash flow from operations before tax on capital gains or losses corresponds to cash flow from operations less the tax effect of asset disposals.

The method used for calculating cash flow from operations before tax on capital gains or losses is explained in Note 23.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's primary reporting format is based on sectors and divisions and the secondary reporting format is based on geographic areas, reflecting the Group's internal structure.

NOTE 2 - CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE

Changes in Group structure in 2008

2008	France	Outside France	Total
FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES			
At January 1	210	1,206	1,416
Newly consolidated companies	35	131	166
Merged companies	(34)	(199)	(233)
Deconsolidated companies	(3)	(12)	(15)
Change in consolidation method		1	1
At December 31	208	1,127	1,335
PROPORTIONATELY CONSOLIDATED COMI	PANIES		
At January 1	2	11	13
Newly consolidated companies		6	6
Deconsolidated companies			0
Change in consolidation method		3	3
At December 31	2	20	22
COMPANIES ACCOUNTED FOR BY THE EQU	ITY METHO	<u>D</u>	
At January 1	6	73	79
Newly consolidated companies	1	11	12
Merged companies		(6)	(6)
Deconsolidated companies		(11)	(11)
Change in consolidation method		(4)	(4)
At December 31	7	63	70
TOTAL at December 31	217	1,210	1,427

Significant changes in Group structure

2008

On March 13, 2008, Saint-Gobain completed the acquisition of the Maxit group from HeidelbergCement for €2,087 million including €59 million in assumed net debt.

Maxit was fully consolidated from March 1, 2008, within the Industrial Mortars division, contributing €1,019 million to consolidated net sales for the year.

During the first half of 2008, the Group acquired two building materials distribution companies, Dalhoff Larsen & Horneman A/S (DLH) in Denmark, and Famar Desi in Estonia. UK-based building materials distributor Gibbs & Dandy was also acquired, through a cash offer that closed on July 1, 2008.

2007

The Building Distribution sector made several acquisitions in 2007, mainly in France, the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, Spain and the United States.

On August 31, 2007, Saint-Gobain acquired the US group Norandex. Sales from its distribution business were consolidated over the last four months of 2007 and totaled €161 million.

Izocam and Saint-Gobain Envases SA, which were acquired at the end of 2006 and previously accounted for by the equity method, were accounted for using proportionate consolidation (Izocam) and full consolidation (Saint-Gobain Envases SA) from January 1, 2007.

Following the agreement entered into with investment funds Sagard and Cognetas, the Saint-Gobain Desjonquères group, which was classified as held for sale at December 31, 2006, was sold on March 29, 2007. The capital gain on the sale of the entire capital stock of Saint-Gobain Desjonquères was recorded under "Other business income" (see Note 21). The sub-group's consolidated sales for first-quarter 2007 amounted to €149 million.

The Saint-Gobain Group subsequently decided to acquire a 19.9% interest in holding company Cougard Investissements, the parent company of the new Desjonquères group (SGD), for €42 million. This investment comprised €14 million in shares classified as available-for-sale and €28 million in convertible bonds, both of which are included in other non-current assets. Changes in the fair value of the convertible bonds are accounted for through income.

On November 1, 2007, the Group's Reinforcement and Composites division (excluding the US fiber reinforcements business) was sold to Owens Corning. The related assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2007 and until October 31, 2007, the effective date of the transaction. The division's external sales for the first ten months of 2007 amounted to €58 million.

2006

In 2005, the Group acquired the entire capital stock of China-based Xugang (Xuzhou General Iron and Steel Works) for €3 million, or €4 million including assumed net debt. As this acquisition was authorized by the Chinese authorities in late December 2005, the company – which reported sales of €126 million in 2006 – was consolidated from January 1, 2006.

In first-half 2006, the Group acquired the entire capital stock of Ireland-based JP Corry, which was consolidated from June 1, 2006. JP Corry's estimated full-year sales for 2006 amounted to €151 million.

The Group also entered into an agreement to sell Saint-Gobain Calmar to the MeadWestvaco group. Saint-Gobain Calmar's assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale from January 26, 2006, the date the sale process was announced, through June 30, 2006, the effective date of the sale. The sub-group's consolidated sales for first-half 2006 totaled €182 million.

Impact on the consolidated balance sheet

The impact on the balance sheet at December 31, 2008 of changes in Group structure and in consolidation methods was as follows:

(in € millions)	First-time consolidation of Maxit	Other acquired companies	Divested companies
Impact on assets			
Non-current assets	2,023	755	(39)
Inventories	154	151	(22)
Trade accounts receivable	200	107	(46)
Other current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents	10	75	1
	2,387	1,088	(106)
Impact on equity and liabilities	_,,,,,	_,,,,,	(=++)
Shareholders' equity and minority interests	1	7	(10)
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	37	11	(1)
Non-current liabilities	67	25	(5)
Trade accounts payable	73	127	(25)
Other payables and accrued expenses	122	68	(15)
	300	238	(56)
Enterprise value of consolidated companies acquired/divested (a)	2,087	850	(50)
Impact on consolidated net debt*			
Impact on cash and cash equivalents	17	85	(8)
Impact on net debt excluding cash and cash equivalents (b)	576	135	(8)
	559	50	0
Acquisitions/disposals of shares in consolidated companies net of cash acquired/divested (a) - (b)	1,511	715	(42)
cash acquired/divested (a) - (b)	======	======	(42)

 $^{* \} Corresponding \ to \ the \ debt, \ short-term \ credit \ facilities \ and \ cash \ and \ cash \ equivalents \ of \ acquired/divested \ companies.$

Assets and liabilities held for sale

The US fiber reinforcements business was discontinued during 2008 and its assets and liabilities were therefore no longer reported as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2008.

The assets and liabilities of the Reinforcements and Composites business were classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2007. The sale of the business on November 1, 2007 had no further impact on the income statement in light of the one-off provision booked at June 30, 2007. Only the US fiber reinforcements business continued to be classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2007.

In 2006, the Group launched a process to sell its Flasks business (Saint-Gobain Desjonquères group) and the assets and liabilities of the business were therefore classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2006. The sale was completed at the end of the first quarter of 2007.

In accordance with IAS 12, a deferred tax liability relating to the cumulative reserves carried in respect of the Saint-Gobain Desjonquères business was recognized in 2006 for an amount of €10 million, and subsequently reversed when the sale was completed on March 31, 2007.

Changes in assets and liabilities held for sale over the last two years were as follows:

(in € millions)	Assets	Liabilities	Provisions	
At December 31, 2006	548	249	0	
Reclassifications to held for sale	950	278		
Additions to provisions			161	
Disposals, reclassifications and other movements	(1,333)	(486)	(101)	
At December 31, 2007	165	41	60	
Reclassifications to held for sale				
Additions to provisions				
Disposals, reclassifications and other movements	(165)	(41)	(60)	
At December 31, 2008	0	0	0	

Assets and liabilities held for sale break down as follows:

	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2006
(in € millions)			
Goodwill and other intangible assets	0	3	6
Property, plant and equipment, net	0	89	220
Other non-current assets	0	2	9
Inventories, trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable	0	71	298
Cash and cash equivalents	0	0	15
Total assets held for sale	0	165	548
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	0	3	18
Deferred tax liabilities and other non-current liabilities	0	11	29
Trade accounts payable, other payables and accrued expenses, and other current liabilities	0	17	158
Short-term debt and bank overdrafts	0	10	44
Total liabilities held for sale	0	41	249

NOTE 3 – GOODWILL

(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
At January 1			
Gross value	9,440	9,481	9,756
Accumulated impairment	(200)	(154)	(38)
Net	9,240	9,327	9,718
Movements during the year			
Changes in Group structure	2,076	540	28
Impairment	(68)	(82)	(125)
Translation adjustments	(577)	(469)	(289)
Reclassification to assets held for sale	0	(76)	(5)
Total	1,431	(87)	(391)
At December 31			
Gross value	10,924	9,440	9,481
Accumulated impairment	(253)	(200)	(154)
Net	10,671	9,240	9,327

Movements in goodwill during 2008 were due mainly to the acquisition of the Maxit group (acquisition cost: €2,087 million including assumed net debt; provisional goodwill: €1,539 million – see Note 2) and of various Building Distribution companies, mainly in Scandinavia, the United Kingdom, the Baltic countries and France (see Note 2).

Movements in goodwill in 2007 mainly reflected the acquisition of Izocam (acquisition cost: €11 million, including €42 million in 2007; goodwill: €67 million); Norandex in the United States (acquisition cost: €273 million, goodwill: €152 million); and various other acquisitions in the Building Distribution sector, mainly in France, the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands and Spain.

Movements in goodwill in 2006 concerned several acquisitions in the Building Distribution sector, mainly in France, the United Kingdom and Scandinavia, partly offset by decreases stemming from divestments made in the year (see Note 2). Impairment losses recognized in 2006 concerned mainly the North American Bottles and Jars business for €9 million.

NOTE 4 – OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

	Patents	Non-	Software	Development	Other	Total
(; C : H;)		amortizable brands		costs		
(in € millions)		brands				
At January 1, 2006						
Gross value	145	2,822	584	35	291	3,877
Accumulated amortization and impairment	(119)		(407)	(6)	(149)	(681
Net	26	2,822	177	29	142	3,196
Movements during the year						
Changes in Group structure	(7)		50	1	(35)	9
Acquisitions		1	42	11	40	94
Disposals			(1)	(1)	(3)	(5
Translation adjustments		20	(7)		(8)	5
Amortization and impairment	(3)		(76)	(7)	(10)	(96
Reclassification to assets held for sale			(1)			(1
Total	(10)	21	7	4	(16)	6
At December 31, 2006						
Gross value	111	2,843	630	46	267	3,897
Accumulated amortization and impairment	(95)	2,043	(446)	(13)	(141)	(695
Net	16	2,843	184	33	126	3,202
						-,
Movements during the year						
Changes in Group structure	3	18	36	1	(15)	43
Acquisitions			57	6	45	108
Disposals			(1)		(2)	(3
Translation adjustments	(1)	(98)	(6)		(7)	(112
Amortization and impairment	(2)		(77)	(13)	(15)	(107
Reclassification to assets held for sale			(3)	(2)	(1)	(6
Total	0	(80)	6	(8)	5	(77
At December 31, 2007						
Gross value	106	2,763	631	47	279	3,826
Accumulated amortization and impairment	(90)		(441)	(22)	(148)	(701
Net	16	2,763	190	25	131	3,125
Movements during the year						
Changes in Group structure	1		46	1	(26)	22
Acquisitions			43	8	28	79
Disposals			(3)		1	(2
Translation adjustments		(250)	(8)		(2)	(260
Amortization and impairment	(2)		(76)	(7)	(11)	(96
Total	(1)	(250)	2	2	(10)	(257
At December 31, 2008						
Gross value	113	2,513	684	54	276	3,640
Accumulated amortization and impairment	(98)	,	(492)	(27)	(155)	(772
Net	15	2,513	192	27	121	2,868

The "Other" column includes amortizable manufacturing brands totaling €47 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €48 million; December 31, 2006: €52 million).

In April 2008, European companies in the Group returned the final greenhouse gas emissions allowances allocated for the period 2005-2007. The aggregate allowances issued to Saint-Gobain companies under the 2005-2007 program exceeded the Group's total greenhouse gas emissions. At December 31, 2008, allowances issued to the Group under the 2008-2012 program represented some 6.9 million metric tons of CO_2 emissions per year.

The 2008 allowances are equivalent to forecast greenhouse gas emissions for the year; consequently, no provision has been recorded in the accounts in this respect.

NOTE 5 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	Land and quarries	Buildings	Machinery and equipment	Assets under construction	Total
(in € millions)			equipment		
At January 1, 2006					
Gross value	2,026	6,739	18,603	1,389	28,757
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(257)	(3,252)	(12,411)	(17)	(15,937)
Net	1,769	3,487	6,192	1,372	12,820
Movements during the year					
Changes in Group structure and reclassifications	12	42	(98)	12	(32)
Acquisitions	57	94	501	1,556	2,208
Disposals	(62)	(42)	(50)		(176)
Translation adjustments	(27)	(64)	, ,		(326)
Depreciation and impairment	(32)	(288)	, ,		(1,505)
Reclassification to assets held for sale	(4)	(45)	, , , ,		(220)
Transfers	(.)	310	968	(1,278)	0
Total	(56)	7	(187)	185	(51)
At December 31, 2006					
Gross value	1,961	6,859	18,040	1,579	28,439
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(248)	(3,365)	(12,035)		(15,670)
Net	1,713	3,494	6,005	1,557	12,769
Tet	1,713	3,474	0,005	1,007	12,702
Movements during the year					
Changes in Group structure and reclassifications	(2)	39	30	7	74
Acquisitions	86	149	528	1.529	2,292
Disposals	(24)	(37)	(42)	,	(120)
Translation adjustments	(38)	(83)	(153)		(323)
Depreciation and impairment	(33)	(274)	(1,223)		(1,536)
Reclassification to assets held for sale	(9)	(77)	, , , ,		(403)
Transfers	(9)	299	944	(1,243)	(403)
Total	(20)	16	(141)	129	(16)
					` ` `
At December 31, 2007					
Gross value	1,971	6,944	17,643	1,704	28,262
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(278)	(3,434)	(11,779)		(15,509)
Net	1,693	3,510	5,864	1,686	12,753
Movements during the year					
Changes in Group structure and reclassifications	130	228	302	0	660
Acquisitions	94	135	600	1,334	2,163
Disposals	(17)	(26)	(31)	(12)	(86)
Translation adjustments	(70)	(203)	(279)	(46)	(598)
Depreciation and impairment	(36)	(273)	(1,195)	(14)	(1,518)
Transfers		417	1,135	(1,552)	0
Total	101	278	532	(290)	621
At December 31, 2008					
Gross value	2,116	7,554	19,078	1,415	30,163
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(322)	(3,766)	(12,682)	(19)	(16,789)
Net	1,794	3,788	6,396	1,396	13,374

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment during 2008 included assets acquired under finance leases for an amount of €14 million (2007: €19 million; 2006: €17 million). These finance leases are not included in the cash flow statement in accordance with IAS 7. At December 31, 2008, total property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases amounted to €201 million (December 31, 2007: €190 million; December 31, 2006: €210 million) (see Note 25).

In 2008, "Changes in Group structure and reclassifications" primarily corresponded to the €438 million impact of the Maxit acquisition.

NOTE 6 – INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(in C; II;)	2008	2007	2006
(in € millions)			
At January 1			
Equity in associates	106	224	131
Goodwill	17	14	8
Investments in associates	123	238	139
Movements during the year			
Changes in Group structure	(9)	(114)	107
Translation adjustments	(6)	(4)	(11)
Transfers, share issues and other movements	1	(3)	1
Dividends paid	(4)	(8)	(5)
Share in net income of associates	11	14	7
Total	(7)	(115)	99
At December 31			
Equity in associates	98	106	224
Goodwill	18	17	14
Investments in associates	116	123	238

At December 31, 2008, investments in associates amounted to €16 million (December 31, 2007: €23 million). They included shares in Compania Industrial El Volcan, which is listed on the Santiago de Chile stock exchange. Saint-Gobain's equity in Compania Industrial El Volcan's consolidated net assets was only slightly greater than the market value of the shares at December 31, 2008 due to the recent stock market volatility, but was significantly more than the shares' average market value over the year.

The decrease in investments in associates in 2007 was primarily due to the change in consolidation method for Izocam and Saint-Gobain Envases SA, which had a negative impact of €13 million.

Changes in Group structure in 2006 chiefly reflected the first-time consolidation – by the equity method – of Izocam (Turkey) and Saint-Gobain Envases SA (Chile) for a total of €116 million. At December 31, 2006, the market value of the Izocam shares owned by Saint-Gobain (based on the price quoted on the Istanbul stock exchange) approximated the carrying amount of the Group's equity in Izocam's net assets.

Net sales recorded in the individual financial statements of associates totaled €798 million in 2008 (2007: €39 million; 2006: €1,004 million) and aggregate net income totaled €34 million (2007: €42 million; 2006: €44 million). At December 31, 2008, total assets and liabilities of these companies amounted to €766 million and €448 million, respectively (December 31, 2007: €349 million and €493 million; December 31, 2006: €317 million and €324 million).

NOTE 7 – OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

	Available-for- sale and other securities	Capitalized loans and deposits	Plan surpluses	Total
(in € millions)				
At January 1, 2006				
Gross value	193	262	31	486
Provisions for impairment in value	(32)	(11)		(43)
Net	161	251	31	443
Movements during the year				
Changes in Group structure	(119)			(119)
Increases/(decreases)	9	(37)	90	62
Movements in provisions for impairment in value		4		4
Translation adjustments		(9)	(1)	(10)
Transfers and other movements		10		10
Total	(110)	(32)	89	(53)
At December 31, 2006				
Gross value	75	225	120	420
Provisions for impairment in value	(24)	(6)		(30)
Net	51	219	120	390
Movements during the year				
Changes in Group structure	(1)	(4)		(5)
Increases/(decreases)	78	(11)		98
Movements in provisions for impairment in value	(2)	1	31	(1)
Translation adjustments	(2)	(5)	(4)	(9)
Transfers and other movements		(1)	(4)	(1)
Total	75	(20)	27	82
At December 31, 2007				
Gross value	145	205	147	497
Provisions for impairment in value	(19)		147	
Net	126	(6) 199	147	(25) 472
Movements during the year				
Changes in Group structure	(61)	17	22	(44)
Increases/(decreases)	9	(2)		96
Movements in provisions for impairment in value		(2)		(2)
Translation adjustments	(4)	(6)	(30)	(40)
Transfers and other movements Total	(56)	8 15	59	8 18
Iviai	(30)	15	עכ	18
At December 31, 2008	0.5	22-	20.5	#1°
Gross value	86	227	206	519
Provisions for impairment in value	(16)	(13)	•0.	(29)
Net	70	214	206	490

The decrease in "Available-for-sale and other securities" in 2008 was primarily due to the consolidation of companies acquired at the end of 2007. As explained in Note 1, these securities are measured at fair value.

The decrease in "Available-for-sale and other securities" in 2006 was mainly due to the consolidation of Xugang, which was acquired by the Group at the end of 2005 (see Note 2).

The net increase in provisions for impairment in 2008 reflects € million in additions (2007: € million; 2006: € million) and € million in reversals (2007: € million; 2006: €7 million).

NOTE 8 – INVENTORIES

	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
Gross value			
Raw materials	1,491	1,335	1,312
Work in progress	274	283	291
Finished goods	4,754	4,639	4,426
Gross inventories	6,519	6,257	6,029
Provisions for impairment in value			
Raw materials	(97)	(95)	(98)
Work in progress	(7)	(9)	(10)
Finished goods	(302)	(320)	(292)
Provisions for impairment in value	(406)	(424)	(400)
Net	6,113	5,833	5,629

In 2008, cost of sales came to €32,923 million (2007: 32,235 million; 2006: €1,180 million).

Impairment losses on inventories recorded in the 2008 income statement totaled €128 million (2007: €159 million). Impairment reversals, due to increases in the net realizable value of inventories, amounted to €92 million in 2008 (2007: €94 million) and were recorded as a deduction from impairment losses for the year.

NOTE 9 - TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

(in € millions)	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2006
Gross value	6,084	6,595	6,687
Provisions for impairment in value	(437)	(384)	(386)
Trade accounts receivable	5,647	6,211	6,301
Advances to suppliers	561	635	582
Prepaid payroll taxes	26	23	22
Other prepaid and recoverable taxes (other than income tax)	356	327	293
Accrued income	13	12	14
Other	476	489	485
- France	179	122	116
- Other western European countries	134	156	168
- North America	(11)	16	
- Emerging countries and Asia	174	195	201
Provisions for impairment in value	(8)	(5)	(6)
Other receivables	1,424	1,481	1,390

In 2008, a total of €101 million was added to provisions for impairment of trade and other accounts receivable (2007: €76 million; 2006: €56 million) and €57 million was released in respect of recoveries or bad debts (2007: €74 million; 2006: €75 million). Bad debt write-offs are also reported under this caption, for €8 million in 2008 (2007: €44 million; 2006: €48 million).

Trade and other accounts receivable are mainly due within one year, with the result that their carrying amount approximates fair value.

The Group considers that its exposure to concentrations of credit risk is limited due to its diversified business lineup, broad customer base and global presence. Past-due trade receivables are regularly monitored and analyzed, and provisions are set aside when appropriate. Net past-due trade receivables amounted to €45 million at December 31, 2008 (including €156 million over three months past-due), versus €765 million at December 31, 2007 and €777 million at December 31, 2006. The increase in 2008 was mainly due to changes in Group structure.

NOTE 10 – EQUITY

Number of shares outstanding

At December 31, 2008, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain's capital stock comprised 382,571,985 shares of common stock with a par value of €4 each, all in the same class (December 31, 2007: 374,216,152 shares; December 31, 2006: 368,419,723 shares).

During 2008, 8,272,947 new shares were issued to members of the 2008 Group Savings Plan and 82,886 shares were issued on exercise of stock options (of which 50,489 options included in the November 20, 2003 plan, 31,597 options included in the November 18, 2004 plan and 800 options included in the November 17, 2005 plan).

At the Shareholders' Meeting of June 7, 2007, shareholders authorized the Board of Directors of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain to:

- Issue, on one or several occasions, up to 147.5 million new shares with or without pre-emptive or priority subscription rights for existing shareholders (twelfth, thirteenth, fourteenth and fifteenth resolutions).
- Issue, on one or several occasions, up to 18.5 million new shares to members of the Group Savings Plan (sixteenth resolution).
- Grant stock options exercisable for shares representing up to 3% of capital stock on the Meeting date, i.e. 11,214,726 options exercisable for the same number of shares (seventeenth resolution). In the eighteenth resolution, the Board was authorized to make stock grants representing up to 1% of the capital stock on the Meeting date, i.e. grants of 3,738,242 shares. If this authorization were to be used, the stock grants would be deducted from the shares available for the stock option plan.

If these authorizations and earlier authorizations to grant stock options (see Note 11) were used in full, this would potentially have the effect of increasing the number of shares outstanding to 565,551,958.

The Board of Directors used these authorizations to grant 3,673,000 stock options on November 22, 2007 (subsequently reduced to 3,623,000 options) and 3,551,900 options on November 20, 2008.

In addition, at the Shareholders' Meeting of June 5, 2008, the Board of Directors was authorized to issue equity warrants in the event of a public tender offer for the Company's shares, in accordance with the French Act of March 31, 2006 on takeover bids (fourteenth resolution). Under this authorization, the Group may issue up to €75 million worth of stock (excluding premiums), representing 93,750,000 shares.

Treasury stock

Saint-Gobain shares held by Compagnie de Saint-Gobain are shown as a deduction from shareholders' equity under "Treasury stock" at historical cost. At December 31, 2008, 4,545,149 shares were held in treasury (December 31, 2007: 4,375,969; December 31, 2006: 6,739,668).

No shares were directly purchased on the market in 2008 or 2007 (2006: 1,976,708 shares). A total of 115,490 shares were sold upon exercise of stock options (2007: 2,460,265; 2006: 3,620,201). No shares were cancelled in 2008, 2007 or 2006.

The liquidity contract set up with Exane BNP Paribas on November 16, 2007 was rolled over in 2008. This contract complies with the Code of Ethics adopted by the *Association Française des Entreprises d'Investissement* (AFEI) recognized by the *Autorité des Marchés Financiers* (AMF). During 2008, 2,829,382 shares were purchased and 2,614,235 shares were sold under the contract (2007: 243,277 shares purchased and 146,711 shares sold).

In view of their highly liquid nature, funds allocated to the liquidity contract but not invested in Saint-Gobain stock are classified as cash and cash equivalents.

NOTE 11 – STOCK OPTION PLANS

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain has stock option plans available to certain employees, and an employee stock purchase plan referred to as the Group Savings Plan ("PEG").

Stock options are exercisable for Saint-Gobain shares at a price based on the average share price for the 20 trading days preceding the grant date. Since 1999, no stock options have been granted at a discount to the average price. Some plans are performance stock option plans.

Since the November 2007 plan, all stock options are subject to a four-year vesting period. Under earlier plans, the vesting period was three years for non-residents and four years for residents. Options must be exercised within ten years of the date of grant. All rights to options are forfeited if the holder leaves the Group, unless expressly agreed otherwise by both the Chairman of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and the Appointments Committee of the Board of Directors.

All options granted between 1999 and 2002 were exercisable for existing shares, while those granted between 2003 and 2007 were exercisable for new shares. For the November 20, 2008 plan, the origin of the shares will be determined at the latest at the end of the four-year vesting period. If an option holder were to die or any of the events provided for in the General Tax Code were to occur during the four-year vesting period, only options exercisable for new shares would vest.

Movements relating to stock options outstanding in 2006, 2007 and 2008 are summarized below:

	€4 par value shares	Average exercise price (in €)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2005	21,738,119	38.06
Options granted	4,025,800	58.08
Options exercised	(3,974,551)	34.79
Options forfeited	(241,400)	40.26
Options outstanding at December 31, 2006	21,547,968	42.38
Options granted	3,673,000	71.56
Options exercised	(3,178,885)	33.04
Options forfeited	(50,000)	58.10
Options outstanding at December 31, 2007	21,992,083	48.56
Options granted	3,551,900	28.62
Options exercised	(198,376)	33.33
Options forfeited	(50,000)	71.56
Options outstanding at December 31, 2008	25,295,607	45.84

At December 31, 2008, 12,127,557 options were exercisable at an average exercise price of €39.21. At that date, 4,039,826 options were available for grant under the authorization given by the Shareholders' Meeting of June 7, 2007. This figure represents an overall ceiling for stock options and stock grants.

Stock option expense recorded in the income statement amounted to €41 million in 2008 (2007: €43 million; 2006: €39 million).

The fair value of options granted in 2008 amounted to €22 million. Fair value was calculated using a Black & Scholes-type option pricing model and the same assumptions as those used to measure the expense in accordance with IFRS 2.

The table below sum	marizes informa	tion about stock	contions on	utstanding at D	ecember 31, 2008:

Grant date	Options exercisable		Options not	exercisable	Total options outstanding	Type of options	
	Exercise price	Number of	Weighted	Exercise price	Number of	Number of	
	(in €)	options	average	(in €)	options	options	
			remaining contractual life				
			(in months)				
			(
1999	40.63	324,124	11			324,124	Purchase
2000	37.72	865,760	23			865,760	Purchase
2001	40.22	1,708,804	35			1,708,804	Purchase
2002	23.53	1,183,825	47			1,183,825	Purchase
2003	35.67	2,675,491	59			2,675,491	Subscription
2004	43.56	3,630,853	71	43.56		3,630,853	Subscription
2005	45.71	1,738,700	83	45.71	2,018,550	3,757,250	Subscription
2006	58.08		95	58.08	3,974,600	3,974,600	Subscription
2007	71.56		107	71.56	3,623,000	3,623,000	Subscription
2008	28.62		119	28.62	3,551,900	3,551,900	Subscription or purchase
Total		12,127,557			13,168,050	25,295,607	

Following the four-for-one stock split of June 27, 2002, the number of options under the 1999, 2000 and 2001 plans has been multiplied by four in order to permit meaningful year-on-year comparisons.

NOTE 12 – GROUP SAVINGS PLAN ("PEG")

The PEG employee stock purchase plan is open to all Group employees in France and in most other countries where the Group does business. Eligible employees must have completed a minimum of three months' service with the Group. The purchase price of the shares, as set by the Chief Executive Officer on behalf of the Board of Directors, corresponds to the average of the opening share prices quoted over the 20 trading days preceding the pricing date.

In 2008, the Group issued 8,272,947 shares with a par value of €4 (2007: 4,981,609 shares) to members of the PEG, for a total of €353 million (2007: €294 million).

In addition to the standard plans, leveraged plans are offered to employees in countries where this is allowed under local law and tax rules.

Standard plans

Under the standard plans, eligible employees are offered the opportunity to invest in Saint-Gobain stock at a 20% discount. The stock is subject to a five or ten-year lock-up, except following the occurrence of certain events. The compensation cost recorded in accordance with IFRS 2 is measured by reference to the fair value of a discount offered on restricted stock (i.e. stock subject to a lock-up). The cost of the lock-up for the employee is defined as the cost of a two-step strategy that involves first selling the restricted stock forward five or ten years and then purchasing the same number of shares on the spot market and financing the purchase with debt. The borrowing cost is estimated at the rate that would be charged by a bank to an individual with an average risk profile for a general purpose five- or ten-year consumer loan repayable at maturity (see Note 1 for details of the calculation).

The standard plan cost recorded in the income statement amounted to €3.4 million in 2008 (2007: €1.9 million), net of the lock-up cost for employees of €29.8 million (2007: €30.3 million).

The following table shows the main features of the standard plans, the amounts invested in the plans and the valuation assumptions applied in 2008 and 2007.

	2008	2007
Plan characteristics		
Grant date	February 22	February 23
Plan duration (in years)	5 or 10	5 or 10
Benchmark price (in €)	51.75	72.56
Purchase price (in €)	41.41	58.05
Discount (in %)	20.00%	20.00%
(a) Total discount on the grant date (in %)	22.05%	21.11%
Employee investments (€millions)	168.7	205.4
Total number of shares purchased	4,073,045	3,539,025
Valuation assumptions		
Employees interest rate (1)	7.57%	7.36%
5-year risk-free interest rate	3.61%	4.02%
Repo rate	0.25%	0.25%
(b) Lock-up cost (in %)	17.17%	15.24%
(c) Total cost to the Group (in %) (a-b)	4.88%	5.87%

⁽¹⁾ A 0.5-point decline in borrowing costs for the employee would have an impact of €3.1 million on 2008 cost as calculated in accordance with IFRS 2.

Leveraged plans

Under the leveraged plans introduced in 2007 and 2008, eligible employees are offered the opportunity to invest in Saint-Gobain stock at a 15% discount. The yield profile of the leveraged plans is different from that of the standard plans, as a third-party bank tops up the employee's initial investment, essentially multiplying by ten the amount paid by the employee. The bank intermediation allows to secure the initial funding, to secure the yield for the employee and to increase the indexation on a leveraged number of directly subscribed shares.

The plan costs are calculated under IFRS 2 in the same way as for non-leveraged plans (see Note 1), but also take into account the advantage accruing to employees who have access to share prices with a volatility profile adapted to institutional investors (corresponding to the opportunity gain in the table below).

The leveraged plan cost recorded in the income statement amounted to €3.5 million in 2008 (2007: €4.2 million), net of the lock-up cost for employees and the opportunity gain of €29.9 million (2007: €14.2 million).

The following table shows the main features of the leveraged plans, the amounts invested in the plans and the valuation assumptions applied in 2008 and 2007.

	2008	2007
Plan characteristics		
Grant date	February 22	February 23
Plan duration (in years)	5	5
Benchmark price (in €)	51.75	72.56
Purchase price (in €)	43.99	61.68
Discount (in %)	15.00%	15.00%
(a) Total discount on the grant date (in %)	17.18%	16.19%
Employee investments (€millions)	18.5	8.9
Total investment in the plan (€millions)	184.8	89.0
Total number of shares purchased	4,199,902	1,442,584
Valuation assumptions		
Employees interest rate (1)	7.57%	7.36%
5-year risk-free interest rate	3.61%	4.02%
Repo rate	0.25%	0.25%
Retail/institutional volatility spread (2)	5.50%	4.00%
(b) Lock-up cost (in %) (3)	15.00%	15.00%
(c) Opportunity gain (in %)	1.62%	1.65%
(d) Total cost to the Group (in %) (a-b+c)	3.80%	2.84%

⁽¹⁾ A 0.5-point decline in borrowing costs for the employee would have no impact on the 2008 cost as calculated in accordance with IFRS 2 because the lock-up cost exceeds the discount.

⁽²⁾ A 0.5-point increase in the retail/institutional rate spread would have an impact of €0.5 million on the 2008 cost as calculated in accordance with IFRS 2.

⁽³⁾ The interest rate used to calculate the lock-up cost is capped at the discount percentage.

NOTE 13 – PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
	2008	2007	2006
(in € millions)			
Pensions	1,681	1,058	1,415
Length-of-service awards	207	233	236
Post-employment healthcare benefits	367	341	363
Total provisions for pensions and other post-employment			
benefit obligations	2,255	1,632	2,014
Healthcare benefits	50	44	51
Long-term disability benefits	38	38	45
Other long-term benefits	100	93	93
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	2,443	1,807	2,203

The following table shows projected benefit obligations under pension and other post-employment benefit plans and the related plan assets:

	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2006
$(in \in millions)$			
Projected benefit obligations	2,255	1,632	2,014
Plan assets	206	147	120
Net projected benefit obligations	2,049	1,485	1,894

Changes in pension and other post-employment benefit obligations are as follows:

(in € millions)	obligations	plan assets	Other	Pensions and other post- employment benefit obligations
At January 1, 2006	8,765	(5,773)	211	3,203
Movements during the year	0,705	(3,773)	211	3,203
Service cost	217			217
Interest cost/return on plan assets	417	(387)		30
Employer contributions	117	(855)		(855)
Employee contributions Employee contributions		(26)		(26)
Actuarial gains and losses and asset ceiling	(225)	, ,	(17)	(424)
Translation adjustment	, ,	(182) 132	(17)	, ,
<u>s</u>	(212)	307		(80)
Benefit payments	(446)	307		(139)
Past service cost	26	(15)		0
Changes in Group structure	36	(15)		21
Curtailments/settlements	(3)			(3)
Other	(5)		(45)	(50)
Total	(221)	(1,026)	(62)	(1,309)
At December 31, 2006	8,544	(6,799)	149	1,894
Movements during the year				
Service cost	200			200
Interest cost/return on plan assets	430	(451)		(21)
Employer contributions		(157)		(157)
Employee contributions		(25)		(25)
Actuarial gains and losses and asset ceiling	(463)	195	61	(207)
Translation adjustment	(525)	468	(4)	(61)
Benefit payments	(439)	350		(89)
Past service cost				0
Changes in Group structure	(35)	14	(6)	(27)
Curtailments/settlements	(13)			(13)
Other			(9)	(9)
Fotal	(845)	394	42	(409)
At December 31, 2007	7,699	(6,405)	191	1,485
Movements during the year				
Service cost	167			167
Interest cost/return on plan assets	420	(431)		(11)
Employer contributions		(172)		(172)
Employee contributions		(22)		(22)
Actuarial gains and losses and asset ceiling	(583)	1,147	83	647
Translation adjustment	(560)	629	(27)	42
Benefit payments	(440)	341	(21)	(99)
Past service cost	(440)	571		0
Changes in Group structure	137	(92)		45
Curtailments/settlements		(92)		
	(3)	20	(25)	(3)
Other Total	(34) (896)	29 1,429	(25)	(30) 564
At December 31, 2008	6,803	(4,976)	222	2,049

The following tables show the funded status of pension and other post-employment benefit obligations by geographic area:

December 31, 2008	France	Other western European countries	North America	Rest of the world	Net total		
(in € millions)							
Projected banefit obligation, funded plans	319	2.610	1.005	86	6.010		
Projected benefit obligation - funded plans Projected benefit obligation - unfunded	319	3,610	1,995	80	6,010		
plans	177	225	361	30	793		
Fair value of plan assets	136	3,437	1,332	71	4,976		
Deficit	360	398	1,024	45	1,827		
Unrecognized past service cost					0		
Asset ceiling					137		
Insured plans					85		
Pensions and other post-employment ben	efit obligations				2,049		
Plan surpluses classified as assets held for	sale				0		
Provisions for pensions and other post-em	ployment benefit	obligations clas	sified as liabilitie	es held for sale	0		
Provisions for pensions and other post-	employment ber	nefit obligations	1		2,049		
December 31, 2007	France	Other western European countries	North America	Rest of the world	Net total		
(in € millions)							
Projected benefit obligation - funded plans	326	4,648	1,818	114	6,906		
Projected benefit obligation - unfunded plans	192	242	336	23	793		
Fair value of plan assets	171	4,496	1,632	106	6,405		
Deficit	347	394	522	31	1,294		
Unrecognized past service cost					0		
Asset ceiling					81		
Insured plans					110		
Pensions and other post-employment ben-	efit obligations				1,485		
Plan surpluses classified as assets held for					0		
Provisions for pensions and other post-em	ployment benefit	t obligations clas	sified as liabiliti	es held for sale	0		
Provisions for pensions and other post-	employment ber	nefit obligations	1		1,485		
December 31, 2006	France	Other western European countries	North America	Rest of the world	Net total		
(in € millions)							
Projected benefit obligation - funded plans	328	5,366	1,958	123	7,775		
Projected benefit obligation - unfunded plans	190	150	411	18	769		
Fair value of plan assets	166	4,784	1,742	107	6,799		
Deficit	352	732	627	34	1,745		
Unrecognized past service cost					0		
Asset ceiling							
Insured plans					142		
Pensions and other post-employment benefit obligations 1,9							
Prepaid pension costs classified as assets held for sale 2							
Provisions for pensions and other post-em				es held for sale	16		
Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefit obligations 1,894							

Description of defined benefit plans

The Group's main defined benefit plans are as follows:

In France, in addition to length-of-service awards, there are three defined benefit plans all of which are final salary plans. These plans were closed to new entrants by the companies concerned between 1969 and 1997.

In Germany, retirement plans provide pensions and death and disability benefits for employees. These plans have been closed to new entrants since 1996.

In the Netherlands, ceilings have been introduced for supplementary pension plans, above which they are converted into defined contribution plans.

In the United Kingdom, retirement plans provide pensions as well as death and permanent disability benefits. These defined benefit plans – which are based on employees' average salaries over their final years of employment – have been closed to new entrants since 2001.

In the United States and Canada, the Group's defined benefit plans are final salary plans. Since January 1, 2001, new employees have been offered a defined contribution plan.

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits amounted to €188 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €175 million; December 31, 2006: €189 million), and covered all other employee benefits, notably long-service awards in France, jubilees in Germany and employee benefits in the United States. The related projected benefit obligation is generally calculated on an actuarial basis using the same rules as for pension obligations.

Measurement of pension and other post-employment benefit obligations

Pensions and other post-employment benefit obligations are determined on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, based on estimated final salaries.

The Group's total pension and other post-employment benefit obligations amounted to €6,803 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €7,699 million; December 31, 2006: €8,544 million).

Plan assets

For defined benefit plans, plan assets have been progressively built up by contributions, primarily in the United States, the United Kingdom and Germany. Contributions paid by the Group totaled €172 million in 2008 (2007: €157 million; 2006: €855 million). The actual return on plan assets was a negative €716 million in 2008 (2007: positive return of €256 million; 2006: positive return of €569 million).

Contributions for 2006 included exceptional payments of €672 million, of which €516 million to transfer a substantial portion of German pension obligations to an external fund.

The fair value of plan assets – which came to €4,976 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €6,405 million; December 31, 2006: €6,799 million) – is deducted from the Group's projected benefit obligation, as estimated using the projected unit credit method, in order to calculate the unfunded obligation to be covered by a provision.

Plan assets are mainly composed of equities (46%) and bonds (46%), with the remaining 8% invested in other asset classes.

Actuarial assumptions used to measure projected benefit obligations and plan assets

Assumptions related to mortality, employee turnover and future salary increases take into account the economic conditions specific to each country and company.

The assumptions used in 2008 for the main plans were as follows:

(in %)	France	Other Europ	United States	
	-	Euro zone	United Kingdom	
Discount rate Salary increases	6.25% 2.40%	6.25% 2.75% to 3.25%	6.35% 4.20% to 4.50%	6.25% 3.00%
Expected return on plan assets	5.00%	3.50% to 5.25%	6.25%	8.75%
Inflation rate	2.00%	1.90% to 2.75%	2.75%	2.00%

The assumptions used in 2007 for the main plans were as follows:

(in %)	France	Other Europ	United States	
		Euro zone	United Kingdom	
Discount rate	5.50%	5.50%	5.75%	6.25%
Salary increases	2.40%	2.50% to 3.60%	3.65% to 4.25%	3.00%
Expected return on plan assets	5.00%	3.50% to 6.50%	6.50% to 6.90%	8.75%
Inflation rate	1.70%	1.80% to 3.50%	3.15%	2.00%

A 0.5-point decrease in the discount rate would lead to an increase in projected benefit obligations of around €142 million for the US plans, €110 million for the euro-zone plans and €175 million for the UK plans.

The same assumptions concerning mortality, employee turnover and interest rates are used to determine the Group's projected benefit obligations for other long-term employee benefits. In the United States, retirees' healthcare costs are projected to rise by 9% per year. A 1-point increase in this rate would lead to an increase in the related projected benefit obligation of around €1 million.

Expected rates of return on plan assets are estimated by country and by plan, taking into account the different classes of assets held by the plan and the outlook in the various financial markets. The markets' poor performance in 2008, due to the financial crisis, severely affected the overall actual return on plan assets. The expected return on plan assets was €431 million; however, the actual return was a negative €716 million. A 0.5-point increase or decrease in the expected return on plan assets would have an impact of approximately €27 million on income.

Actuarial gains and losses

In 2006, the Group elected to apply the option available under IAS 19 and record in equity actuarial gains and losses, and asset ceiling change (see Note 1). In 2008, €647 million was recognized in equity (increase in provisions). This amount includes €564 million in actuarial differences and €33 million corresponding to an increase in the asset ceiling. In 2007, €207 million was recognized in equity (decrease in provisions). Experience adjustments (corresponding to the effects of differences between previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred) led to a €25 million increase in the projected benefit obligation and a €1,147 million reduction in plan assets.

Plan surpluses and the asset ceiling

When plan assets exceed the projected benefit obligation, the excess is recognized in other non-current assets under "Plan surplus" (see Note 7) provided that it corresponds to future economic benefits. If no future economic benefits are available, the plan surplus is reduced by applying the asset ceiling and adjusting equity.

Contributions to insured plans

This item corresponds to amounts payable in the future to insurance companies under externally funded pension plans for Group employees in Spain and totaled €5 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €110 million; December 31, 2006: €142 million).

Plan surpluses and provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits classified as assets and liabilities held for sale

No plan surpluses or provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits were classified as assets and liabilities held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 at December 31, 2008. Plan surpluses and provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits classified as assets and liabilities held for sale at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 amounted to €2 million and €18 million respectively (see Note 2).

Employee benefits expense

The cost of the Group's pension and other post-employment benefit plans (excluding other employee benefits) is as follows:

	2008	2007	2006
(in € millions)	2008	2007	2000
Service cost	167	200	217
Interest cost	420	430	417
Return on plan assets	(431)	(451)	(387)
Amortization of actuarial gains and losses		0	0
Curtailments and settlements	(3)	(13)	(3)
Pensions, length-of-service awards and other post-			
employment benefits	153	166	244
Employee contributions	(22)	(25)	(26)
Total	131	141	218

Additional information about pension costs

Pension contributions for 2008 represented an estimated €874 million (2007: €772 million), including €419 million for government-sponsored basic pension schemes (2007: €388 million), €127 million for government-sponsored supplementary pension schemes, mainly in France (2007: €123 million), and €328 million for corporate-sponsored supplementary pension plans (2007: €261 million), of which €267 million for defined benefit plans (2007: €205 million) and €61 million for defined contribution plans (2007: €56 million).

NOTE 14 – CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES

Until December 31, 2006, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain was assessed for income tax on its consolidated taxable income. Under this arrangement, the Group's share of the aggregate amount of income taxes paid by Group companies included in the worldwide tax group was taken into account when determining consolidated taxable income. Since January 1, 2007, tax consolidation only applies at a local level.

The pre-tax income of consolidated companies is as follows:

	2008	2007	2006
$(in \in millions)$			
Net income	1,437	1,543	1,682
less:			
Share in net income of associates	11	14	7
Income taxes	(638)	(926)	(899)
Pre-tax income of consolidated companies	2,064	2,455	2,574

Income tax expense breaks down as follows:

	2008	2007	2006
(in € millions)			
Current taxes	(639)	(821)	(802)
France	(150)	(144)	(184)
Outside France	(489)	(677)	(618)
Deferred taxes	1	(105)	(97)
France	(16)	(13)	(63)
Outside France	17	(92)	(34)
Total income tax expense	(638)	(926)	(899)

The effective tax rate paid by the Group on its consolidated taxable income in 2006 was as follows:

	2006
(in %)	
Current income tax rate	33
French surtax	0
Royalties and net capital gains taxed at lower rates	(1)
Other deferred and miscellaneous taxes	3
Effective tax rate	35

The effective tax rate paid by the Group under the new tax system applicable as from 2007 was as follows:

	2007	2008
(in %)		
Tax rate in France	34.4	34.4
Impact of tax rates outside France	(5.7)	(4.7)
Provision for competition litigation not deductible for tax purposes	8.2	4.2
Taxable capital gains	(2.9)	1.8
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets	2.1	(0.1)
Tax loss carryforwards	(1.2)	(0.1)
Other deferred and miscellaneous taxes	2.6	(4.7)
Effective tax rate	37.5	30.8

In the balance sheet, changes in net deferred tax liabilities break down as follows:

	Net deferred tax liability
(in € millions)	
At January 1, 2006	702
Deferred tax expense/(benefit)	97
Changes in deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses recognized in accordance with IAS 19 (Note 13)	131
Translation adjustments	31
Impact of changes in Group structure and other	(87)
At December 31, 2006	874
Deferred tax expense/(benefit)	105
Changes in deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses recognized in accordance with IAS 19 (Note 13)	67
Translation adjustments	(12)
Impact of changes in Group structure and other	(85)
At December 31, 2007	949
Deferred tax expense/(benefit)	(1)
Changes in deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses recognized in accordance with IAS 19 (Note 13)	(228)
Translation adjustments	(111)
Impact of changes in Group structure and other	14
At December 31, 2008	623

The table below shows the principal components of net deferred tax liabilities:

(in € millions)	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2006
Deferred tax assets	507	328	348
Deferred tax liabilities	(1,130)	(1,277)	(1,222)
Net deferred tax liability	(623)	(949)	(874)
Pensions	561	465	641
Brands	(781)	(844)	(889)
Depreciation & amortization, accelerated capital allowances and untaxed provisions	(992)	(1,029)	(1,127)
Tax loss carryforwards	140	97	181
Other	449	362	320
Total	(623)	(949)	(874)

Since January 1, 2007, deferred taxes are offset at the level of each tax entity, i.e., by tax group where applicable (France, the United Kingdom, Spain, Germany and the United States).

Deferred tax assets of €07 million were recognized in 2008 (2007: €28 million), including €372 million in the United States (2007: €14 million). Deferred tax liabilities recognized in 2008 amounted to €1,130 million (2007: €1,277 million), including €457 million in France (2007: €460 million) and €271 million in the United Kingdom (2007: €392 million). Deferred tax liabilities recognized in other countries represented considerably smaller amounts.

Deferred tax assets whose recovery is not considered probable totaled €175 million at December 31, 2008 and €198 million at December 31, 2007.

NOTE 15 – OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

(in € millions)	Provisions for claims and litigation	Provisions for environmental risks	Provisions for restructuring costs	Provisions for personnel costs	Provisions for customer warranties	Provisions for other contingencies	Investment- related liabilities	Total
(in Change)								
At January 1, 2006								
Current portion	131	23	98	21	74	73	260	680
Non-current portion	245	122	99	32	83	164	130	875
Total	376	145	197	53	157	237	390	1,555
Movements during the year								
Additions	98	14	142	20	82	87		443
Reversals	(1)	(2)	(16)	(6)	(21)	(17)		(63)
Utilizations	(78)	(12)	(124)	(12)	(43)	(30)		(299
Changes in Group structure			(2)			4	(7)	(5)
Other (reclassifications and translation adjustments)	(34)	(14)	4	1	(11)	15	(189)	(228)
Total	(15)	(14)	4	3	7	59	(196)	(152
At December 31, 2006								
Current portion	103	25	110	25	72	104	28	467
Non-current portion	258	106	91	31	92	192	166	936
Total	361	131	201	56	164	296	194	1,403
Movements during the year								
Additions	786	21	117	34	81	84		1,123
Reversals	(1)	(2)	(32)	(7)	(22)	(37)		(101
Utilizations	(79)		(119)	(13)	(48)			(303)
Changes in Group structure	(,	()	(- /	(- /	7	3	(10)	0
Other (reclassifications and translation adjustments)	(39)	6	(7)	2	(10)	50	(94)	(92
Total	667	15	(41)	16	8	66	(104)	627
At December 31, 2007								
Current portion	224	31	84	31	80	78	19	547
Non-current portion	804	115	76	41	92	284	71	1,483
Total	1,028	146	160	72	172	362	90	2,030
Movements during the year								
Additions	528	12	75	28	59	157		859
Reversals	(1)		(17)	(7)	(24)			(188
Utilizations	(198)		(73)	(15)	(49)	` ′		(378)
Changes in Group structure	(-, -)	8	3	()	13	17	(2)	39
Other (reclassifications and translation adjustments)	(21)		(7)	(2)	57	(20)	31	48
Total	308	12	(19)	4	56	(10)	29	380
At December 31, 2008								
Current portion	95	24	80	32	81	120	28	460
Non-current portion	1,241	134	61	44	147	232	91	1,950
Total	1,336	158	141	76	228	352	119	2,410

Provisions for claims and litigation

In 2008, provisions for claims and litigation covered potential costs arising from investigations by the competition authorities involving the Flat Glass sector and from asbestos-related litigation. These provisions are described in further detail in Note 26.

In view of developments in the competition authorities' investigation and the appeal lodged by the Group, as well as the estimated duration of the appeal procedure and the period covered by the financial guarantee, the provision at December 31, 2008 is classified in "Other non-current liabilities" and the provision at December 31, 2007 has been reclassified in "Other non-current liabilities" in the 2007 comparative financial information.

Provisions for environmental risks

Provisions for environmental risks cover costs relating to environmental protection measures, as well as site rehabilitation and clean-up costs (see Note 27).

Provisions for restructuring costs

Provisions for restructuring costs came to €141 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €160 million; December 31, 2006: €201 million), including net additions of €58 million during the year. The provisions primarily concern Germany (€32 million), the United Kingdom (€24 million), Benelux (€23 million) and the United States (€17 million).

Provisions for personnel costs

These provisions primarily cover indemnities due to employees that are unrelated to the Group's reorganization plans.

Provisions for customer warranties

These provisions cover the Group's commitments under the warranties granted to customers.

Provisions for other contingencies

At December 31, 2008, provisions for other contingencies amounted to €52 million and mainly concerned France (€108 million), the United States (€14 million), Germany (€59 million), Latin America (€36 million), Italy (€23 million) and Spain (€22 million).

Investment-related liabilities

In 2008, changes in investment-related liabilities primarily concerned additional purchase consideration and deferred payments on acquisitions.

In 2007, changes in this item mainly reflected buyouts of minority interests in the Flat Glass sector. Investment-related liabilities at end-2007 included additional purchase consideration and deferred payments on acquisitions in the Building Distribution, Packaging and Construction Products sectors.

At December 31, 2006, investment-related liabilities included mainly additional purchase consideration and put options granted to minority interests in the Flat Glass and Packaging sectors.

NOTE 16 – TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
Trade accounts payable	5,613	5,752	5,519
Customer deposits	641	647	591
Payable to suppliers of non-current assets	400	478	402
Grants received	63	54	53
Accrued personnel expenses	1,022	1,023	1,006
Accrued taxes other than on income	421	410	378
Other	843	813	906
- France	221	166	139
- Germany	65	76	73
- United Kingdom	90	136	153
- Other western European countries	193	167	214
- North America	76	82	109
- Emerging countries and Asia	198	186	218
Total other payables and accrued expenses	3,390	3,425	3,336

Trade and other accounts payable are due mainly within one year, with the result that their carrying amount approximates fair value.

NOTE 17 – RISK FACTORS

MARKET RISKS (LIQUIDITY, INTEREST RATE, FOREIGN EXCHANGE, ENERGY AND CREDIT RISKS)

Liquidity risk on financing

The Group's overall exposure to liquidity risk on net debt is managed by the Treasury and Financing Department of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain. Except in special cases, all of the Group companies' long-term financing needs and the majority of their short-term financing needs are met by Compagnie de Saint-Gobain or by the national delegations' cash pools.

The main objective of liquidity risk management processes is to guarantee that the Group's financing sources will be rolled over and to optimize annual borrowing costs. Long-term debt therefore systematically represents a high percentage of overall debt. At the same time, the maturity schedules of long-term debt are set in such a way that replacement capital markets issues are spread over time.

Bonds are the main source of long-term financing used by the Group. However, it also uses a Medium Term Notes program, perpetual bonds, participating securities, bank borrowings, and finance leases.

Short-term debt is composed of borrowings under French Commercial Paper (*Billets de Trésorerie*), Euro Commercial Paper and US Commercial Paper programs, receivables securitization programs and bank overdrafts. Short-term financial assets comprise marketable securities and cash equivalents.

The US Commercial Paper, Euro Commercial Paper, and *Billets de Trésorerie* programs are backed by confirmed syndicated and bilateral lines of credit.

A breakdown of long- and short-term debt is provided by type and maturity in Note 18. Details of amounts, currencies, and acceleration clauses of the Group's financing programs and confirmed credit lines are also discussed in Note 18.

Liquidity risk on short-term investments

Short-term investments consist of bank deposits and mutual fund units. To reduce liquidity or volatility risk, whenever possible, the Group invests in money market and/or bond funds.

Interest rate risk

The Group's overall exposure to interest rate risk on net debt is managed by the Treasury and Financing Department of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain using the same financing structures and methods as for liquidity risk. Where subsidiaries use derivatives to hedge interest rate risks, their counterparty is Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, the Group parent company.

The objective of interest rate risk management processes is to fix the cost of medium-term debt and optimize annual borrowing costs. The derivative financial instruments used to hedge these risks comprise interest rate swaps, options – including caps, floors and swaptions – and forward rate agreements.

Based on a sensitivity analysis of the Group's total net debt after hedging, a 50-basis point increase in interest rates at the balance sheet date would lead to a €22 million increase in equity and a €12 million reduction in income.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risks are managed by hedging commercial transactions carried out by Group entities in currencies other than their functional currencies. Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and its subsidiaries use options and forward contracts to hedge exposure arising from current and future commercial transactions. The subsidiaries set up options exclusively through the Group parent company, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain, which then takes a reverse position on the market.

Most forward contracts are for periods of around three months. However, forward contracts taken out to hedge firm orders may have terms of up to two years.

The majority of transactions are hedged, invoice by invoice or order by order, with Saint-Gobain Compensation, the entity set up to manage the Group's foreign exchange risks. Saint-Gobain Compensation hedges these risks solely by means of forward purchases and sales of foreign currencies. This enables companies using the services of Saint-Gobain Compensation to hedge exposure arising from commercial transactions as soon as the risk emerges. Saint-Gobain Compensation reverses all of its positions with Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and does not therefore have any open positions.

The exposure of other Group companies to foreign exchange risks is hedged wherever possible with Compagnie de Saint-Gobain on receipt of orders sent by the subsidiaries, or with the national delegations' cash pools. In other cases, hedges are contracted with the subsidiaries' banks.

The Group monitors its exposure to foreign exchange risk using a monthly reporting system which captures the foreign exchange positions taken by the Group's subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008, 94% of the Group's foreign exchange position was hedged.

The net foreign exchange exposure of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not those presented below was as follows at December 31, 2008:

(in millions of euro equivalents)	Long	Short	
EUR	8	10	
USD	17	21	
Other currencies	1	2	
Total	26	33	

Based on a sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2008, a 10% increase in the exchange rates of the main currencies used by subsidiaries would have the following negative impact on net income:

	Net gain or
(in € millions)	loss
EUR	(0.2)
USD	(0.5)

A 10% fall in exchange rates would have had a positive impact on net income in the same amounts (assuming that all other variables were unchanged).

Energy risk

The Group limits its exposure to energy price fluctuations by using swaps and options to hedge part of its natural gas purchases in certain European countries and the United States, and its fuel oil purchases in Europe. The swaps

and options are contracted in the functional currency of the entities concerned. Hedges of gas and fuel oil purchases are managed by a steering committee comprising members of the Group Finance Department, the Group Purchasing Department (Saint-Gobain Achats - SGA) and the relevant delegations.

These hedges (excluding fixed-price purchases negotiated directly with suppliers by the Purchasing Department) are arranged by the Group Treasury and Financing Department in accordance with instructions received from SGA.

The steering committee does not manage hedges of energy purchases or purchases in geographical areas not mentioned above because:

- The volumes involved are not material, or
- There are no international price indexes used by local players in the geographical areas concerned, and transactions are therefore based on either administered prices or strictly national indexes.

In both of these cases, local purchasing units manage energy risk primarily through fixed-price purchases.

The Group may from time to time enter into contracts to hedge purchases of other commodities, in accordance with the principles outlined above for gas and fuel oil.

Credit risk

To limit the Group's exposure to credit risk, the Treasury and Financing Department only deals with counterparties with a long-term rating of A- or above from Standard & Poor's or A3 or above by Moody's, with a stable outlook in both cases. Concentrations of credit risks are closely monitored to ensure that they remain at reasonable levels.

Note 19 provides details of the Group's interest rate and energy hedges, and the interest rates for the main items of debt. It also provides a breakdown of net debt by currency and interest rate (fixed or variable), as well as the interest rate repricing schedule.

NOTE 18 – NET DEBT

Long- and short-term debt

Long- and short-term debt consists of the following:

(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
Bond issues and Medium Term Notes	7,604	8,048	6,223
Perpetual bonds and participating securities	203	203	203
Acquisition-related bank borrowings	2,034		2,989
Other long-term debt including finance leases	320	358	464
Debt recognized at fair value under the fair value option	157	146	
Fair value of interest rate hedges	47	(8)	(2)
Total long-term debt (excluding current portion)	10,365	8,747	9,877
o/w long-term portion of accrued interest	1	2	
Current portion of long-term debt	1,364	971	993
Short-term financing programs (US CP, Euro CP and Billets de Trésorerie)	690		221
Bank overdrafts and other short-term bank borrowings	798	922	1,331
Securitization	462	591	652
Fair value of derivatives relating to borrowings not qualified as hedges	(63)	(9)	(7)
Short-term debt and bank overdrafts	1,887	1,504	2,197
TOTAL GROSS DEBT	13,616	11,222	13,067
Cash and cash equivalents	(1,937)	(1,294)	(1,468)
TOTAL NET DEBT INCLUDING ACCRUED INTEREST	11,679	9,928	11,599

The fair value of gross long-term debt (including the current portion) managed by Compagnie de Saint-Gobain amounted to €10 billion at December 31, 2008, for a carrying amount of €11 billion.

Long-term debt repayment schedule

Gross long-term debt at December 31, 2008 can be analyzed as follows by maturity:

(in € millions)	Currency	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	Total
Bond issues and Medium Term Notes	EUR	999	4,508	2,431	7,938
	GBP	0	0	628	628
	Other	0	37	0	37
Perpetual bonds and participating securities	EUR	0	0	203	203
Acquisition-related bank borrowing	EUR	0	2,034	0	2,034
Other long-term debt including finance lease	All currencies	117	239	80	436
Debt recognized at fair value under the fair value option	EUR	0	157	0	157
Fair value of interest rate hedges	EUR	0	47	0	47
FOTAL, EXCLUDING ACCRUED INTEREST		1,116	7,022	3,342	11,480

At December 31, 2008, future interest payments on gross long-term debt (including the current portion) managed by Compagnie de Saint-Gobain were due as follows:

(in € millions)	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	Total
Future interest payments on gross long-term debt	540	1,187	663	2,390
TOTAL, EXCLUDING ACCRUED INTEREST	540	1,187	663	2,390

Interest on perpetual bonds and participating securities is calculated through to 2024.

Bond issues

On June 13, 2008, Saint-Gobain Nederland redeemed a GBP 150 million bond issue that had reached maturity.

On July 9, 2008, Saint-Gobain Nederland redeemed a €364.5 million bond issue that had reached maturity.

On September 16, 2008, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain carried out a €750 million five-year bond issue, due September 16, 2013.

Perpetual bonds

In 1985, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain issued €125 million worth of perpetual bonds – 25,000 bonds with a face value of €5,000 – paying interest at a variable rate indexed to Euribor. These securities are not redeemable and the interest paid on them is reported under "Borrowing costs".

At December 31, 2008, 18,496 perpetual bonds had been bought back and canceled, and 6,504 perpetual bonds were outstanding, representing a total face value of €33 million.

Participating securities

In the 1980s, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain issued 1,288,299 non-voting participating securities indexed to the average bond rate (TMO) and 194,633 non-voting participating securities indexed to Euribor (minimum). These securities are not redeemable and the interest paid on them is reported under "Borrowing costs".

Some of these securities have since been bought back on the market. At December 31, 2008, there were 606,883 TMO-indexed securities and 77,516 Euribor-indexed securities outstanding, representing an aggregate face value of €170 million.

Interest on the 606,883 TMO-indexed securities consists of a fixed portion and a variable portion based on the Group's earnings, subject to a cap of 1.25 times the TMO. Interest on the 77,516 Euribor-indexed securities comprises (i) a fixed portion of 7.5% per year applicable to 60% of the security, and (ii) a variable portion applicable to the remaining 40% of the security, which is linked to consolidated net income of the previous year, subject to the cap specified in the issue agreement.

Net interest paid on participating securities for 2008 came to €10.5 million (2007: €10.5 million).

Financing programs

The Group has a number of medium and long-term financing programs (Medium Term Notes) and short-term financing programs (Commercial Paper and *Billets de Trésorerie*).

At December 31, 2008, issuance under these programs was as follows:

Programs	Currency	Maturities	Authorized	Outstanding issues	Outstanding issues	Outstanding issues
			program at	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2007	December 31, 2006
(in millions of currency units)			December 31, 2008			
Medium Term Notes	EUR	1 to 30 years	10,000	3,917	3,356	968
US commercial paper	USD	Up to 12 months	1,000 *	-	-	100
Euro commercial paper	USD	Up to 12 months	1,000 *	-	-	-
Billets de trésorerie	EUR	Up to 12 months	3,000	690	-	145

^{*} Equivalent to €718.6 million based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2008.

In accordance with market practices, *Billets de Trésorerie*, Euro Commercial Paper and US Commercial Paper are generally issued with maturities of one to six months. They are treated as variable-rate debt, because they are rolled over at frequent intervals.

Syndicated and bilateral lines of credit

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain's US Commercial Paper, Euro Commercial Paper and *Billets de Trésorerie* programs are backed by a €2,000 million confirmed syndicated line of credit expiring in November 2011 and seven bilateral credit lines totaling €680 million at December 31, 2008.

The facility agreements for the bilateral credit lines include acceleration clauses whereby any drawdowns would become immediately repayable or the facility would be cancelled in the following cases:

- Failure to comply with either of the following ratios (assessed annually):
 - Ratio of net debt to operating income excluding depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets below 3.75.
 - o Interest cover (income before tax and net borrowing costs/net borrowing costs) above 3.

These covenants are included in the facility agreements for three bilateral lines representing €290 million.

• Default on bank borrowings in excess of certain ceilings.

No drawdowns were made against any of these facilities in 2008.

In 2005, a ⊕ billion syndicated line of credit was obtained to finance the acquisition of the BPB group and refinance certain debts of the BPB and Saint-Gobain groups. This facility is composed of three tranches: a three-year loan, a five-year loan, and a five-year revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2007, the three- and five-year loans had been repaid in full. The €500 million portion of the revolving facility granted for general corporate purposes expiring in August 2010 has not been drawn down and is therefore currently available.

The acceleration clause in the syndicated facility agreement would be triggered in the following cases:

- Failure to comply with either of the following ratios (assessed every six months):
 - Ratio of net debt to operating income excluding depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets below 3.75.
 - o Interest cover (EBITA/net borrowing costs) above 3.5.
- Default on bank borrowings in excess of €40 million.

Saint-Gobain complied with all of these covenants at December 31, 2008.

In October 2007, the Group obtained a €2,125 million syndicated credit facility to finance the Maxit acquisition. The facility included a tranche with a one-year rollover option. This facility was drawn down in full in March 2008. In October 2008, an addendum to the facility agreement was signed, pushing back the expiration date to October 2010 and reducing the amount to €2,040 million. At December 31, 2008, this amount was fully drawn down.

Bank overdrafts and other short-term bank borrowings

This item includes bank overdrafts, local short-term bank borrowings taken out by subsidiaries, and accrued interest on short-term debt.

Receivables securitization programs

The Group has set up two securitization programs through its US subsidiary, Saint-Gobain Receivables Corporation, and its UK subsidiary, Jewson Ltd. Neither of the programs transfer the credit risk to the financial institution.

The US program amounted to €275 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €373 million).

The difference between the face value of the sold receivables and the sale proceeds is treated as a financial expense, and amounted to €13 million in 2008 (2007: €22.4 million).

The UK program amounted to €187 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €218 million), and the financial expense came to €9 million (2007: €12.9 million).

Collateral

At December 31, 2008, €45 million of Group debt was secured by various non-current assets (real estate and securities).

NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives

The following table presents a breakdown of the principal derivatives used by the Group:

	Fair valu	e at December 3	1, 2008		Notional an	Notional amount by maturity at December 31, 20		
(in €millions)	Derivatives with a positive fair value (assets)	Derivatives with a negative fair value (liabilities)	Total	Fair value at December 31, 2007	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	Total
Fair value hedges								
Interest rate swaps			0	(1)				0
Fair value hedges - total	0	0	0	(1)	0	0	0	0
Cash flow hedges								
Forward currency contracts	1	(24)	(23)	0	196			196
Currency swaps	1	(4)	(3)		79			79
Currency options	2	(1)	1			21		21
Interest rate swaps		(47)	(47)	9		1,250		1,250
Commodity and other swaps	1	(85)	(84)	2	215	21		236
Cash flow hedges - total	5	(161)	(156)	11	490	1,292	0	1,782
Derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting								
Interest rate swaps	2		2	(9)		155		155
Cross-currency swaps			0	13				0
Currency swaps	72	(8)	64	5	2,648	12		2,660
Forward foreign exchange contracts	4	(2)	2	6	92			92
Derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting - total	78	(10)	68	15	2,740	167	0	2,907
TOTAL	83	(171)	(88)	25	3,230	1,459	0	4,689
o/w derivatives used to hedge net debt	75	(59)	16	17				

Interest rate swaps

The Group uses interest rate swaps to convert part of its fixed (variable) rate bank debt and bond debt to variable (fixed) rates.

Currency swaps

The Group uses currency swaps for day-to-day cash management purposes and, in some cases, to permit the use of euro-denominated funds to finance foreign currency assets.

> Currency options and forward foreign exchange contracts

Currency options and forward foreign exchange contracts are used to hedge foreign currency transactions, particularly commercial transactions (purchases and sales) and investments.

Commodity and other swaps

Commodity and other swaps are used to hedge the risk of changes in the price of certain purchases used in the subsidiaries' operating activities, particularly heavy fuel oil purchases in Europe and natural gas purchases in the United States and certain European countries.

Impact on equity of financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting

At December 31, 2008, the cash flow hedging reserve carried in equity in accordance with IFRS had a credit balance of €156 million, breaking down as follows:

- \$\frac{47}{27}\$ million unrealized loss corresponding to the remeasurement at fair value of interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges of the April 2007 bond issue.
- €109 million unrealized loss corresponding to the remeasurement at fair value of hedges of natural gas and fuel oil purchases, to be reclassified to income when the hedged items affect income.

The ineffective portion of gains and losses on cash flow hedges is not material.

Impact on income of financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting

The fair value of derivatives classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss amounted to €68 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €15 million).

Embedded derivatives

Saint-Gobain regularly analyzes its contracts in order to separately identify financial instruments classified as embedded derivatives under IFRS. At December 31, 2008, no embedded derivatives deemed to be material at Group level were identified.

Group debt structure

The weighted average interest rate on total debt under IFRS, after hedging (using currency swaps and interest rate swaps) was 5.2% at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: 5.1%).

The average internal rates of return for the main components of long-term debt before hedging were as follows in 2008, 2007 and 2006:

Internal rate of return on long-term debt at December 31 (in %)	2008	2007	2006
Bonds and Medium Term Notes	4.96%	4.96%	5.07%
Perpetual bonds and participating securities	5.92%	5.98%	5.55%
Acquisition-related bank borrowings	5.47%	-	4.10%

The table below presents the breakdown by currency and by interest rate (fixed or variable) of the Group's net debt at December 31, 2008, after giving effect to interest rate swaps and currency swaps.

Net debt	A	fter hedging	
(in € millions)	Variable rate	Fixed rate	Total
EUR	1,674	8,144	9,818
GBP	101	628	729
USD	358	36	394
SEK	286	4	290
Other currencies	45	141	186
TOTAL	2,464	8,953	11,417
	22%	78%	100%
Fair value of related derivatives			(16)
Accrued interest			278
TOTAL NET DEBT			11,679

Interest rate repricing schedule for financial assets and debt

The table below shows the interest rate repricing schedule at December 31, 2008 for debt and financial assets after hedging:

(in € millions)	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	Total
Gross debt	5,764	4,742	3,110	13,616
Impact of interest rate swaps	(1,250)	1,250		0
Cash and cash equivalents	(1,937)			(1,937)
NET DEBT AFTER HEDGING	2,577	5,992	3,110	11,679

NOTE 20 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as follows in accordance with IFRS 7:

	Notes	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
(in €millions)		2008	2007	2006
Loans and receivables				_
- Trade and other accounts receivable	(9)	7,071	7,692	7,691
- Loans and deposits	(7)	214	199	219
Available-for-sale financial assets				
- Available-for-sale and other securities	(7)	70	126	51
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss				
- Derivatives with a positive fair value (assets)	(19)	75	37	19
- Cash and cash equivalents	(18)	1,937	1,294	1,468
Financial liabilities at amortized cost				
- Trade and other accounts payable	(16)	(9,003)	(9,177)	(8,855)
- Long- and short-term debt	(18)	(13,468)	(11,080)	(13,058)
Financial liabilities at fair value				
- Long- and short-term debt	(18)	(164)	(159)	(18)
- Derivatives recorded in liabilities	(19)	(59)	(20)	(10)

NOTE 21 – BUSINESS INCOME BY EXPENSE TYPE

(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
Net sales	43,800	43,421	41,596
Personnel costs:			
Salaries and payroll taxes	(8,021)	(7,888)	(7,745)
Share-based payments (a)	(58)	(58)	(58)
Pensions	(173)	(199)	(226)
Depreciation and amortization	(1,511)	(1,521)	(1,522)
Other ^(b)	(30,388)	(29,647)	(28,331)
Operating income	3,649	4,108	3,714
Gains on disposals of assets ^(c)	53	394	175
Negative goodwill recognized in income	1	11	9
Other business income	54	405	184
Restructuring costs ^(d)	(190)	(172)	(213)
Provisions and expenses relating to claims and litigation (e)	(472)	(784)	(95)
Impairment of assets (f)	(181)	(375)	(211)
Other	(46)	(26)	(57)
Other business expense	(889)	(1,357)	(576)
Business income	2,814	3,156	3,322

- (a) The cost of share-based payments under the Group Savings Plan amounted to €17 million in 2008 (2007: €16 million; 2006: €19 million) (see Notes 11 and 12). This cost was recognized in full at the end of the offer period, on April 10, 2008.
- (b) This corresponds to the cost of goods sold by the Building Distribution sector and transport costs, raw materials costs, and other production costs for the other sectors. It also includes net foreign exchange gains or losses, representing a net gain of €18 million in 2008 (2007: virtually nil; 2006: net loss of €4 million).
 - In 2008, research and development costs recorded under operating expenses amounted to €377 million (2007: €393 million; 2006: €362 million).
- (c) Gains on disposals of assets totaled €3 million in 2008 (2007: €394 million; 2006: €175 million). The increase in this item in 2007 was mainly due to the capital gain on the disposal of the Saint-Gobain Desjonquères group (see Note 2).
- (d) Restructuring costs in 2008 mainly consisted of employee termination benefits in an amount of €127 million (2007: €105 million; 2006: €133 million).
- (e) In all three years presented, provisions and expenses relating to claims and litigation corresponded for the most part to asbestos-related litigation and the provision for the competition litigation discussed in Notes 15 and 26.
- (f) Impairment losses on assets in 2008 included €68 million on goodwill (2007: €82 million; 2006: €125 million), €6 million on intangible assets (2007: €6 million; 2006: €4 million) and €97 million on property, plant and equipment (2007: €106 million; 2006: €75 million). The balance corresponded to impairment losses on financial assets and current assets. In 2007, impairment losses also included a €161 million write-down of assets classified as held for sale (see Note 2).

NOTE 22 – NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE

Breakdown of other financial income and expense

$(in \in millions)$	2008	2007	2006
Interest cost - pension and other post-employment benefit			
obligations	(428)	(440)	(428)
Return on plan assets	431	451	387
Interest cost - pension and other post-employment benefit			
obligations - net	3	11	(41)
Other financial expense	(71)	(115)	(102)
Other financial income	25	29	20
Other financial income and expense	(43)	(75)	(123)

Recognition of financial instruments

Net financial expense amounted to €750 million in 2008 (2007: €701 million; 2006: €748 million). Of this amount, €600.5 million (2007: €523.6 million; 2006: €492.3 million) concerned instruments carried by Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and Saint-Gobain Nederland at amortized cost. Instruments measured at fair value by these two entities resulted in a positive impact of €6.3 million (2007: €3.5 million; 2006: €1.6 million).

NOTE 23 – RECURRING NET INCOME AND CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

Recurring net income totaled €1,914 million in 2008 (2007: €2,114 million; 2006: €1,702 million). Based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding at December 31 (374,998,085 shares in 2008, 367,124,675 shares in 2007 and 341,048,210 shares in 2006), recurring earnings per share amounted to €5.10 in 2008, €5.76 in 2007 and €4.99 in 2006.

The difference between net income and recurring net income (attributable to the equity holders of the parent) corresponds to the following items:

(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
Net income	1,378	1,487	1,637
Less:			
Gains on disposals of assets	53	394	175
Impairment of assets	(181)	(375)	(211)
Provision for competition litigation	(400)	(694)	0
Non-recurring charges to provisions for warranties	(51)	0	0
Impact of minority interests	6	(2)	(3)
Tax impact	37	50	(26)
Recurring net income	1,914	2,114	1,702

Cash flow from operations for the year amounted to €,487 million (2007: €,762 million; 2006: €,347 million). Excluding tax on capital gains and losses, cash flow from operations came to €,487 million (2007: €,712 million; 2006: €,373 million).

These amounts are calculated as follows:

(in € millions)	2008	2007	2006
Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent	1,378	1,487	1,637
Minority interests in net income	59	56	45
Share in net income of associates, net of dividends received	(7)	(6)	(2)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets	1,681	1,875	1,717
Gains and losses on disposals of assets	(53)	(394)	(175)
Charge to provision for competition litigation	400	694	0
Non-recurring charges to provisions for warranties	51	0	0
Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair value and share-based payments	15	50	125
Cash flow from operations	3,524	3,762	3,347
Tax on capital gains and losses	(37)	(50)	26
Cash flow from operations before tax on capital gains and losses	3,487	3,712	3,373

NOTE 24 – EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earnings per share is shown below.

(in € millions)	Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent	Number of shares	Earnings per share (in €)	
2008				
Weighted average number of shares outstanding	1,378	374,998,085	3.67	
Weighted average number of shares assuming full				
dilution	1,378	376,825,178	3.66	
Weighted average number of shares outstanding	1,487	367,124,675	4.05	
Weighted average number of shares assuming full	2,107	557,121,075		
dilution	1,487	374,344,930	3.97	
2006				
Weighted average number of shares outstanding	1,637	341,048,210	4.80	
Weighted average number of shares assuming full				
dilution	1,652 (1)	363,809,234	4.54	

⁽¹⁾ In 2006, net interest on the Océane convertible bonds (€15 million) was canceled for the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding is calculated by deducting treasury stock (4,545,149 shares at December 31, 2008) from the average number of shares outstanding during the year.

The weighted average number of shares assuming full dilution is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding, assuming conversion of all dilutive instruments. The Group's dilutive instruments include stock options – corresponding to a weighted average of 1,827,093 shares in 2008, 7,220,255 shares in 2007 and 5,284,991 shares in 2006 – and, for 2006, Océane bonds convertible into 17,476,033 shares.

NOTE 25 – COMMITMENTS

The Group's contractual obligations and commercial commitments are described below, except for commitments related to debt and financial instruments, which are discussed in Notes 18 and 19, respectively.

The Group has no other material commitments.

• Obligations under finance leases

Non-current assets acquired under finance leases are recognized as an asset and a liability in the consolidated balance sheet.

At December 31, 2008, €4 million of future minimum lease payments due under finance leases concerned land and buildings. Total assets under finance leases recognized in consolidated assets amounted to €201 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €190 million).

(in € millions)	2008	2007
Future minimum lease payments		
Within 1 year	48	48
1 to 5 years	106	96
Beyond 5 years	28	33
Total	182	177
Less finance charge	(17)	(21)
Present value of future minimum lease payments	165	156

• Obligations under operating leases

The Group leases equipment, vehicles and office, manufacturing and warehouse space under various non-cancelable operating leases. Lease terms generally range from 1 to 9 years. The leases contain rollover options for varying periods of time and some include clauses covering the payment of real estate taxes and insurance. In most cases, management expects that these leases will be rolled over or replaced by other leases in the normal course of business.

Net rental expense was €696 million in 2008, corresponding to rental expense of €713 million – of which €437 million for property leases – less €17 million in revenue from subleases.

Future minimum payments due under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(in € millions)	Total	Payments due			Total
	2008	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	2007
Operating leases					
Rental expense	3,246	641	1,507	1,098	3,090
Subletting revenue	(91)	(14)	(30)	(47)	(133)
Total	3,155	627	1,477	1,051	2,957

• Non-cancelable purchase commitments

Non-cancelable purchase commitments include commitments to purchase raw materials and services and firm orders for property, plant and equipment.

(in € millions)	Total			Total	
	2008	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	2007
Non-cancelable purchase commitments					
- non-current assets	131	119	10	2	317
- raw materials	684	232	346	106	717
- services	126	43	80	3	90
- other	220	129	82	9	152
Total	1,161	523	518	120	1,276

• Guarantee commitments

In some cases, the Group grants seller's warranties to the buyers of divested businesses. A provision is set aside whenever a risk is identified and the related cost can be estimated reliably.

The Group also receives guarantees, amounting to $\triangleleft 20$ million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: $\triangleleft 200$ million).

• Commercial commitments

(in € millions)	Total	(ie	Total	
	2008	Within 1 year	1 to 5 years	Beyond 5 years	2007
Security for borrowings	35	20	6	9	9
Written put options	0				0
Other commitments given	132	58	40	34	140
Total	167	78	46	43	149

At December 31, 2008, pledged assets amounted to €28 million (December 31, 2007: €242 million) and mainly concerned fixed assets in India.

Guarantees given to the Group in respect of receivables amounted to €89 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €15 million).

NOTE 26 – LITIGATION

Asbestos-related litigation in France

In France, further individual lawsuits were filed in 2008 by former employees (or persons claiming through them) of Everite and Saint-Gobain PAM ("the employers") – which in the past had carried out fiber-cement operations – for asbestos-related occupational diseases, with the aim of obtaining supplementary compensation over and above the amounts paid by the French Social Security authorities in this respect. A total of 676 such lawsuits have been issued against the two companies since 1997.

At December 31, 2008, 567 of these 676 lawsuits had been completed in terms of both liability and quantum. In all of these cases, the employers were held liable on the grounds of "inexcusable fault".

Everite and Saint-Gobain PAM were held liable to pay a total amount of less than €2 million in compensation in settlement of these lawsuits.

Concerning the 109 lawsuits outstanding against Everite and Saint-Gobain PAM at December 31, 2008, the merits of 35 have been decided but the compensation awards have not yet been made, pending issue of medical reports. In 30 cases, the Social Security authorities were ordered to pay compensation to the victims for procedural reasons (statute of limitations, non-opposability). In the other five cases, no ruling has yet been handed down on the validity or otherwise of the lawsuit.

Out of the 74 remaining lawsuits, four were dismissed following a claim made to the French Asbestos Victims Compensation Fund (FIVA). At December 31, 2008, the procedures relating to the merits of the other 70 cases were at different stages: 11 were being investigated by the French Social Security authorities, 52 were pending before the Social Security courts and seven before the Courts of Appeal.

In addition, as of December 31, 2008, 110 suits based on inexcusable fault had been filed by current or former employees of 12 other French companies in the Group (excluding Saint-Gobain Desjonquères and Saint-Gobain Vetrotex, which have been sold), in particular involving circumstances where equipment containing asbestos had been used to protect against heat from furnaces.

At December 31, 2008, eight lawsuits had been abandoned following the decision by the employees concerned to seek compensation from the French Asbestos Victims Compensation Fund (FIVA).

At that date, 64 lawsuits had been completed. In 12 of these cases, the employer was held liable for inexcusable fault. However, these rulings did not have any financial impact on the companies concerned.

For the 38 suits outstanding at December 31, 2008, arguments were being prepared by the French Social Security authorities in four cases, 22 were pending before the Social Security courts, ten before the Courts of Appeal and two before the Supreme Court.

Asbestos-related litigation in the United States

In the United States, several companies that once manufactured products containing asbestos such as asbestoscement pipes, roofing products, specialized insulation or gaskets, are facing legal action from persons other than the employees or former employees of the companies. The claims are based on alleged exposure to the products, although in many instances the claimants cannot demonstrate any specific exposure to one or more products, or any specific illness or physical disability. The vast majority of these claims are made simultaneously against many other non-Group entities which have been manufacturers, distributors, installers or users of products containing asbestos.

• Developments in 2008

After three years marked by high numbers of claims filed against CertainTeed (60,000 in 2001, 67,000 in 2002, and 62,000 in 2003, compared with 19,000 in 2000), new claims filed fell to 18,000 in 2004, and subsequently dropped to 17,000 in 2005, to 7,000 in 2006, to 6,000 in 2007 and to about 5,000 in 2008.

This decline was felt over the last four years in most States, particularly in those which had seen the greatest numbers of claims in the previous years. This decline reflects State court rulings as well as changes in local legislation in various States to introduce stricter medical criteria for new claims.

Almost all of the claims against CertainTeed are settled out of court. Approximately 8,000 of the pending claims were settled out of court in 2008, compared with 54,000 in 2003, 20,000 in 2004 and in 2005, 12,000 in 2006, and 8,000 in 2007. In addition, approximately 3,000 claims (mainly in the State of New York) were transferred to "inactive dockets" further to court rulings. Taking into account the 74,000 outstanding claims at the end of 2007 and the new claims having arisen during the year, as well as claims settled or placed in inactive docket, some 68,000 claims were outstanding at December 31, 2008. A large number of these pending claims were filed more than five years ago by individuals without any significant asbestos-related impairment, and it is likely that many of these claims ultimately will be dismissed.

• Impact on the Group's accounts

The Group recorded a €75 million charge in 2008 to cover future developments in relation to claims involving CertainTeed. This amount is slightly lower than the €0 million recorded in 2007, the €95 million recorded in 2006, the €100 million recorded in 2004, and the €100 million recorded in 2002 and 2003. At December 31, 2008, the Group reserve for asbestos-related claims against CertainTeed in the United States amounted to €361 million (USD 502 million), compared to €321 million (USD 473 million) at December 31, 2007, and €342 million (USD 451 million) at December 31, 2006.

Cash flow impact

Compensation paid in respect of these claims against CertainTeed, including claims settled prior to 2008 but only paid out in 2008, and those fully resolved and paid in 2008, and compensation paid (net of insurance) in 2008 by other Group businesses in connection with asbestos-related litigation, amounted to €48 million (USD 71 million), compared to €53 million (USD 73 million) in 2007, and €67 million (USD 84 million) in 2006.

Outlook for 2009

No significant developments have been observed during the past few months, either in terms of new claims or in terms of compensation paid.

In Brazil, former Group employees suffering from asbestos-related occupational illness are offered either exclusively financial compensation or lifetime medical assistance combined with financial assistance. Only a small number of asbestos-related lawsuits were outstanding at December 31, 2008 and they do not represent a material risk for the companies concerned.

Ruling by the European Commission following the investigation into the construction glass and automotive glass industries

In November 2007 and 2008, the European Commission issued its decisions concerning, respectively, the construction glass industry and the automotive glass industry.

In the November 28, 2007 decision concerning its investigation into construction glass manufacturers, the European Commission held that Saint-Gobain Glass France had violated Article 81 of the Treaty of Rome and fined the company €133.9 million. Compagnie de Saint-Gobain was held jointly and severally liable for the payment of this amount. Compagnie de Saint-Gobain and Saint-Gobain Glass France decided not to appeal this decision and the fine was paid on March 3, 2008.

In the November 12, 2008 decision concerning its investigation into automotive glass manufacturers, the European Commission held that Saint-Gobain Glass France, Saint-Gobain Sekurit France and Saint-Gobain Sekurit Deutschland GmbH had violated Article 81 of the Treaty of Rome and fined them €896 million. Compagnie de Saint-Gobain was held jointly and severally liable for the payment of this amount.

The companies concerned believe the fine is excessive and disproportionate, and have appealed the decision before the Court of First Instance of the European Communities.

The European Commission has granted them a stay of payment until the appeal has been heard, in exchange for a bond covering the €96 million fine and the related interest, calculated at the rate of 5.25% from March 9, 2009. The necessary steps have been taken to set up this bond within the required timeframe.

As a result of these developments, the €694 million provision set aside at December 31, 2007, which was reduced to €60 million at June 30, 2008 following payment of the €134 million fine, was increased to €60 million at December 31, 2008 to cover the €96 million fine, together with the cost of the bond and the estimated legal cost over the appeal period. The additional €400 million set aside in the second half of 2008 was recorded in "Other business expense".

NOTE 27 – ENVIRONMENT – HEALTH – SAFETY (EHS)

Environmental assets

Costs incurred to mitigate or prevent environmental risks are capitalized when they are expected to generate future economic benefits that will flow to the Group. The costs relate to environmental management and clean-up equipment, investments in raw material and waste recycling solutions, measures to reduce consumption of energy and certain raw materials, as well as research into improving product life cycles.

Environmental liabilities

When the Group considers that it is exposed to an environmental risk, a provision for the estimated future cost is recorded in provisions for other liabilities and charges. Environmental provisions amounted to €158 million at December 31, 2008 (December 31, 2007: €146 million; December 31, 2006: €131 million).

The provisions are discounted on a case-by-case basis according to when the risk is expected to materialize. This is particularly the case for provisions covering the cost of dismantling and retiring assets and site restoration costs. However, when the timing of the risk cannot be estimated reliably, the provision is considered as short-term and is not discounted.

Environmental risks and manufacturing facilities governed by specific environmental regulations are overseen by the Environment, Health and Safety Department.

NOTE 28 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions with associates

(in € millions)	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006
Assets			
Finance receivables	2	2	11
Inventories	1	0	1
Short-term receivables	11	9	16
Cash and cash equivalents	0	0	1
Provisions for impairment in value	0	0	
Liabilities			
Short-term debt	4	1	7
Cash advances	0	0	4
Expenses			
Purchases	21	17	86
Income			
Sales	45	41	66

Revenue from transactions with proportionately consolidated companies

Transactions with proportionately consolidated companies are treated as transactions with external parties and the Group's share of revenue arising from such transactions is not eliminated on consolidation. In 2008, these revenues amounted to € million (2007: €4 million; 2006: € million).

Transactions with key shareholders

Some Group subsidiaries, particularly in the Building Distribution sector, carry out transactions with subsidiaries of the Wendel group (mainly Legrand and Materis). Business relations between the two groups have not changed since Wendel increased its interest in the Group in the second half of 2007, and transactions are carried out on an arm's length basis.

NOTE 29 – JOINT VENTURES

The amounts recorded in the 2008 balance sheet and income statement corresponding to the Group's interest in its proportionately consolidated companies are as follows:

Non-current assets: €303 million.

• Current assets: €163 million.

Non-current liabilities: €35 million.

• Current liabilities: €142 million.

Sales: €320 million.

• Operating expenses: €257 million.

NOTE 30 - MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

Direct and indirect compensation and benefits paid to members of the Board of Directors and the Group's senior management were as follows in 2008:

(in € millions)	2008
Attendance fees	0.8
Direct and indirect compensation (gross):	
- fixed portion	8.0
- variable portion	5.4
Estimated compensation cost - pensions and other employee benefits (IAS 19)	1.4
Expense relating to stock options	10.7
Termination benefits	1.5
Total	27.8

Employers' social security contributions relating to the above compensation represented an estimated €3.3 million.

NOTE 31 – EMPLOYEES

Average number of employees	Dec. 31, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007	Dec. 31, 2006
Fully consolidated companies			
Managers	22,674	22,258	22,648
Administrative employees	84,589	82,734	80,078
Other employees	99,205	101,642	103,095
Total	206,468	206,634	205,821
Proportionately consolidated companies (*)			
Managers	126	42	52
Administrative employees	548	323	264
Other employees	911	650	702
Sub-total	1,585	1,015	1,018
Total	208,053	207,649	206,839

^{*} Proportion of headcount allocated to the Group.

At December 31, 2008, the total number of Group employees – including in proportionately consolidated companies – was 207,684 (December 31, 2007: 204,880; December 31, 2006: 205,864).

NOTE 32 – SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information by sector and division

Segment information is presented as follows:

- Flat Glass Sector
- High-Performance Materials (HPM) Sector
- Construction Products (CP) Sector
 - Interior Solutions: Insulation and Gypsum
 - Exterior Solutions: Mortars, Pipe and Exterior Fittings
- Building Distribution Sector
- Packaging Sector

Management uses several different internal indicators to measure operational performance and to make resource allocation decisions. These indicators are based on the data used to prepare the consolidated financial statements and meet financial reporting requirements. Intragroup ("internal") sales are generally carried out on the same terms as sales to external customers and are eliminated in consolidation. The accounting policies used are the same as those applied for consolidated financial reporting purposes, as described in Note 1.

(in € millions)	FLAT GLASS	HIGH- PERFORMANCE MATERIALS	CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS			BUILDING DISTRIBUTION	PACKAGING	Other *	Total	
2008			Interior Solutions	Exterior Solutions	Elimi- nations	Total				
External sales	5,502	4,032	5,538	5,482		11,020	19,692	3,547	7	43,800
Internal sales	47	133	611	437	(33)	1,015	4	0	(1,199)	0
Net sales	5,549	4,165	6,149	5,919	(33)	12,035	19,696	3,547	(1,192)	43,800
Operating income/(loss)	701	543	592	478		1,070	894	442	(1)	3,649
Business income/(loss)	212	500	579	369		948	826	432	(104)	2,814
Share in net income/(loss) of										
associates		1	6	0		6	1	2	1	11
Depreciation and amortization	315	179	327	176		503	283	208	23	1,511
Impairment of assets	52	53	10	16		26	35	3	1	170
Net goodwill	181	1,213	3,559	2,258		5,817	3,217	243		10,671
Non-amortizable brands			710	0		710	1,803			2,513
Total segment assets **	3,563	3,534	3,651	3,575		7,226	8,875	2,535	14,970	40,703
Total segment liabilities ***	2,626	1,045	1,823	1,679		3,502	4,041	916	1,726	13,856
Investments during the year - Capital expenditure - Businesses	576	223	529	236		765	298	283	18	2,163
(net of cash acquired)	23	59	15	1,536		1,551	547	45	1	2,226
Cash flows from operations	733	437	480	405		885	650	510	309	3,524

^{* &}quot;Other" corresponds to a) the elimination of intragroup transactions for internal sales and b) holding company transactions for the other captions.

^{**} The difference between total assets in the balance sheet and total segment assets corresponds to current and deferred taxes (€755 million) and cash and cash equivalents (€1,937 million).

^{***} The difference between total liabilities and equity in the balance sheet and total segment liabilities corresponds to equity (€14,530 million), current and deferred taxes (€1,393 million) and debt (€13,616 million).

(in € millions)	FLAT GLASS	HIGH- PERFORMANCE MATERIALS	CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS			BUILDING DISTRIBUTION	PACKAGING	Other *	Total	
2007			Interior Solutions	Exterior Solutions	Elimi- nations	Total				
External sales	5,577	4,629	6,002	4,187		10,189	19,478	3,542	6	43,421
Internal sales	34	123	626	329	(32)	923	2	4	(1,086)	0
Net sales	5,611	4,752	6,628	4,516	(32)	11,112	19,480	3,546	(1,080)	43,421
Operating income/(loss)	717	585	980	333		1,313	1,102	401	(10)	4,108
Business income/(loss)	(49)	333	962	281		1,243	1,069	688	(128)	3,156
Share in net income/(loss) of associates		3	7	0		7	2	1	1	14
Depreciation and amortization	347	216	318	141		459	276	209	14	1,521
Impairment of assets	73	225	9	31		40	19	(4)	1	354
Net goodwill	179	1,153	3,831	766		4,597	3,078	233		9,240
Non-amortizable brands			815	0		815	1,948			2,763
Total segment assets **	4,976	4,238	9,994	3,516		13,510	13,580	2,758	281	39,343
Total segment liabilities ***	2,421	1,125	1,911	1,366		3,277	4,249	936	1,047	13,055
Investments during the year - Capital expenditure - Businesses	523	238	622	211		833	369	309	20	2,292
(net of cash acquired)	18	22	98	93		191	500	(1)	20	750
Cash flows from operations	677	487	739	321		1,060	825	425	288	3,762

^{* &}quot;Other" corresponds to a) the elimination of intragroup transactions for internal sales and b) holding company transactions for the other captions.

deferred taxes (€1,594 million) and debt (€11,222 million).

(in € millions)	FLAT GLASS	HIGH- PERFORMANCE MATERIALS	CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS			BUILDING DISTRIBUTION	PACKAGING	Other *	Total	
2006			Interior Solutions	Exterior Solutions	Elimi- nations	Total				
External sales	5,051	4,809	5,864	4,215		10,079	17,579	4,074	4	41,596
Internal sales	32	129	573	262	(38)	797	2	6	(966)	0
Net sales	5,083	4,938	6,437	4,477	(38)	10,876	17,581	4,080	(962)	41,596
Operating income/(loss)	480	500	1,028	348		1,376	1,001	376	(19)	3,714
Business income/(loss)	455	415	989	240		1,229	980	379	(136)	3,322
Share in net income/(loss) of										
associates	(8)	3	10	0		10	2			7
Depreciation and amortization	322	248	284	147		431	268	239	14	1,522
Impairment of assets	25	27	7	28		35	3	93	12	195
Net goodwill	189	1,380	3,962	722		4,684	2,826	248		9,327
Non-amortizable brands			856	0		856	1,987			2,843
Total segment assets **	4,905	5,184	9,804	3,464		13,268	12,819	3,367	251	39,794
Total segment liabilities ***	1,738	1,491	2,009	1,392		3,401	4,115	1,218	747	12,710
Investments during the year - Capital expenditure - Businesses	448	226	632	214		846	328	336	24	2,208
(net of cash acquired)	13	1	19	79		98	331	58		501
Cash flows from operations	529	432	726	322		1,048	817	402	119	3,347

^{* &}quot;Other" corresponds to a) the elimination of intragroup transactions for internal sales and b) holding company transactions for the other captions.

^{**} The difference between total assets in the balance sheet and total segment assets corresponds to current and deferred taxes (€01 million) and cash and cash equivalents (€1.294 million).

*** The difference between total liabilities and equity in the balance sheet and total segment liabilities corresponds to equity (€15,267 million), current and

^{**} The difference between total assets in the balance sheet and total segment assets corresponds to current and deferred taxes (€14 million) and cash and cash equivalents (€1,468 million).

^{***} The difference between total liabilities and equity in the balance sheet and total segment liabilities corresponds to equity (€14,487 million), current and deferred taxes (€1,412 million) and debt (€13,067 million).

Information by geographic area

(in € millions)	France	Other western European countries	North America	Emerging countries and Asia	Internal sales	TOTAL
2008						
Net sales	13,076	19,941	5,499	7,404	(2,120)	43,800
Total segment assets	11,322	16,938	5,672	6,771		40,703
Capital expenditure	565	684	221	693		2,163

(in € millions)	France	Other western European countries	North America	Emerging countries and Asia	Internal sales	TOTAL
2007						
Net sales	12,931	19,905	5,793	6,921	(2,129)	43,421
Total segment assets	11,031	16,110	5,538	6,664		39,343
Capital expenditure	550	699	372	671		2,292

(in € millions)	France	Other western European countries	North America	Emerging countries and Asia	Internal sales	TOTAL
2006						
Net sales	12,528	18,448	6,790	5,933	(2,103)	41,596
Total segment assets	10,990	16,219	5,981	6,604		39,794
Capital expenditure	499	751	363	595		2,208

The geographical breakdown of external sales for 2008, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

(in € millions)	France	Other western European countries	North America	Emerging countries and Asia	TOTAL
2008					
Net sales	11,499	19,253	5,262	7,786	43,800
2007					
Net sales	11,388	19,350	5,563	7,120	43,421
2006					
Net sales	10,874	17,853	6,618	6,251	41,596

NOTE 33 – PRINCIPAL FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

The table below shows the Group's principal consolidated companies, typically those with net sales of over €100 million.

Principal fully consolidated companies at December 31, 2008

% interest (held directly and indirectly)

FLAT GLASS SECTOR

Saint-Gobain Glass France	France	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Sekurit France	France	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Sekurit Deutschland GmbH & CO Kg	Germany	99.91%
Saint-Gobain Glass Deutschland GmbH	Germany	99.91%
SG Deutsche Glas GmbH	Germany	99.91%
Saint-Gobain Glass Benelux	Belgium	99.77%
Saint-Gobain Sekurit Benelux SA	Belgium	99.91%
Saint-Gobain Autover Distribution SA	Belgium	99.91%
Koninklijke Saint-Gobain Glass	Netherlands	99.77%
Saint-Gobain Glass Polska Sp Zoo	Poland	99.91%
Cebrace Cristal Plano Ltda	Brazil	50.00%
Saint-Gobain Do Brazil Ltda	Brazil	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Cristaleria SA	Spain	99.72%
Solaglas Ltd	United Kingdom	99.97%
Saint-Gobain Glass Italia	Italy	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Sekurit Italia	Italy	100.00%
Hankuk Glass Industries	South Korea	80.47%
Hankuk Sekurit Limited	South Korea	90.11%
Saint-Gobain Glass India	India	97.82%
Saint-Gobain Glass Mexico	Mexico	99.72%

HIGH-PERFORMANCE MATERIALS

Saint-Gobain Abrasifs	France	99.92%
Société Européenne des Produits Réfractaires	France	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Abrasives Inc.	United States	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Ceramics & Plastics Inc.	United States	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corp.	United States	100.00%
SG Abrasives Canada Inc	Canada	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Abrasivi	Italy	99.92%
SEPR Italia	Italy	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Abrasivos Brasil Ltda	Brazil	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Abrasives BV	Netherlands	99.92%
Saint-Gobain Abrasives Ltd	United Kingdom	99.97%
Saint-Gobain Vertex SRO	Czech Republic	100.00%

CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS SECTOR

INTERIOR SOLUTIONS

France	100.00%
Germany	99.91%
United States	100.00%
Sweden	99.98%
Russia	100.00%
United Kingdom	100.00%
United States	100.00%
Canada	100.00%
South Africa	100.00%
Spain	100.00%
Italy	100.00%
United Kingdom	100.00%
Ireland	100.00%
France	99.75%
Germany	100.00%
Thailand	99.66%
	Germany United States Sweden Russia United Kingdom United States Canada South Africa Spain Italy United Kingdom Ireland France Germany

EXTERIOR SOLUTIONS

Saint-Gobain Weber	France	99.99%
Saint-Gobain Do Brazil Ltda	Brazil	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Weber Cemarksa SA	Spain	99.99%
Maxit Group AB	Sweden	99.99%
Maxit Deutschland GmbH	Germany	99.99%
CertainTeed Corporation	United States	100.00%
Saint-Gobain PAM SA	France	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Gussrohr KG	Germany	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Pipelines Plc	United Kingdom	99.97%
Saint-Gobain Canalizacion SA	Spain	99.94%
Saint-Gobain PAM Italia s.p.a	Italy	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Canalização SA	Brazil	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Xuzhou Pipe Co Ltd	China	100.00%

BUILDING DISTRIBUTION SECTOR

Distribution Sanitaire Chauffage	France	100.00%
Lapeyre	France	100.00%
Point.P	France	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Distribucion y Construccion	Spain	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Building Distribution Deutschland GmbH	Germany	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Building Distribution Ltd	United Kingdom	99.97%
Saint-Gobain Distribution The Netherlands BV	Netherlands	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Distribution Nordic AB	Sweden	100.00%
Optimera AS	Norway	100.00%
Optimera Danmark A/S	Denmark	100.00%
Sanitas Troesch	Switzerland	100.00%
Norandex Building Material Distribution Inc	United States	100.00%

PACKAGING SECTOR

Saint-Gobain Emballage	France	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Vidros SA	Brazil	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Oberland AG	Germany	96.67%
Saint-Gobain Vicasa SA	Spain	99.64%
Saint-Gobain Containers Inc	United States	100.00%
Saint-Gobain Vetri SpA	Italy	99.99%

NOTE 34 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 14, 2009, Compagnie de Saint-Gobain placed a €l billion five-and-a-half-year 8.25% bond issue.

The issue proceeds, which were received on January 26, will be used to refinance the Group's existing debt and extend its average maturity.

CONTENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET	2
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT	3
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT	
STATEMENT OF RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSE	5
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	6
NOTE 1 - ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND POLICIES	7
NOTE 2 - CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE	21
NOTE 3 – GOODWILL	
NOTE 4 – OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS	26
NOTE 5 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	27
NOTE 6 – INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES	28
NOTE 7 - OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS	29
NOTE 8 – INVENTORIES	30
NOTE 9 - TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE	31
NOTE 10 – EQUITY	32
NOTE 11 - STOCK OPTION PLANS	33
NOTE 12 – GROUP SAVINGS PLAN ("PEG")	34
NOTE 13 – PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	37
NOTE 14 - CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES	43
NOTE 15 – OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS	46
NOTE 16 - TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES	48
NOTE 17 - RISK FACTORS	49
NOTE 18 - NET DEBT	52
NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS	57
NOTE 20 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES	60
NOTE 21 – BUSINESS INCOME BY EXPENSE TYPE	60
NOTE 22 – NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE	61
NOTE 23 – RECURRING NET INCOME AND CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS	
NOTE 24 – EARNINGS PER SHARE	63
NOTE 25 – COMMITMENTS	64
NOTE 26 - LITIGATION	66
NOTE 27 - ENVIRONMENT - HEALTH - SAFETY (EHS)	69
NOTE 28 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS	
NOTE 29 – JOINT VENTURES	70
NOTE 30 – MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION	71
NOTE 31 – EMPLOYEES	
NOTE 32 – SEGMENT INFORMATION	
NOTE 33 – PRINCIPAL FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES	75
NOTE 34 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS	78

Annex B

Consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2008

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

in € millions	Notes	June 30, 2008	Dec. 31, 2007
ASSETS			
Goodwill	(3)	10,778	9,240
Other intangible assets	(4)	3,043	3,125
Property, plant and equipment	(5)	13,147	12,753
Investments in associates		111	123
Deferred tax assets	(9)	332	328
Other non-current assets		585	472
Non-current assets		27,996	26,041
Inventories	(6)	6,467	5,833
Trade accounts receivable	(7)	7,553	6,211
Current tax receivable		90	173
Other accounts receivable	(7)	1,589	1,481
Assets held for sale	(2)	104	105
Cash and cash equivalents	(13)	1,722	1,294
Current assets		17,525	15,097
Total assets		45,521	41,138
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Capital stock		1,530	1,497
Additional paid-in capital and legal reserve		3,937	3,617
Retained earnings and net income for the period		10,890	10,625
Cumulative translation adjustments		(1,102)	(564)
Fair value reserves		106	8
Treasury stock		(210)	(206)
Shareholders' equity		15,151	14,977
Minority interests		267	290
Total equity		15,418	15,267
Long-term debt	(13)	10,726	8,747
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits	(8)	1,815	1,807
Deferred tax liabilities	(9)	1,269	1,277
Other non-current liabilities	(10)	918	923
Non-current liabilities		14,728	12,754
Current portion of long-term debt	(13)	687	971
Current portion of other liabilities	(13)	1,024	1,107
Trade accounts payable	(11)	6,146	5,752
Current tax liabilities		395	317
Other payables and accrued expenses	(11)	3,450	3,425
Liabilities held for sale	(2)	43	41
Short-term debt and bank overdrafts	(13)	3,630	1,504
Current liabilities		15,375	13,117
Total equity and liabilities		45,521	41,138

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

in € millions	Notes	First-half 2008	First-half 2007
Net sales	(23)	22,141	21,779
Cost of sales	(15)	(16,504)	(16,090)
Selling, general and administrative expenses including research	(15)	(3,632)	(3,596)
Operating income		2,005	2,093
Other business income	(15)	12	261
Other business expense	(15)	(120)	(1,033)
Business income		1,897	1,321
Borrowing costs, gross		(361)	(350)
Income from cash and cash equivalents		35	36
Borrowing costs, net		(326)	(314)
Other financial income and expense	(17)	(26)	(37)
Net financial expense	<u> </u>	(352)	(351)
Share in net income of associates		7	8
Income taxes	(9)	(444)	(491)
Net income		1,108	487
Attributable to equity holders of the parent		1,076	465
Minority interests		32	22
Earnings per share (in €)			
Weighted average number of shares in issue		371,914,226	364,639,299
Basic earnings per share		2.89	1.28
Weighted average number of shares assuming full dilution		374,659,266	372,047,342
Diluted earnings per share		2.87	1.25

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent Minority interests in net income	_		
<u> </u>		1,076	465
	(*)	32	22
Share in net income of associates, net of dividends received		(3)	(3)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets	(15)	778	1,005
Gains and losses on disposals of assets	(15) —	(12)	(252)
Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair value and share-based payments	(13)	23	45
Changes in inventories	(6)	(458)	(539)
Changes in trade accounts receivable and payable, and other accounts receivable and payable			
	(7)(11)	(732)	(627)
Changes in tax receivable and payable	(9)	174	102
Changes in deferred taxes and provisions for other liabilities and charges	(8)(9)(10)	(288)	(18)
Provision for non-competition claim	(22)		650
Net cash from operating activities		590	850
Purchases of property, plant and equipment [First-half 2008: (872), First-half 2007: (822)] and intangible assets	(4) (5)	(905)	(858)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets	(11)	(195)	(233)
increase (decrease) in amounts due to suppliers of fixed assets	(11) —	(193)	(233)
Acquisitions of shares in consolidated companies [First-half 2008: (2,085), First-half 2007: (308)], net of cash acquired	(2)	(2,013)	(267)
Acquisitions of other investments	_	(93)	(124)
Increase (decrease) in investment-related liabilities	(10)	89	(85)
Investments		(3,117)	(1,567)
Disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets	(4) (5)	32	53
Disposals of shares in consolidated companies, net of cash divested	(2)	40	488
Disposals of other investments		5	1
Other divestments		1	2
Divestments		78	544
(Increase) decrease in loans and deposits		10	25
Net cash used in investing activities/divestments	_	(3,029)	(998)
Issues of capital stock	(*)	353	310
Minority interests' share in capital increases of subsidiaries	(*)	$\frac{333}{2}$ -	
(Increase) decrease in treasury stock	(*)	(7)	80
Dividends paid	(*)	$\frac{(7)}{(767)}$	(621)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of consolidated subsidiaries	(*)	$\frac{(767)}{(36)}$	(521)
Increase (decrease) in dividends payable	(')		
Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts and other short-term borrowings		(10)	(1) 704
	_	1,998	
Increase in long-term debt	_	2,251	522
Decrease in long-term debt		(885)	(1,002)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities	_	2,899	(60)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	_	460	(208)
Net effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	_	(32)	11
Cash and cash equivalents classified as assets held for sale		(32)	(68)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	_	1,294	1,468
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	_	1,722	1,203

^(*) References to the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Amounts collected and disbursed in respect of interest and tax are not included in the consolidated cash flow statement. They are disclosed in notes 9 and 17, in accordance with IAS 7.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.